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Directors’ report

TheDirectors present theAnnualReport for theyear ended31December2008which includesthebusiness
review, governanceandauditedGroupaccounts for theyear. Pages 01 to 76, inclusive, of this Annual Report
comprise a Report of the Directors that has been drawn up and presented in accordance with English company law
and the liabilities of the Directors in connection with that report shall be subject to the limitations and restrictions
provided by such law. In particular, Directors would be liable to the Company (but not to any third party) if the
Directors’ report contains errors as a result of recklessness or knowing misstatement or dishonest concealment
of a material fact, but would not otherwise be liable.

Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements
This Annual Report has been prepared for the members of the Company and no one else.The Company, its Directors, employees or agents do not accept or assume responsibility to any other
person in connection with this document and any such responsibility or liability is expressly disclaimed.

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company. By their nature, these statements and forecasts
involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future.There are a number of factors that could cause actual results
or developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements and forecasts.The forward-looking statements reflect the knowledge and
information available at the date of preparation of this Annual Report, and will not be updated during the year. Nothing in this Annual Report should be construed as a profit forecast.

To view this report online, go towww.capitareport2008.co.uk
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...that’swhatwedoforourclients,
andfortheir customers.
We helporganisationstofunction
more efficiently and cost effectively.
The result:ourclientsgainmore
flexiblewaysofdoingbusiness, and
their customers receivebetter service.
We’ve consistently grownour
business, bothorganically andthrough
acquisitions, steadily increasingour
scale and breadthofoperations.
This strong performance record has
enabled ustodeliver realvalueto all
our stakeholders and has created a
stable, robustbusiness.
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Arobust business

Operating in a growingmarketplace
Capita is theUK’s leading provider of business process outsourcing (BPO) and business
transformation services.

The market for BPO in theUK and Ireland is consistently growing and developing. Its growth is
driven by public and private sector organisations seeking maximum efficiency, flexibility and
quality of service.Through long term contracts we provide efficient, quality administration and
customer service operations that help to transform the way our clients deliver services.

Only 6% of theUK’s £94.2bn* potential market for services has been outsourced so far,
indicating that there is still significant scope for further growth.

See p46-52 for further detailsp

Below:Our property consultancy,Capita Symonds, was involved with the Jubilee Line Extension from inception.

Today’s market £5.6bn
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Potential market£94.2bn

*Ovum 2008
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Arobust business

Applying a consistent businessmodel
For 25 years we have consistently applied a straightforward business model that focuses on
generating growth, both organically and through acquisitions.

We drive our organic growth through a centralised major contracts team and sales teams in
each of our businesses.The teams secure business from new and existing clients, where we can
add value to our clients’ businesses while securing a fair return forCapita.

We acquire small to medium sized companies to add complementary expertise or scale to our
existing operations, or to help us enter a new area of the market.We smoothly integrate the
acquired business into our operations, generating synergies and additional value for theGroup.

See p16-23 for further detailsp

Below:We consistently use 2 methods to generate profitable growth – organic growth and acquisitions.
Our strategy is communicated and applied across theGroup.



TheCapitaGroup Plc 05
Businessreview

18%5 year compound growth in revenues
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Arobust business

Sharingbenefitsof scale
Since it was formed in 1984,Capita has grown steadily year on year, extending its areas of
operation and breadth of expertise.

With over 36,000 people and 300 business sites across theUK, Ireland, theChannel Islands and
India, we use our expertise, infrastructure and scale benefits to transform our clients’ services.
Across a steadily broadening range of administration and customer services, we drive down costs
and add value to our clients’ operations.Our clients benefit fromflexible service delivery across
our extensive business centre network – onshore, nearshore and offshore – from our shared
infrastructure, pool of expertise and extensive purchasing power.

The scale of our operations and resources ensure that we can help our clients to meet their
customers’ expectations and to stay at the forefront of their markets.

See p36-37 for further detailsp

26m life and pensions policies administered

75m customer contacts handled

Below:One of our 62 business centres (Mumbai, India).Across theGroup’s extensive infrastructure we manage
numerous transactions each year, enabling our clients to benefit from our scale.
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9.7m payslips processed

£2bnbusiness rates collected
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Arobust business

Creating longtermpartnerships
We create close, mutually beneficial working relationships and consistently deliver what we
promise.This establishes a strong platform on which to build long term, sustainable partnerships
with our clients, employees and suppliers.

From day one of a new contract, we ensure there is no disruption to service and that all employees
are supported through their transition toCapita.Our focus then shifts to progressively improving
processes, introducing IT and innovation, building a motivated and productive workforce and
transforming the way services are delivered.

We select our suppliers with care, choosing those that fit best with our business needs and share
our belief in quality service delivered through responsible business practices.

See p16-21 and p36-41 for further detailsp

Below:Councillor PaulTilsley, Deputy Leader of BirminghamCityCouncil and HelenO’Dea,CEO of Service Birmingham discuss
our largest local government strategic partnership. See page 53.
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BirminghamCityCouncil +Capita = 12year partnership
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Arobust business

Consistentlydelivering addedvalue
In all we do, we look for opportunities to add value. For our clients we seek to add real
business value. For our employees we look to support and develop them.We create mutually
beneficial partnerships with suppliers and focus on making a positive contribution to the
communities in which we work.

This all underpins our ability to continue growing and creating value for our shareholders
and all our stakeholders.

Below: Employees, clients and suppliers take part inour annualCapitaChallenge, raising £67k in 2008for MacmillianCancerSupport.
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Throughout this report we have presented
case studies that illustrate how we add value.

Co-operative FinancialServicesp24-25p
CoalHealthClaimsp33p
Capita inSheffieldp38-39p
eircomp45p
ServiceBirminghamp53p
TheChildren’sMutualp60p

36,000employees going the extra mile
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Turnover (£m)

£2,441m +18%
5 year compound growth 18%

03
04
05
06
07

1,081
1,282

1,436
1,739

2,073
08 2,441

Underlying profit before tax (£m)*

£277.2m +16%
5 year compound growth 18%

03
04
05
06
07

121.2
143.9

169.6
200.1

238.4
08 277.2

Underlying earnings per share (p)*

33.26p +18%
5 year compound growth 21%

03
04
05
06
07

13.04
15.37

18.60
23.10

28.10
08 33.26

Total dividend per share (p)

14.4p +20%
5 year compound growth 29%

03
04
05
06
07

4.0
5.4

7.0
9.0

12.0**
08 14.4

*Excluding intangible amortisation and non-cash impact ofmark tomarket
movement on callable swaps.

*Excluding intangible amortisation and non-cash impact ofmark tomarket
movement on callable swaps.

**Excluding 25p special dividend.

Achieving our straightforward goal
Our straightforward goal is to continue
developingCapita as a long term,
sustainable business that consistently
performs, deliveringvalue to all its
stakeholders.
In 2008wedelivered another strong
performance andmade progress across
all our KPIs.
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Our performance in 2008
Capita delivered a strong performance in 2008.
Organic growthwas excellentwith awide rangeof
newmajor contracts secured in the year andwith
businesses across theGroupdelivering robust results.

In the year ended 31December 2008, turnover
increased by 18%to £2,441m (2007: £2,073m).
Underlyingoperating profit* rose by 18%to £320.9m
(2007: £271.3m) and underlying profit before taxation*
increased by 16%to £277.2m (2007: £238.4m).
Underlying earnings per share* grew by 18%to 33.26p
(2007: 28.10p).

Underlyingoperating cash flow** rose by 17%to
£392m (2007: £334m).We have increasedour total
dividend for the year by 20%to 14.4p (2007: 12.0p).
We have returned £69mto shareholders through
purchasingour own shares. In total, including the
proposed final dividend,wewill be returning £156m
(2007: £272m) to shareholders in respect of the 2008
financial year.

Buildingvalue for shareholders
In addition to the financialmeasures reported abovewe
focuson a numberof other key financialmeasures:
operatingmargins, cash flow, capital expenditure,
returnon capital employed, gearing and economic
profit.We also focusonmaintaining a conservative but
efficient capital structure.Collectively they form an
integral part of building value for our stakeholders on a
consistent basis over the long term.Wehave set out our
aims and performance regarding thesedisciplines on
pages 26-31.

Ourmarketplace
Themarket for business process outsourcing (BPO) in
theUK and Ireland continues to provide strong growth
opportunities. Industry analysts estimate the totalUK
potentialmarket at £94.2bn per annum,withonly 6%
outsourced so far†.

In the current economic climate,we expect an
increasing numberof organisationswill review their
businessmodels and explorewhereoutsourcing could
lower costs andoffermore service flexibility.Withour
scale and expertise,we arewell placed to help these
clients createmore adaptable, lower cost operating
modelswhile improving service quality. Furthermore,
our financial strength and stability is becoming a key
competitive advantage.

Generating profitable growth
Wegenerate profitable growth bywinning business
fromnew and existing clients in theUK and Ireland and
supplement this by acquiring businesses that broaden
our skill base and extendourmarket reach.

Organic growth
OurMajor SalesTeampursues complex, long term
contractswhich bring together awide rangeof the
Group’s skills and generate highquality, recurring
revenues. Securing and renewingmajor contracts is
an important componentof our growth.

Our sales performance in 2008was excellent.
We secured and extended 17major contractswith a
total valueof £1.24bn (2007: 8 contracts totalling
£1.89bn) includingwithAbbey Life,MarshUK, Principle
InsuranceHoldings, SeftonMetropolitan Borough
Council, SheffieldCityCouncil, theHealth andSafety
Executive (GasSafe RegisterTM scheme) and the
DepartmentofHealth (NHSChoices).Wemaintained
our 1 in 2win rate during the year. See pages 18-19
for further details.

2009 has started well. In the first 8weeksof 2009,we
have been selected todelivermajor contractswith an
aggregate valueof £610m, including being the preferred
partner to administer 3.2mmature life and pensions
policies forAXASun Life in a contract anticipated to be
worth £500mover 15 years and contractswith
BrecklandDistrictCouncil, Charnwood Borough
Council, eircomandThreadneedle.

Bid pipeline:Alongside these contractwins, our bid
pipeline has been replenished and reflects thequality
of business opportunities across ourmarkets.The bid
pipelinewas £3.1bn at the endof February 2009 (Feb
2008: £2.5bn) andonly includes bid situations inwhich
we are shortlisted as 1 of 4or fewer competitors and
capsour largest bids at £500m.

Ourmost activemarkets remain life and pensions
and local government.Central government, amarket
which has been less active in recent times, is also
starting tooffer some interestingopportunities.
See pages 46-52 for further details.

Contract renewals:Wehaveonly 1material contract
(defined as having annual revenue in excess of 1%of
2008 turnover) due for renewal before the endof 2011.
See page 19 for further details.

Stimulating growth through acquisition
A key elementof our growth is the acquisitionof small
tomedium sized companieswhich extendour presence
in existingmarketplaces or provide a foothold in a new
market.We have substantial experienceof integrating
acquired businesses and achieving synergieswithour
existingoperations.

In 2008, we completed 12 acquisitions for a total
considerationof £147.4m, includingComputerLandUK,
Lancaster InsuranceServices,ABSNetworkSolutions
Limited and IBSOPENSystems (IBS).Our acquisition
of IBS has been referred by theOffice of FairTrading
to theCompetitionCommission andwe are fully
engagedwith them in their review. See pages 21-23
for further details.

* Underlying profit excludes intangible amortisation of £18.6m (2007: £9.7m) and the
non-cash impact ofmark tomarketmovement on callable swaps of £32m

**Underlying cash flow excludes an exceptional additional pension contribution to the
Group Final Salary Pension Schemeof £10m

† Source:Ovum2008.



14 TheCapitaGroupPlc

Achieving our straightforward goal

In the first 2 months of 2009we spent a further
£13.6mon 2 acquisitions, a trust administration
business, FMS and a healthcare intelligence andquality
improvement services business,CHKS Limited.

Increasing scale and capabilitiesof
ouroffshoreoperation
Ouroffshoreoperation in India is developing
strongly both in scale and scopeof services and
allows us tooffer clients a flexible, efficient, blended
onshore/offshoredeliverymodel.Our offshore
operation has played a significant role in helping
to securemajor newbusiness, including contracts
withMarshUK,Abbey Life andAXASun Life. By the
endof 2009,we expect to haveover 4,500 staff in
India. Further details can be foundon pages 36-37.

Economic sensitivities
In the current volatile economic climate, areas of our
business thatmay bemore sensitive to economic
weakness are unit and investment trust administration
where fees are related to the valueof funds under
administration, someof our recruitment businesses
(particularly our search and selection business) and
elements of our property consultancy business.
However,muchof our activity in these areas is
underpinned by long term contracts and involves
the supplyof essential public services.The areas
potentially affected represent less than 10%of
ourGroup revenues and this risk has been factored
intoour 2009 business planning process.

Valuingour people
Capita celebrates 25years of operation this year and
the Boardwould like to take this opportunity to thank
all the talented employees across our historywho
have played a key role inCapita’s consistent growth.
Whether our people join us throughdirect recruitment,
contractsor acquisitions, their hardwork, commitment
and enthusiasmplay a vital role in helping us tomeet
client expectations and in supportingour growth.
In 1984, theCompany had 2 employees.Today,we
haveover 36,000whose combined contribution fuels
the continued success of theGroup.

We are continuing to invest in seniormanagement to
support the growthwe anticipate going forward. In
2008,we recruited 62 seniormanagers takingour
seniormanagement teamto 433.

Future prospects
Despite the economic climate,we believeCapita
iswell placed to continue its growth.Current
conditions present a healthy flowofopportunities
for us.Our pipelineof sales prospects, strong forward
visibility of revenues fromour long term contracts
and consistent operational performance position us
well for further strong progress.

Prospects forCapita in 2009 are encouraging.Our
success in the first fewweeksof 2009, a high level of
sales activity and a strongdemand for outsourcing in
the current economic conditions underpinour outlook
for continued growth in 2009 and thereafter.

Our principal key performance indicators (KPIs)
year end 2008 year end 2007

Operating margins
Maintain and strengthenmargins

Free cash flow
Maintain strong free underlying cashflow

Return on capital employed (ROCE)
Achieve ROCEwhich exceedsour cost of capital

Economic profit
Achieve steadily increasing economic profit

Gearing – interest cover
Maintain efficient capital structure,with relatively low gearing

Capital expenditure
Keep at or below4%of revenue

Retaining people
Seniormanagement retention (annual salaries exceeding £90k p.a.)

Overall employee retention
(industry average 2008: 82.7%, 2007: 81.9%)1

Controlling our environmental impacts
Continue tomeasure and assess our carbon footprint (tonnesCO2).
CO2 emissions rose 10.4%against increases inGroup turnover of 18%
and staff numbers of 23%

1CIPD 2007 and 2008

For details of progress across our financial KPIs see p26-31 and non-financial KPIs see p34-44.

13.15% 13.09%
£219m £184m
20.4% 19.6%
£140m £110m

7.4x 8x
3.5% 3.5%
88% 89%
82% 82%

64,611 58,523
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1. Generating profitable growthboth organically and through
acquisition.We secure long term, recurring revenues from new
and existing clients and acquire small tomedium sized businesses
to expandour capability and take us into new areas. p16p
2.Controlling and measuring growth through strong leadership
andbusiness practices.With strongfinancial controls, careful risk
management andeffective governance,wework to clear KPI targets
within a robustmanagement andoperating structure. p26p
3. Managing our business responsibly tomeet the needs of all
our stakeholders.We focus on delivering a good return to
shareholders, delivering operational excellence and value to
clients, building amotivatedworkforce of skilled and supported
employees, securing andmanaging appropriate supplier
relationships, reducing our negative impacts on society and
making a positive impact on the communities inwhich
wework. p34p
4.Targeting growth markets for BPO and professional support
services in theUK and Ireland.We seek the best opportunities to
deliver value to clientswhilemaking a fair return forCapita across
our 9 chosen public and private sectormarkets. p46p
5. Maintaining performance across our divisionsby consistently
delivering service excellence and sharingGroup resources and scale
benefits. Each business is alignedwith theGroup’soverall objectives
and strategy, and ismanagedwithin a simple, pragmaticdivisional
structure. p54p

A clear business strategy
Wefocuson 5 core elements to achieve
our straightforward goalofdelivering
value to all our stakeholders:
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A clear business strategy 1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
4. Targeting growthmarkets
5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions

1.Generating
profitable growth

We use 2 methods to generate profitable growth:

1.1 Organic growth:Wewin business fromnewand existing
customers in theUKand Ireland that provides long term
recurring revenues.

1.2Acquisitions:Weacquire small tomediumbusinesses
that broadenour skill base and extendourmarket reach.
As a result,we have grown consistently sincewe started
– initiallydelivering support services to government, and now
operating across both the public and private sectors.
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1.1 Creating profitable
organic growth
Our organic growth is created in 2ways:

Themajority of our organic growth comes through
securing high quality, recurring revenues from long
term contracts deliveringmultiple, integrated
administration and customer services.These contracts
have been consistently increasing in length as clients
seek longer lasting partnerships to delivermore
complex service transformation: they currently
average 9 years.

We also seek single service business that rolls over
annually, has a high repeat rate or is secured under
medium to long term contracts of 2 to 7 years.

The combination of long term contracts and recurrent
business secures highly visible future revenues.

Fuelling a strong pipelineof new
businessopportunities
We constantly identify areas of opportunity and
potential clients across the public and private sectors.
We actively engagewith potential clients to
demonstrate the benefits and addedvalue that
outsourcingoffers to their organisations and customers.

In the private sectorwe actively seekoutopportunities
through business intelligence and existing relationships;
increasingly,we are also approacheddirectly by
organisations.The procurement process is determined
by each individual customer, oftenworkingwith
advisers.

UK public sector contracts are subject todefined
procurement processes. EU policy requires ‘fair and
open competition’, andopportunities are formally
advertised and notified. In addition, under EU
competition law, public sector outsourcing contracts
that are already in placemust beoffered for tender
when the initial contract term is complete.

A valuablemeasureof our success is our bid pipeline
ofmajor contract opportunities,whichwe report twice
a year in our half year and full year results. It contains
contracts of £10mor above,wherewe have been
shortlisted to the last 4or fewer: all bids are capped
at £500mto prevent very large individual contracts
distorting the total.

Behindour bid pipeline is an active ‘prospect list’ of
opportunitieswhere the bidding process is underway
butwe haveyet to reach a shortlist or final bidding
stage.This prospect list is in turn supported by a list of
‘suspects’ – relationshipswhichwe are nurturing to
generate future bidopportunities.

To ensure that our bid pipeline is regularly replenished
with newopportunities across all ourmarkets, it is
essential thatwe support our experienced sales teams
with a proactive strategy for prospect identification and
development.We recently expandedour intelligence
and initial business development resources to increase
theflowofpotential newbusiness.Wehavealsoenlarged
ourMajor SalesTeamto ensurewe arewell placed to
convert the attractiveopportunitieswe identify.

Maintaining selectivity
Procurement processesonmajor bids, particularly in
the public sector,may take up to 2years to complete.
They can be costly in both time and resources. Sowe
are highly selective anddisciplined throughout the bid
process, only biddingwherewe see realistic opportunity
for a sensibleworking relationship that benefits both the
client and theGroup.We look for:

– clientswithwhomwe can build a strong relationship
and deliver real benefits

– a defined bid processwith clear decision criteria

– fit with our core competencies in service
transformation

– a fair risk/reward balance

– limited requirement for capital investment, unless
there is a real value proposition for theGroup

– acceptable contractual obligations.

If at any stagewe feel that conditions have shifted
significantly or that anyof these criteria are no longer
met,wewill, after detailed consultation,withdraw from
the process. It is essential for us to pursueonly those
contracts that can bothmeet the client’s expectations
and generate reasonable returns forCapita.

Businessreview
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A clear business strategy

Converting a strong pipelineof
newbusinessopportunities
Wemanage procurements either centrally or at
business level, dependingon the size and complexity
of theopportunity.OurMajor SalesTeampursues
complex, long term contracts. It candrawon the
resources of thewholeGroup to tailor solutions to
each client’s requirements.

Sales teams in each business unit of eachdivision
pursue smaller or less complex contracts, usually
focusedon a single service.Where these areworthover
£10m, theMajor SalesTeammay provide extra support.

Settingour bid success rate against our bid pipeline
provides a useful indicator of likely future sales growth.
In 2008,we continuedour success rateof 1 in 2.This
compareswith an industry averageof 1 in 5.
Once a bidding process is completed, the contract
movesoutof the pipeline –which is replenished as
other bids reach the shortlist stage.

Our sales performance in 2008was excellent.
We secured and extended 17major contractswith a
total valueof £1.24bn (2007: 8 contracts totalling
£1.89bn).These included 2 contracts –NHSChoices
and theGasSafe RegisterTM scheme – that give us a
strong footprint inmarketswe are looking todevelop.
See table below for details.

Alongside these contractwins our pipeline is constantly
replenished reflecting thequality of business
opportunities across ourmarkets. In February 2009,
our bid pipelinewas £3.1bn (February 2008: £2.5bn).

1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
4. Targeting growthmarkets
5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions

NEW
MarshUK

value:

£187m
duration:

10years
Todeliver backoffice
adminstration functions in
Norwich andPune, India,
and processing services to
enhanceMarsh’s broking
activities to clients across
its business.

NEW
Principle Insurance
Holdings*
value:

Over £80m
duration:

8 years
Toprovideoutsourced
services for Principle’s
motor and home insurance
and an IT platformto
launch and sell Sharia
compliant insurance
products in theUK.

NEW
Sefton Metropolitan
Borough Council
value:

£70m
duration:

10years
Todeliver awide range
of property andhighway
services.

NEW
CapitaGlamorgan
Consultancy**
value:

£75m
duration:

15years
Joint venture todeliver
wide rangeof property
services and infrastructure
consultancy inWales.
Will deliver cost savings
and create 100new jobs
in next 5years.

ADDITIONAL
Service
Birmingham
value:

£110m
duration:

8 years
Buildson current
partnership.Contract to
manage and transform
BirminghamCityCouncil’s
contact centre to ensure
easier access to council
services for citizensof
Birmingham.

NEW
Health and Safety
Executive
value:

£140m
duration:

10years
Tooperate a newgas
installer registration
scheme,GasSafe
RegisterTM, inGreat Britain
and to renewfocuson
gas safety.

Major new contracts and extensions secured in 2008

Total value: £1.24bn, 17 contracts*
2007 total: £1.89bn, 8 contracts
*Contracts listed above + 8 further deals valued at £10m to £50mworth an aggregate of £154m.
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Retaining and expanding contracts
Alongside securing newbusiness fromnew clients,we
work to renewor expand existing client relationships.

We concentrateon generating client satisfaction by
meeting expectations anddelivering value.We share
management, ideas and expertise across our operations
to addvalue for the benefit of our clients.

The higher the standards of servicewe provide, the
more likely clients are to extend and expand their
relationshipswith us. It is therefore important to
measure the improvement in service thatwedeliver
to clients and their customers.Todo this,we agree
detailed service standards and key performance
indicators.Onour largest contracts, strategic
partnership boards help both parties understand
eachother’s needs better.As a result, clients find
that outsourcing gives themmore control over
support operations, not less.

Bydeliveringoperational excellence and adding
value for our clients and their customers,we achieve
high client retention rates.We also create a pool of
positive refereeswho provide powerful support in
securing new sales opportunities.

We successfully renew themajority of our contracts
when they come up for renewal. In our 25-year history
we haveonly failed to renew3ofourmaterial contracts
(defined as generatingmore than 1%of the previous
year’s revenue).Thesewere contracts todeliver the
DrivingTheoryTest (ended 31December 1999), office
services for theDepartmentofWork and Pensions
(ended 2007) and the LondonCongestionCharging
Scheme,which runs until the endofNovember 2009.
We haveonly 1material contract due for renewal
before end 2011.

Impending rebids of existing material contracts*

Year Contract Value per annum (£m)

2009 None
2010 DCSF: National Strategies 35
2011 None
2012 TV Licensing 50
2012 Criminal Records Bureau 40
2013 None
*Defined as generatingmore than 1%of previous year’s revenue. Revenues p.a. as per
original contract values.

We aimnot just to keepour relationships, but to grow
them.Once clients have experienced thequality service
and addedvaluewedeliver,manyof themwant us to
support further areas of their operations.

Businessreview

NEW
Department
of Health
value:

£60m
duration:

3 years
Todevelop, deliver and
hostNHSChoices, the
digital channel to connect
citizens and intermediaries
with theNHS.

NEW
Abbey Life

value:

£137m
duration:

10years
Toadminister
approximately 1.1million
life and pension policies.
Approx 300 staff transfer
toCapita inMarch 2009.

NEW
Sheffield
CityCouncil
value:

Over £200m
duration:

7 years
Service improvementand
businesstransformation
including ICT, revenue,
benefits andcashiering,
HRandpayroll andfinancial
businesstransactions.

*Formerly British Islamic InsuranceHoldings

**Comprises BridgendCounty BC,MerthyrCounty
BCandRhonddaCynonTafCounty BC.
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A clear business strategy

Securing appropriate pricing
and contract terms
Ourmajor contracts are long term commitments. So it
is essential to get our pricing and contract terms correct
fromthe start, to deliver value to both theGroup and
our clients.

To ensure prudent pricing,we clearly separate
responsibilities. Sales teams are responsible for client
relationships; sales support teamsdevelop pricing and
riskmodels.On allmajor bids, pricing is agreed by
the Board.

We undertake extensive duediligence to build detailed
service, risk and pricingmodels.Weoften share these
openlywithour prospective clients to ensure that all
our assumptions for delivering successfully on the
project are robust and that the benefits generated to
both parties are fully understood.

Our contract price is generallymade upof a base cost
that covers the transformation and normal running
costs of the service.Wheredemandon the service
infrastructure fluctuates, the pricingwill include a
variable volume-related element.All contracts include
a related basket of indices that reflect the cost elements
of the service (such aswage inflation and RPI).Our
track record experience in pricing contracts correctly
enables us tooffer clients sensible and realistic proposals
while robustlymanaging andmitigating risk.

Maintaining a strong
competitive position
Outsourcing has evolved rapidly fromdelivering cost
driven, single service solutions to creating long term,
multi-service partnerships focusedon business
transformation and addedvalue.Cost efficiency
remains an important reason for outsourcing, but it is
equally important to consider howoutsourcing can add
more value toour clients’ operations and help themto
increase effectiveness andmaintain competitiveness.
The case studies in this report (pages 24-25, 33, 38-39,
45, 53 and 60) illustrate howwedeliver addedvalue.

Our knowledge base and technical infrastructure,
built over 25years,make us a compelling choice.
We have unrivalled skills and infrastructure, and have
consistently led and helped shape themarket by
developingour outsourcingoffering.We respond
to clients’ specified requirements but often also
propose alternative servicemodels that deliver
even greater benefits.

1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
4. Targeting growthmarkets
5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions

We consistently provide:
–Market expertise
– Depth and flexibility of expert resources
– Extensive and flexible infrastructure
–Awide range of ICT solutions
–Onshore, nearshore andoffshore delivery options
– Financial strength and stability.

Wehave an established track recordof:
– Smoothly transferring processes and people
–Delivering business transformation and improved
services

–Achieving business process efficiencies
– Delivering quality customer service
– Providing efficient, consistent service
– Innovating practically and realistically
–Creating scale economies
–Achieving cost savings
–Adding additional business benefits
–Creating long term sustainable partnerships.
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Weare the clearUKmarket leader in BPO,with an
excellent track recordof service delivery and a strong
set of satisfied client referees.As aUK based business
serving an almost exclusivelyUK based clientele,we
have adetailed knowledgeof ourmarket; andour
management team is highly accessible and swift to
respond toour clients’ needs.

Our clients are highly selective. Increasingly, they seek
outsourcing partnerswho have not just the expertise
and capacity to support thembut also the financial
strength and stability essential to building a long term
partnership.We, too,must be selective – and in
weakening economic conditionswe have been
extendingour duediligenceof potential clients.

Capita’s strong balance sheet and cash flow reassure
clients that their service is in the handsof a stable
partner.Our proven recordof strong governance and
ethical, socially responsible behaviour is also a
competitive strength.Together, these elements clearly
differentiate us from competitors and are significant
barriers to entry for newparticipants in all ourmarkets.

1.2 Stimulating growth
through acquisitions
Acquisitions have consistently played a key role in
stimulatingour growth.We continuously look to
acquire niche businesses thatwill support and
supplementour organic growth by enhancingour
existingofferingormarket reach.

Selecting acquisitions for growth
Wefocuson acquiring small tomedium sized
businesses thatwill strengthenour position inour
targetmarkets, bring complementary skills and
services, and provideopportunities to create further
economies of scale or expandour current reach.

Wewill also acquire businesseswhich help us enter
or growour presence in a newmarket. In education,
insurance and financial services, for example,we
entered eachmarketwith an acquisition. Expandingour
presence through subsequent acquisitions and contract
wins brought us significant scale and good returns.

To stimulate growthwe generally seek target
acquisitions that:

– have operations and customers in theUK
and/or Ireland

– fit with our strategy and core competencies

– generate sustainable, quality revenues.

Businessreview

Weare highly selective
when assessing potential
acquisitions. In the past year
we assessed some 100
acquisitions but proceeded
with only 12.
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A clear business strategy

Applying rigorous criteriawhen
selecting targets and agreeing
purchase prices
Potential acquisitions are identified and brought to the
Group by people in our businesses, external consultants
or direct approaches.We are highly selective: in the past
yearwe assessed some 100 acquisitions and proceeded
withonly 12. Duediligence is undertaken at bothGroup
and business level and all acquisitions are assessed,
priced and agreed by the Board.

We tend to select acquisition targets that are:

– privately owned

– too small to interest the private equitymarket

– not in an auction –we aim to acquirewithout
competition

– attractively priced, with scope to add value for
shareholders.

This disciplined approach enables us to negotiate
sensible purchase prices and terms, so generating
good returns for theGroup.

Addingvalue through acquisitions
In 2008we spent £147.4mon 12 acquisitions, and in
the first 2monthsof 2009we spent a further £13.6m
on 2 acquisitions.

The current economic climate is creating a healthy
pipelineof acquisitionopportunities, particularly in
financial services and IT.We expect this to continue
throughout 2009.There is a goodvolumeof
opportunities valued at attractive levels.Wewill
remaindisciplinedwhen assessingopportunities.

Successfully integrating acquisitions
Wehave substantial experienceof successfully
integrating acquired businesses and achieving synergies
withour existingoperations. Stringent duediligence,
before and after acquisition, enables us to set clear
targets for growth, integration benefits and profit.
Adedicated project teammanages the transition –
bringing financial procedures, information and
communications technology (ICT), HR, legal,
compliance andmarketingquickly into linewith
our standards, usingGroup systems and resources
where available.

Acquiringonly small tomedium sized businesses
enables us to integrate them intoour existing business
infrastructure efficiently and generally allows us to
generate value faster.

1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
4. Targeting growthmarkets
5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions

LEGAL SERVICES
d3 (Investment)

value:

£1.2m
+£1.5m*
Investment in legal services
administration company.

INSURANCE
Schoolsafe

value:

£2.0m
+£1.5m*
An intermediary for the
provisionof supply teacher
insurance for schools.

FINANCIAL SERVICES
NiewenhuisCorporate
Services
value:

£4.3m
+£2.5m*
Provides trust
administration and
SPV services.

PROPERTY
Lovejoy Partnership

value:

£5.0m
+£5.0m*
Oneof theUK’s leading
land planning anddesign
practices: planning and
designing the environment
aroundbuildings.

IT SERVICES
ComputerLandUK

value:

£27.8m
(netof cash acquired)
Provides servicesdesigned
to improve business
productivity, increase the
qualityof IT and reduce IT
costs to corporate clients.
The increased scaleoffered
by this acquisitionwill
enableCapita tooffer
enhanced propositions to
existing and newclients.

INSURANCE
Lancaster Insurance
Services
value:

£16.5m
(netof cash acquired)
Specialises in providing
insurance for classic cars.
Will add both new,
specialist expertise and
important cost synergies
toCapita’s personal
insurance intermediary and
administration business.

Total spent: £147.4m
2007: £114m

Acquisitions 2008

*Deferred consideration
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Progress & new
developments in 2008
Organic growth
–Secured 17major contractsworth a total of £1.24bn
– Bid pipeline ofmajor contract opportunities = £3.1bn
(Feb 2009)

– Increased business intelligence and engagement
across targetmarkets

–Grew central Major SalesTeam
– Potential clients increasingly seeking partnerswith
financial strength and stability

– Increased due diligence on potential clients.

Acquisitions
–Spent £147.4mon 12 acquisitions
– Strong pipeline of acquisition opportunities
– Interesting opportunities, particularly in financial
services and IT

–More reasonable valuations.

Priorities for 2009

Organic growth
–Across theGroup, identify quality new business
opportunities tomaintain a buoyant bid pipeline

– Continue addressing opportunities selectively
–Maintain bid process disciplines to secure
appropriate pricing and contract terms

–Maintain increased focus on business intelligence
and pre-sales client engagement

– Address new business segments such as health and
defencemarkets

–Maintain focus on retaining and expanding existing
contracts.

Acquisitions
–Continue to encourage businesses to identify
suitable acquisitions

– Select acquisitions that complement or growour
business offering

–Maintain rigorous criteria for selecting targets
–Maintain stringent disciplines regarding pricing
– Continue to enhance integration process.

PROPERTY
NRM Bobrowski

value:

£2.0m
+£2.5m*
Specialises in structural
and civil engineering.

FINANCIAL SERVICES
WeedonGrant

value:

£1.1m
+£0.4m*
Treasury and financial
adviser to housing
associations.

SOFTWARE
IBS OPENSystems

value:

£69.6m
(netof cash acquired)
A providerof software
systems and related
services for the
managementof social
housing and the collection
and paymentof revenues
and benefits to local
authorities and housing
associations in theUK.

PROPERTY
Pearce Buckle

value:

£2.5m
+£1.5m*
A leading providerof
professional consultancy
services for newbuild and
existing structures in the
commercial and public
sectors.Will further
enhance the services
offered byCapitaSymonds.

IT SERVICES
ABS Network
Solutions
value:

£13.6m
(netof cash acquired)
Provides IP based business
networking solutions
andwill bringCISCO
accreditations and
capability in emerging
technologies.Will enable
cost savings in spend
onCISCOequipment
acrossCapita.

HEALTH
MMO

value:

£1.8m
+£0.1m*
Membership
administration software
provider forNHSTrusts.
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Case study:
Co-operative FinancialServices

‘A smooth
transfer’

‘Good
communications’

Motivatingpeople
to improveperformance

The objective: motivate and focus 800 people
on cutting operating costs while continuously
improving customer service.



Businessreview
The Capita Group Plc 25

‘A professional
environment’

‘Clear goals’

In November 2007, the Co-operative Financial
Services (CFS) life and savings business unit
brought Capita in to run their administration
operation.The objective: motivate and focus
800 people on cutting operating costs while
continuously improving customer service.

Within a year, customer complaints were down
by 45%, staff attrition had been cut by 80%,
and average end-to-end processing times had
been halved. All the first-year service level
targets were being met consistently – and so
were two-thirds of the targets for year 3.

How was it done?
“TogetherwithCFSwe identified, developed
and implementedmeaningful service
measurements and a performance regime
geared towardsdriving rapid improvement,”
says David Carrie (left), who runs Capita Life &
Pensions Services’ Manchester Operations.
“Ifwewere going tomeetour targets,we had
to bring together adisparate groupof
employees fromacross a numberofCFS sites
tooperate asone teamunderone roof.That
wasonly going to happen ifwe hadopen and
regular communication.”

We published a business scorecard focusing
on what success looked like for all our
stakeholders. Incentives were aligned to the
scorecard making it clear to every member of
the team that their performance contributed to
the success of the operation. We monitored
progress, took on board feedback and published
regular updates about how we were doing.

“For our customers, service levels have gone
up and up sinceour contractwithCapita
started,” adds Dick Parkhouse, Managing
Director of CFS’ Retail Division. “This is
testament to the successof the partnership,
whichwas recognised at theNational
OutsourcingAssociationAwards 2008,
wherewewere crowned BPOProject of the
Year andOutsourcing EndUserof theYear.”

David Carrie
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Aclear business strategy

Strong leadership and clear business practices are essential
to creating a financially stable organisation capable of supporting
sustained growth and delivering healthy investor returns.
With Capita’s stable and inspiring management team and
robust business practices in place we concentrate on delivering
our long term contracts successfully and generating steady,
controlled growth.

Our growth is underpinned by the following disciplines and
these remain our priorities for 2009:

2.1Maintaining strong structure and control
through robust management and operating structures.

2.2Focusingonclearfinancialkeyperformance indicators (KPIs)
with strong financial controls and effective governance.

2.3Maintaining careful riskmanagement
consistently throughout the Group.

1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling and measuring growth
3. Managing our business responsibly
4. Targeting growth markets
5. Maintaining performance across our divisions

2. Controlling and
measuring growth

Our principal financial KPIs
year end 2008 year end 2007

Operatingmargins
Maintain and strengthen margins

Free cashflow
Maintain strong free underlying cash flow

Returnon capital employed (ROCE)
Achieve ROCE which exceeds our cost of capital

Economic profit
Achieve steadily increasing economic profit

Gearing – interest cover
Maintain efficient capital structure, with relatively low gearing

Capital expenditure
Keep at or below 4% of revenue

See p28-31 for further details.

13.15% 13.09%
£219m £184m
20.4% 19.6%
£140m £110m

7.4x 8x
3.5% 3.5%
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2.1Maintaining strong
structure and control
Our management structure and business reporting
process promote accountability and knowledge
sharing across the Group, keeping management
responsive to issues and trends in the business and the
wider marketplace.

The Board comprises a Non-Executive Chairman,
3 Non-Executive Directors and 5 Executive Directors –
Chief Executive, Group Finance Director, Chief
Operating Officer, Business Development Director and
a part-time Executive Director.The Board is responsible
for establishing, maintaining and reviewing the Group’s
growth strategy, financial performance, systems of
internal control and Group-wide policies. See pages
62-63 for further details on Board members.

The Chief Operating Officer and the Divisional
Directors are responsible for the development and
performance of the divisional businesses.They
communicate and monitor the application of Group-
wide business objectives, policies, procedures and
standards.They work with and delegate responsibility
to their management teams.

Each of our business units prepares a comprehensive
annual business plan.This includes monthly revenue
and cost forecasts for the year ahead, taking into
account new service/product developments and
changes in the competitive landscape.The business
unit financial plans feed into the Group financial model.

Monthly operational business (MOB) reviews focus
on the performance of each business unit in each
division. Each division holds pre-MOB reviews where
management teams assess each unit’s performance
against plan and discuss its ongoing development.
This enables them to determine how planned targets
will be met and identify potential difficulties at an
early stage.These are forums to share knowledge and
challenges, develop tactics, reallocate resources and
refresh strategies to meet or exceed business plans.
Board Executive Directors attend divisional MOBs,
ensuring they have a detailed knowledge of the
progress of the divisions and a monthly view of actual
and anticipated performance against business plans.

Businessreview

Board ExecutiveDirectors
+
Divisional Directors
+
DivisionalManagementTeams

MonthlyOperational Business (MOB) reviews

RiskCommittees

Business units

The Board

GroupCompliance
+
GroupRisk and
BusinessAssurance

GroupAuditCommittee
+
ExternalAuditors

Non-ExecutiveChairman
3 xNon-ExecutiveDirectors
+
5 x ExecutiveDirectors:
Chief Executive
Group Finance Director
Chief Operating Officer
Business Development Director
Executive Director

Independent governance

Internal governance
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Aclear business strategy

Free cash flow (£m)

19%

Annual growth

21%

5 year compound growth

03
04
05
06
07

83
106

127
154

184
08 219

2.2 Focusingon clear financial KPIs
We are a financially focused business. We monitor and
challenge financial performance at all levels to probe
the health and progress of our businesses and promote
accountability. As well as profitability, we use a range
of financial measures at Group level. Collectively they
form an integral part of the way we build consistent,
long term value for our shareholders.

We focus particularly on KPIs in 6 areas and these
remain our priorities for 2009:

Operating margins
Aim: to maintain and strengthen margins.

We constantly monitor operating margins and
manage operating costs to keep the business
efficient and cost effective.

In 2008, we continued our long term trend of
improving operating margins (before amortisation)
with an annual increase of 6 basis points (bpts) to
13.15% (2007: 13.09%). We achieved this progression
even though we invested heavily in our Life & Pensions
business and implemented a record number of major
new contracts.

Cash flow
Aim: to maintain strong operating and free
cash flow. Capita generates a predictable and
consistent cash flow.

In 2008, we generated operating cash flow of £392m,
representing an operating profit to cash conversion
rate of 122%. Our underlying free cash flow, defined as
operating cash flow less capital expenditure, interest
and taxation, increased by 19% to £219m.

Our success reflects the strength of our business
model and management approach, in particular:

– securing timely payment terms

– focusing on cash generation

– providing valued services

– maintaining an efficient finance function.

1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling and measuring growth
3. Managing our business responsibly
4. Targeting growth markets
5. Maintaining performance across our divisions

Exceptional pension payment £50m (2004), £10m (2008)

Operating margins %

6bpts

Annual increase

03 04 05 06 07 08

12.16 12.15

12.76 12.95 13.09 13.15

Cash flow from operating activities (£m)

17%

Annual growth

20%

5 year compound growth

03
04
05
06
07

158
200

232
279

334
08 392

Exceptional pension payment £50m (2004), £10m (2008)
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Economic profit
Aim: achieve steadily increasing Group economic
profit. We are focused on delivering value for our
shareholders.

An effective way of measuring this is to assess
whether our after tax returns are sufficient to cover
the returns required from all our capital providers.
Group economic profit allows us to assess whether
the return generated on the average capital base is
sufficient to meet the return requirements of our
investors (debt and equity). Positive economic profit
therefore means that we have created value.

Businessreview

Group economic profit (£m)

27%

Annual growth

29%

5 year compound growth

03 04 05 06 07

39
53

68
89

110

08

140

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

PBIT (£m) 131 156* 183 225 271 321
Average capital (£m) 645 696 776 880 998 1,150
Tax (%) 28.1 28.1 27.7 27.7 27.7 27.0
WACC (est%) 8.5 8.5 8.2 8.4 8.6 8.2
Capital charge (£m) (55) (59) (64) (74) (86) (94)
Tax (£m) (37) (44) (51) (62) (75) (87)
Economic profit (£m) 39 53 68 89 110 140
*excluding exceptional items
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Return on capital employed (ROCE)
Aim: steadily increasing ROCE which exceeds our cost
of capital.

This ensures that we add shareholder value over the
long term. In recent years we have successfully widened
the margin between the cost of our capital and the
returns we generate by investing it.

In the chart below the weighted average cost of capital
(WACC) indicates the return that could be expected
from the capital invested in the business. It is
calculated by weighting the cost of our debt and equity
financing in line with the amounts of debt and equity
that we use to finance our activities. We have
calculated our WACC assuming a risk free rate of
4.47%, an equity risk premium of 5.93% and a Beta
of 0.749.

During 2008, our post tax return on average capital
employed improved to 20.4% (2007: 19.6%).This
compares to our estimated WACC which is 8.2%.

Gearing
Aim: maintain a conservative and efficient capital
structure, with a relatively low level of gearing.

It is important for our clients that we are a low risk,
stable partner, particularly where we are delivering
large scale operations on their behalf and even more so
during the current volatile economic conditions.The
Group has considerable headroom to take on further
debt if necessary, as indicated by the interest cover
ratio and net debt to earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA). However, we
would be unlikely to incur borrowings which would
reduce interest cover below 7 times. Group interest
cover for the year ended 31 December 2008 was
7.4 times.

1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling and measuring growth
3. Managing our business responsibly
4. Targeting growth markets
5. Maintaining performance across our divisions

Net return on capital %

20.4%

2008 Net return on capital
WACC

03 04 05 06 07

14.6
16.1

17.1
18.5

19.6

08

20.4

8.5 8.5 8.2 8.4 8.6 8.2

Balance sheet gearing 2008 2007

Netdebt
Bond debt (£m) 679† 479
Bank facilities drawn/(deposit)(£m) (87) 45
Loan note (£m) 4 2

Total net debt (£m) 596 526
Interest cover 7.4x 8x
Net debt to EBITDA 1.6 1.7
†Underlying net debt after impact of currency and interest swaps



The Capita Group Plc 31
Businessreview

Interest rateprofile
We aim to maintain a balanced interest rate risk
profile. We have £679m of private placement debt
(£100m matures later this year and £579m matures
between 2012 and 2018). In February 2008, Capita
executed a series of callable swaps to convert from a
variable rate based upon paying 6 month LIBOR to a
fixed rate of interest of 5.25% on £479m of placement
debt. Following the dramatic fall in interest rates at the
end of 2008 and an increase in the implied volatilities,
these swaps show a negative mark to market value of
£32m at 31 December 2008.This represents a non-
cash accounting loss in the year that will reverse as the
mark to market valuation will tend towards zero as the
swaps approach maturity or cancellation.The Group
maintains a balanced interest rate risk profile by way of
the remaining private placement debt of £200m and a
revolving credit facility of £245m that both pay
floating rate interest. As at 31 December 2008, all
of this credit facility was unutilised. See note 24 on
page 104.

Capital expenditure
Aim: keep capital expenditure (capex) at or below
4% of revenue.

This helps us to focus investment on the opportunities
that generate greatest shareholder value and avoid
tying up too much capital in long term projects.

In 2008 we met this objective, with net capex at
3.5% of annual revenue. We believe capex at or
below 4% is sustainable for the foreseeable future.
There are currently no indications of significant capex
requirements in our business forecasts or bid pipeline.
But we would not rule out the possibility of exceeding
4% if we saw an exceptional opportunity to use our
financial strength as a competitive advantage.

Capex as % of turnover

3.5%

2008

03 04 05 06 07 08

3.4

4%

3.6

3.7 3.6
3.5 3.5
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Aclear business strategy 1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling and measuring growth
3. Managing our business responsibly
4. Targeting growth markets
5. Maintaining performance across our divisions

– Board involvement in all major contracts
– Aligned with core competencies and financial targets
– Rigorous pricing and risk assessment, separate from sales process
– Secure appropriate pricing and contract terms to ensure fair

risk/reward profile
– Detailed, tailored transition process to ensure continuity of service

and retention of staff.

– Ongoing

– Aligned with core competencies and financial targets
– Rigorous, risk-based due diligence process
– Fit with strategy and pricing is subject to consideration and approval

by the Board
– Clear transition process to ensure adoption of Group policies and procedures.

– Ongoing

– Escalated via the MOB process and Risk Committees to Divisional
Directors and the Board as appropriate

– Processes and appropriate multiple operating performance indicators
in place across all businesses/contracts

– Key Group forums in place strengthening operational risk support
in the areas of:

– Information Security
– Business Continuity
– Payment Card Industry Compliance

– Regular security risk assessments are carried out in areas that manage
sensitive customer data to ensure the strongest levels of security are in place

– Continuous review of information security policies and procedures to deal
with the evolving threat to data security

– Working with public and private sector clients to risk assess security
measures in place to protect client data.

– Mitigating policies and procedures are published by the Group Risk and
Business Assurance function in conjunction with Group Compliance.

– The Group’s online fraud awareness training has been updated and is being
rolled out across all business units

– Fraud benchmarking exercises are regularly carried out in key areas of
the Group to constantly assess levels of fraud prevention in place against
current best practice

– Working with clients in the life and pensions market to implement best
practice fraud prevention controls.

– Monitoring by the Group Compliance function to ensure that regulatory risks
are identified, assessed, monitored, managed and controlled

– Reporting to senior management on a timely, complete and accurate basis
– Ensuring the business has appropriate policies and procedures in place.

– Monitoring has been undertaken on the control processes on a regular basis
and reports made to senior management on the outcomes of these reviews

– Assessments of additional measures or changes in practices required to
comply with financial services regulation were conducted and appropriate
action taken to incorporate them into the policies, systems and procedures
of the Group.

– Capital expenditure is subject to rigorous budgetary controls and spending
above specified levels requires Group sign off

– Financial performance of each business unit is monitored each month and
actual progress against plan is challenged by the Executive Directors

– Treasury management – the Group’s financial instruments for fundraising are
bonds, unsecured loan notes, finance leases and overdrafts.The Group has
various other financial instruments such as trade creditors and debtors that
arise directly from its operations. Where appropriate, the Group may also use
derivatives to hedge its exposure to fluctuations in interest rate and foreign
exchange rates. It is the Group’s policy that no trading in financial
instruments will be undertaken.

– Ongoing

– Investment in training and development
– Competitive, appropriate incentive schemes
– Succession planning is a key element of MOB process.

– Continual development of our screening and reference process for all
employees.

– Robust process for handling and escalating enquiries/complaints from all
stakeholders at both a business/contract and Group level – primarily clients,
media, public and suppliers.

– Centralised proactive and reactive PR team to promote Group and
business units and manage communications regarding issues.

– Supplier segmentation and risk categorisation in place
– Active supplier engagement and management processes.

– Continuing with supplier registration and assessment.
– Spend analysis tools implemented in 2008
– A supplier rationalisation programme defined, to commence in 2009.

Financial

Operational risk

New contracts

Fraud

Financial services
regulation

Acquisitions

Reputation

Procurement

Attracting and
retaining staff

Risk category

Riskmanagement

Riskmitigation 2008 update

2.3Maintaining careful
riskmanagement
Systems and procedures are in place across the Group
to identify, assess and mitigate major business risks
that could impact the delivery of our growth strategy.
Monitoring our exposure to risk is an integral part of
the MOB process, described on page 27.

Across our regulated businesses, the MOB process is
supplemented by formally constituted committees.

At Group level, risk management is independently
facilitated and challenged by the Group Risk and
Business Assurance function, which reports to the
Group Finance Director and independently to the
Audit Committee. See information on pages 27
and 66-67.
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Case study:
CoalHealthClaims

The Coal Health Compensation (CHC) schemes
covering respiratory and vibration diseases, are
the biggest personal injury schemes in British
legal history. In February 2004, Capita was
appointed by the Department of Energy and
Climate Change to administer both schemes.

“Ourmainobjectivewas to getminers
compensated faster andwith less red tape
butwithout compromising the schemes,”
says Andrew Beer (left), Managing Director
of Capita Insurance Services BPO.
“Todo thatwe had todevelop employees’
skills, improvequality standards anddeliver
efficiencies in claims processing.Our business
transformation programmefocusedon
productivity and staffmanagement,
short and long termplanning, process
re-engineering and IT.The programme
yielded immediate results.”

To provide a one-stop shop for devising and
implementing solutions and improvements,
we created a solutions centre that brought
together key support functions such as
planning, project management, quality and
business change. And to measure
improvements across all areas we introduced a
business excellence model. After 3 years we’d
delivered an overall operational improvement of
around 70%*, measured against the model.
One change alone – the introduction of
compensation calculators – saved 200 working
years and £60m in related costs, and we’ve
saved almost £20m through fraud investigation.

In 2007, CHC received Recognised for Excellence
5 Star status, winning a special award for
Employee Satisfaction. We also won the North
of England Excellence Award for private sector
companies.This was followed in 2008 by a
coveted Ambassadors’ Blue Riband Award
in the Chartered Quality Institute and London
Excellence national award scheme.

Today, Capita pays out on average £0.5m in
compensation to former miners every working
day. And by January 2009, over 738,000 claims
had been settled, involving payments totalling
over £3.98bn.
*Source: European Foundation of Quality Management

Improving services
throughprocess
re-engineering
The objective: compensate miners
faster and with less red tape.

Businessreview

Andrew Beer



Weare committed to growing the business in a transparent
and socially responsibleway that is sustainable for all
stakeholders over the long term.
We focus on 5main areas and these remain our priorities
for 2009:
3.1Delivering value to shareholders.
3.2 Building scale and capacity to support our clients.
3.3Managing resourceswell by actively attracting and
building aworkforceof quality people anddeveloping
their skills.
3.4Creating successful supplier relationships to ensure
quality, responsible and cost effective partnerships
across theGroup.
3.5Supporting the communities inwhichwework and
controllingour environmental impacts.
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Aclear business strategy

3.Managingour
business responsibly

1.Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
4. Targeting growthmarkets
5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions

Progress 2008 2007

Shareholder value
Growdividends at least in linewith earnings.
Annual growth of total dividends.

Building scale& capacity
Continue to growour infrastructure of business
centres tomeet the needs of our growing business.
Retaining people
Maintain high retention rates for seniormanagers
(annual salaries exceeding £90k p.a.).

Maintain overall employee retention at or above
industry average (2008:82.7%, 2007:81.9%)1.

Create successful supplier relationships
Annually audit all tier 1 suppliers against
Capita’s standards of business.

Controllingour environmental impacts
Continue tomeasure and assess our carbon footprint (tonnesCO2).
CO2 emissions rose 10.4%against increases inGroup turnover of 18%
and staff numbers of 23%.

1CIPD 2007 and 2008

20% 33%

62 55
business centres business centres

88% 89%

82% 82%
100% 50%

64,611 58,523

Ourprincipal non-financial KPIs
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3.1Delivering shareholdervalue
Bymaintaining a strong structure and controls,
focusing on clear financial KPIs and applying
consistent, careful riskmanagement, we create
sustainable growth anddeliver healthy investor
returns. See pages 16-23.

After investing in the business, we use surplus cash to
deliver further shareholder value in 3mainways –
through acquisitions, dividends and share buybacks.

£900mhas been returned to shareholders over the
past 5 years – £446mthrough share buybacks, £155m
in special dividends and £299m in ordinary dividends.

I. Funding acquisitions to addvalue
In 2008,we invested £147.4m in 12 acquisitions
and investments andour pipeline of potential target
acquisitions remains healthy.While continuing to be
extremely selective, we anticipate a good volumeof
opportunities in 2009. See pages 21-23.

II. Distribution to shareholders
throughdividends
TheGroupdividend strategy is to return surplus cash
to shareholders through a combination of progressive
dividends and,when appropriate, capital returns.

A key element in the creation of shareholder value is
a progressive dividend policy.Over the 5 years to
31 December 2008we grewour dividend at a
compound annual rate of 29%.Our confidence in
the strength and resilience of our businessmodel has
allowed us to reduce annual dividend cover gradually.
For 2008we continued this trend, reducing cover to
2.31 times (2007: 2.35 times).

III. Share buybacks
We have continued to undertake share buybacks
opportunistically, whenmarket conditions allow, to
maintain an efficient capital structure andminimise
our long term cost of capital.

In the period to 31 December 2008,we repurchased
10.4m shares (representing 1.7%of the issued share
capital) at an average price of 659p.

BusinessreviewDividends 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007* 2008

Interimdividend (p) 1.30 1.75 2.10 2.70 4.00 4.8
Final dividend (p) 2.70 3.60 4.90 6.30 8.00 9.6
Total dividend (p) 4.00 5.35 7.00 9.00 12.00 14.4
Dividend cover 3.26x 2.85x 2.66x 2.57x 2.34x 2.31x
*Before 25p special dividend

Share buybacks 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

%of share capital authorised to repurchase 10 10 10 10 10 10
Noof shares repurchased (m) 5.2 8.9 13.3 52.9 6.6 10.4
Total cost (£m) 12.2 27.7 49.9 246 44 69
Average price (p) 235 311 375 465 665 659
Issued share capital at year end (m) 667 671 671 617 609 611
%of share capital repurchased 0.8 1.3 1.9 7.9 1.1 1.7



3.2Building scale and capacity and
growingour infrastructure
Wehave built up an extensive operational
infrastructure and a depth of capabilitieswhich enable
us to fully support our clients, provide flexible
operatingmodels and share economies of scale.

Our continued growth and success depends on
having the right resources in place both in terms of
infrastructure and people.To sustain our high contract
win and retention rates, we have to satisfy clients that
we have the operational scale and capability to deliver
our promises –whether on relatively simple contracts
or large scale, multi-service partnerships.

We continuously assess the needs of each business
unit to ensure thatwe have the necessary people,
infrastructure and resources for current and future
development. Eachmonthwe review comprehensive
operationalmanagement information through the
MOB review processwhich enables us tomanage the
business in away that delivers our key financial targets.

Leveraging scale and resources
The substantial scale and broad capabilitywe have
created enable us to put forward increasingly
compelling propositions to clients andwinmajor
integrated service transformations across the public
and private sectors.

The addition of progressively larger contracts, with
common processes and substantial numbers of
transferring staff has accelerated the growthof our
operations and resources.This in turn enables us to
delivermore services and contracts through shared
ICT platforms andoperating structures, providing
greater benefits to clients.They benefit not only
from substantial cost efficiencies but also from
greater access to specialist skills and flexible service
deliverymodels.

Our business centres, wherewe are able to run a
broad range of shared services to provide cost
efficiencies to customers and a higher level of service
quality, form a central part of our service delivery
infrastructure.At the endof 2008we had an
infrastructure of 62 business centres onshore in the
UK, nearshore in Ireland and theChannel Islands,
and offshore in India.

As excellent reference sites, they are an asset to
the sales process, allowing potential clients to see
operations first hand and to speakwith operational
staff who have transferred toCapita from client
organisations.

Capita India
Our offshore operations in India apply key skills
and expertise to deliver quality, cost effective services
to clients.

Sincewe established our operations in India in 2003
they have played an increasingly important role in
our business. Capita India is an integrated part of the
Group andoperates like any otherCapita businesswith
the samevalues, technical infrastructure andoperating
model. It continues to develop strongly both in scale
and scope of services.

Following the transfer of someof Prudential’s Indian
operations toCapita as part of the Prudential contract
inOctober 2008,we now have 3 sites inMumbai and
we have established a new site in Pune.These centres
are specialist centres, delivering services tomultiple
clientsor providingmultiple services to a single client.
We benefit from being able to attract and retain a
highly skilled and professionalworkforce.

The sites share a combinedmanagement team to
ensure they all benefit from their collective skills and
we proactively recruit from the highly skilled graduate
workforce that is available in these areas.Their skills,
knowledge and excellentwork ethic help usmeet our
objectives of delivering a first class service to our
clients.

We had 3,000 employeesworking in our operations in
India at the endof 2008 and expect to have 4,500 by
the endof 2009.

Blended servicedelivery
Our infrastructure allows us to offer clients an
onshore/offshore deliverymodel structured tomeet
their individual needs. By combining onshore and
offshore resourceswe can delivermaximum service
flexibility, quality and cost effectiveness, and our
comprehensive security and quality assurance
systems ensure consistent service quality across
the entire infrastructure.
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3.3Motivatedworkforce
Capita is a people business.Wedependon the
dedication and enthusiasmof our 36,000 employees
to consistently deliver high quality services to our
clients.

To attract and retain the best people, we aim to
provide aworkplace that is supportive, rewarding,
diverse, safe and inspiring.The range of career
opportunitieswithinCapita continues to grow as the
Group expands.We encourage and support personal
and career developmentwith a range of structured
training options.

We ensure ourmanagers have the right training and
knowledge to embedGroup policies at local level and
we empower them tomake decisions and respond
quickly to clients’ needs and business issues. In order
to promote knowledge sharing across theGroup,we
actively reassignmanagers to new business areas
when appropriate andwhen itwill not impact on
service delivery to our clients. In turn ourmanagers
benefit as they develop their skills and knowledge
and remainmotivated.

Although few activities atCapita present a high safety
risk, we implement robust health and safety
procedures company-wide and provide specific training
for any employees facing safety risks.

Attracting the right people
It is essential to attract the right people.As theGroup
has expanded,we have been able to offer broader
opportunities to our employees, making us increasingly
attractive to people looking for a challenging and
varied career.

Because around 70%of our people transfer to us
fromother organisations, we have a constant flowof
talented and experienced people.Wework hard to
ensure that all employees understand and adopt our
companyworkplace culture and values.

Our relatively flatmanagement structure allows fast
decisionmaking, teamworking and support across the
Group and enables open access and communication
for all our people.We are continuing to invest in senior
management to support the growthwe anticipate
going forward and in 2008,we recruited 62 senior
managers takingour seniormanagement teamto 433.

We have created an environmentwhich rewards
performance. Remuneration packages across the
Group are set at levels that keep us competitive in
each part of the business. For our senior people,
responsible for the overall direction and performance
of theGroupor its component parts, a significant
element of their financial reward is linked to the
financial success of the business.

Businessreview

Onshore:UK
Core clientmarketplace
54 business centres
Back office administration
Customer services
Life & pensions
IT& software
Resourcing& training
Share registration
Property consultancy
Electronic document processing
Claims& policy administration
HR administration

Nearshore: Ireland, Channel Islands,Gibraltar
Additional tax jurisdictions to support clients’ products
4 business centres
Customer services
Life & pensions administration
Financial services
Corporate registrars

Offshore: India
Quality, cost effective offshore service delivery
4 business centres
Data validation& entry
Claims& policy administration
Fundmanagement administration
Accounting& finance processing

Business centre network



38 TheCapitaGroupPlc38 TheCapitaGroupPlc

Fromregeneration...

Case study:
Capita inSheffield

Didyouknow...

3,000
total staff employed inSheffield

£1.1bn
total investmentonVelocityvillage

20
different regeneration projects

600
newtrees planted

Usingour skills tomake adifference in
the communities inwhichwework.

Capita’s presence in Sheffield dates back to
1994.We now employ over 3,000 staff, making
us one of theCity’s largest employers.Over the
past 14 yearswe’ve used our skills tomake a
difference in the local communities inwhichwe
work.We’ve supported local charities, schools,
colleges and community initiatives, created
newquality job opportunities and helped
regenerate various areas of theCity.

Regeneration
“Sheffield has run a huge programmeof
regenerationover the last 10-15years and
CapitaSymonds, our property consultancy,
has been right at the heart of it,” saysTan
Khan, the firm’s Regional Director. “We’re
currentlymanagingover 20 regeneration
projects across theCity includingmixed use
developments and projects to transform
previouslyderelict landscapes.”

Job creation
As a growing organisationwe continue to
create opportunities for professionals in the
region. Capita Hartshead, part of our Life &
Pensions business based in Sheffield, currently
employs over 400 people – and that’s expected
to rise to 700 by 2010. It runs a graduate
recruitment scheme and has taken on 44
graduates over the past 5 years, ofwhom 75%
have come fromSheffield’s 2 universities.

KellyHuckle:CapitaSymonds
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to responsibility

Supporting localCR initiatives
Capita businesses in Sheffield support a
range of local charitable, community and
environmental projects. People fromCapita
Insurance Services volunteer forweekly one to
one reading sessions as part of Business in the
Community’s ‘Right to Read’ campaign, aimed
at improving literacy in children fromdeprived
backgrounds.Workingwith the SouthYorkshire
Forest Partnership, we planted 600 new trees
in 2008 in a bid to offset local carbon emissions
whilst bringing immediate and long term
benefits for local people andwildlife.

TheArcherProject
Capita has also developed a growing
partnershipwith theArcher Project, a charity
supporting the local homeless community.

“The relationship began inDecember 2006,
when employees fromourCoalHealth
Claims contract collected toiletries for the
project,” says Phil Roberts (below), Shared
ServicesManager atCapita InsuranceServices.
“In 2007,we signed up to helpwith a rangeof
activities that drewon the expertiseof our
people. For instance,we coached staff in
general business skills, set up adatabase to
streamline their admin, organised the
volunteer support process and served
breakfast and lunch.”

Tim Renshaw,OperationalManager at
TheArcher Project, adds: “Workingwith
Capita has been a fantastic experience.
They came in and spent timewithour
employees, analysedwhatweweredoing
and cameupwith a plan formoving the
project forward.Their contribution is
somethingmoney can’t buy – they really
have helped tomake adifference to
people’s lives.”

Phil Roberts

TheArcher Project laundrette
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Diversity, inclusion andhuman rights
We believe our success is a direct result of our
commitment tomaximising the potential of each
employee. Diversity and equal opportunities are
valueswe take seriously and seek to apply universally
across theGroup.

Our HR policies cover all forms of discrimination
and are designed to complywith or exceed the
employment procedures in the countries inwhich
weoperate.TheymeetUK, European and Indian
employment law aswell as international human
rights legislation, including International Labour
Organisation standards.

Where possible, we employ local people and ensure
that ourworkforce reflects the composition of the
local community.

During 2008,we continued to progress our Diversity
Action Plan, introduced in 2007.As part of this, our
‘diversity champions’ held diversity forums to share
and promote best practice amongour employees and
discuss any concerns they have.We also engagedwith
trade unions andworkedwith a number of external
partners such as the Employers’ ForumonDisability.

Developing and supporting
our employees
We invest in our staff, training them in the skills
they need to deliver quality services for our clients.
Wedefine the skills and behaviourwe need fromour
people to help us to continue to succeed and tomeet
these requirements.We have an internal training
programme, deliveredmostly by our own training
business.

We ensure our employees have the right skills to
deliver quality service through 3main types of training:

– specific job-related skills

– personal development

– professional qualifications.

We provide training through themost appropriate
channel andwhere possiblewe have continued to
adapt our training so that it can be delivered online.
Both the e-induction programme for new starters
and themanagers’ guide programme can now be
accessed via our intranet.

We recognise thatwe have to create the conditions for
a diverseworkforce.This requires a degree of flexibility
overworking arrangements.We encourage flexible
working arrangements and allow job sharing, term
timeworking, flexitime andworking from homewhere
possible.We believe this approach benefits not just
individuals but theGroup as awhole.

Weoffer employee share ownership enabling
our people to benefit from the company’s success.
In 2008, 23%of theGroup’s eligible employees had
share options or ownedCapita shares.

Succession planning is a key element of ourMOB
process. It ensures thatwe have the appropriate
resources in place tomaintain stable leadership and to
guarantee service continuity for clients. It is continually
reviewed by the Board.

Managing and inspiring people
We understand the importance of valuing our
employees so that they, in turn aremotivated
and inspired to give their best.We achieve this in
3ways:

– embeddedHR andmanagement procedures

– recognising success

– culture and engagement.

In 2008we continued the development of ‘Capita
desktop’, an integrated online HR administration
system formanagers and employees.We introduced
e-payslips, significantly reducing the need for paper
payslips and piloted annual leave request systems.
This has led to greater compliancewith our HR
practices and employment legislation across
theGroup.
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We recognise and reward success financially, and
throughour employee awards programmes.Awards
reflect the attributes that are core toCapita’s ethos:
effective teamwork, innovation, service excellence
and community engagement, and offer an opportunity
to recognise exceptional individual and team
performance.

We engagewith our employees, promoting two-way
communication and asking them to give their views.
We aim to provide a secure, trusting ‘no blame’ culture,
where ideas are shared regardless of position, so that
everyone can participate in adding value across our
business.An open door policy throughout theGroup
is supplemented bymore formal communication
channels.Our people also have the opportunity to
communicate their views in an annual employee
survey.

Our ability tomanage employee integration through
supportive transfer procedures is one of our greatest
strengths.We apply the same principles of support and
integration to all our newly transferred employees and
new recruits, providing themwith the information they
need anddealingwith any specific queries orworries
theymay have.To help them integrate successfully
intoCapitawe consultwith them throughout the
process and provide support, explaining the benefits of
the transfer and of sharingCapita’s future success.

3.4Creating successful supplier
relationships
Weunderstand the importance of buildingmutually
beneficial relationshipswith our suppliers. By securing
best value goods and services through good
procurement practice, we can directly improve our
business performance.

Wemanage 3 types of supplier relationships: our
Group Procurement teammanages ourGroup-wide
contracts, procurement specialists in our businesses
manage purchasing at a local level andwe now also
directlymanage someof our clients’ supplier
relationships.

Our procurement policies and guidelines, supported by
our procurementmanual, state howwemanage our
procurement and supply chain, tomeet both financial
andCR targets.Wherewe undertake procurement on
behalf of clients, it is still important to follow the
principles of these policies.

Weview supplier diversity as an opportunity that
makes sound business sense.We recognise that our
suppliers play a key role and are an important source of
new ideas, innovation and support, irrespective of size,
backgroundor composition.

Supplierswho register on our ‘Capita supplier
programme’ are questioned on their culture and
values, environmental credentials, health and safety
record and commitment to corporate responsibility.
We have recently reviewed this programme andwill
be launching a new enhanced supplier registration
systemduring 2009.

We have awealth of experience inworkingwith
subcontractors and partners, using their specialist
skills to deliver appropriate, responsible and cost
effective services.Under our subcontracting policywe
apply stringent criteriawhen selecting subcontractors
andonce selected, theyworkwithin a fully integrated
delivery and reporting framework.This gives our clients
full visibility and control of performance regardless of
our subcontracting arrangements.

Businessreview

Employee numbers

36,300
04
05
06
07
08

19,000
23,000

25,000
27,800

29,300
09 36,300

Employees by location

1. Onshore 88%
2. Nearshore 3.1%
3. Offshore 8.9%

1

2
3

All figures at endof February



3.5 Environmentalmanagement
and community engagement

Environmentalmanagement
As almost all of our employees are office based, our
environmental impacts are limited to those associated
with normalmodern office facilities. Howeverwe
understand that good environmentalmanagement is
integral to our business and are committed to
minimising the impact of our operations.

Climate change
Ourmost significant environmental impact is energy
consumption andwe remain committed to reducing
our CO2 emissionswhere practical. In 2006we
launchedourGroup Energy Reduction programme, to
reduce the amount of electricity used at 18 of our
largestUK sites by 12%by the endof 2008.We have
exceeded this target, reducing energy use by 18.3%,
an emissions reduction of 3,300 tonnes ofCO2.

In 2008our carbon footprint across theGroupwas
64,611 tonnes of CO2, an increase of 10.4%over the
year comparedwith an 18%growth inGroup turnover
and a 23% increase in staff numbers.The reduction of
emissions achieved by theGroup Energy Reduction
programme and increased education regarding energy
efficiency across theGroup ensured that our carbon
footprint grew at a slower rate than our business.

We continue towork closelywith theCarbonTrust to
educate our facilitiesmanagers and employees about
how they can reduce their own carbon footprints as
well as ours.

OurUKoperationswill be subject to the requirements
of theCarbon ReductionCommitment (CRC)
Regulations coming into force inApril 2010.Our
preparation is progressingwell and has been facilitated
by thework already carried out as part of theGroup
Energy Reduction programme.

Transport
Our other significant environmental impact is business
travel. Emissions from travel have grown in recent
years as theGroup expands, and the expansion of our
operations in India, Scotland and Ireland hasmeant a
particular increase in our air travel emissions.

We try to reduce business travel across theGroup
through a number of initiatives.Video and
teleconferencing is now commonplace in our offices:
78,000 conference calls weremadeover the past year,
more than double the previous year. Aswell as
reducing our impact on the environment it offers
significant financial savings.

Almost all of our company cars (98.4%) run ondiesel.
We promote the benefits of alternatives to car travel,
such as the use of public transport, and have
introduced shuttle buses to and fromour larger offices.
We have also evaluated theGovernment’s ‘cycle to
work’ scheme andwe aim to implement it across the
Group’sUKoffices in 2009.

Wastemanagement and recycling
As part of being a sustainable businesswe look at the
resourceswe use and howwe recycle themor dispose
of them.We are committed to a range of initiatives
across all areas of our business, primarily focused on
reducing andmanaging ourwaste tomaximise
recycling andminimise landfill.Wherewastemust be
disposed of, we ensure that it is handled responsibly
and in linewith all legislation.

A number ofGroup-wide schemes enable employees
to recycle paper, toner cartridges, mobile phones, and
redundant IT and electrical equipment.We also aim to
use our influencewith clients to help them reduce their
environmental impact. In 2008wedoubled our
virtualised server capacity, offering clients cheaper
data storagewith lower carbon intensity.

As a significant purchaser, we encourage our suppliers
to provide uswith better-value environmentally
responsible products.We have further developedour
relationshipwithOffice Depot, and 18%of our total
spend is nowon environmentally preferable products.
We are alsoworkingwithOffice Depot on an initiative
to replace corrugated packagingwith reusable plastic
tote boxes across all deliveries to theGroup.

42 TheCapitaGroupPlc

Aclear business strategy 1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
4. Targeting growthmarkets
5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions



TheCapitaGroupPlc 43

Local community impact
Our business places us at the heart of the communities
we serve.We have a positive impact on these
communities through the improvement in serviceswe
deliver for clients, the new jobswe create andour
community investment programme.We are
committed toworkingwith our local communities,
managing any negative impacts of our business
operations andmaximising the benefits.

The serviceswe provide for our clients have a direct
impact on local communities.Weworkwith our clients
to ensure the serviceswedeliver on their behalf are
efficient, flexible and inclusive. By reducing local
authorities’ administration costswe allowmore
funding to be directed to essential frontline services.

Community investment
In addition to the benefits our business and services
bring, we also donate both time andmoney to local
community initiatives.Our community investment
programme aims to tackle social exclusion of all kinds.
It is applied at 2 levels; through a central programme at
Group level and through the individual businesses at a
local level.

The programme has now been extended to include our
operations in India. Employees there have chosen to
focus on projects that improve the education and
health of the communities local to our Indian
operations.

We encourage our employees to engagewith their
local communities. Following the success of the pilot
volunteering projects thatwe ranwith Business in
theCommunity (BITC) in 2008,we are now rolling out
our employee volunteering scheme across thewhole
Group.With BITC’s helpwe select projects and causes
where our help canmake themost difference.Our
businesses are also free to support appropriate local
initiativeswherewe are approacheddirectly by the
local community.

Charitable support
In January 2008,we beganour 2 year partnershipwith
MacmillanCancer Support.The charitywas chosen by
a ballot of our employees from a shortlist of charities
they nominated.To datewe have raised £360,000
for the charity towards our target of raising £1mover
2 years.

Employee fundraising events throughout the year
includedCapitaChallenge andCharityWeek. Capita
Challenge, which has been running since 2004, is an
adventure race daywhere teams fromour various sites
compete inmental and physical challengeswhilst
raisingmoney. In 2008, 82 teams took part, including
some fromour clients and suppliers, and the event
raised £67,000 forMacmillan. CharityWeek, which
involves fundraising activities at various business sites,
has also been running since 2004.CharityWeek 2008
was ourmost successful yet, raising a further £67,000.
We also generated an additional £103,000 for
Macmillan by sponsoring the charity’s winter ball.

Over 1,600 employees choose to give to charity
throughour payroll-giving scheme, donating just under
£120,000during 2008.We received the Silver payroll
giving qualitymark, recognising that over 5%of our
employees donate to charity through this scheme.
We have also introduced an additional fund to help
support someof our clients’ charities, working in
partnershipwith themon their charitable programmes.

Full details of ourCR priorities, initiatives and
progress are set out onour corporatewebsite at
www.capita.co.uk/corporate-responsibility,
where you can create your ownonline report
covering the topics you specify.

Businessreview



Continue tomeasure and assess our carbon footprint (tonnesCO2), to be 64,611 58,523
measured annually. CO2 emissions rose 10.4% against increases inGroup turnover
of 18%, and staff numbers of 23%

Raise awareness of environmental issues andGroup initiatives across the business Established Ongoing
environmental

sectionon employee
intranet

Undertake environmental site audits twice a year Audits completed Audits completed

Achieve 12% reduction in electricity used at our 18 largest sites by 2008 -18.3% -8%

Continue switching fleet vehicles to diesel engines 98.4% 95%

Achieve further ISO 14001 accreditations at our higher impact sites 47 37

Further promote BT conference call facility 78,000 34,463
conference calls conference calls
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Environment

CR priorities

Aim Year end 2008 Year end 2007

Communities Corporate donations £0.6m £0.5m

Raisemeaningful sums for our corporate charities: In 2008we set a target Raised £360k –1
of £1mover 2 years for our new charity partner, MacmillanCancer Support

Maximise the fundraising potential of ourGroup-wideCharityWeek Raised £67k Raised £48k

Health and safety Ensurewe provide safe and productiveworking environments for all our 1.57 2.05
employees (accident frequency rate per 1,000 employees (RIDDOR))

Undertake health and safety site audits twice a year Audits completed Audits completed

Senior
management
retention

Attract and retain the appropriate level of seniormanagement to drive the 88% 89%
strategic direction of theGroup (salaries exceeding £90k p.a.)

Overall employee
retention

Attract and retain the right people to deliverGroup strategy,maintaining 82% 82%
employee retention at or above industry average (2008: 82.7%, 2007: 81.9%)2

Employees
by location

Have at least 10%of ourworkforce based in India by end 2009 8.9% 4.5%

Diversity
of people

Reflect the communities inwhichwework:

Male/female split 52%male 51%male
48%female 49%female

Male/female split formanagement (salaries £50k – 89k p.a.) 74%male 81%male
26%female 19% female

Male/female split formanagement (salaries exceeding £90k p.a.) 88%male 88%male
12%female 12% female

Ethnic diversity (employees from ethnicminority groups) 15.5%3 8%

Part-timeworking Provide flexibleworking hourswhile ensuringmaximumflexibility in 15.5% 17%
Group resources. Percentage of part-time employees of total workforce

1Exceeded our target of raising £1.5mover the previous 3 years for our 2005-2007 corporate charities NSPCC andThe Prince’s Trust.
2CIPD 2007 and 2008.
3Information now held centrally on SAP system: only 60%of employees chose to provide this information.

Creating
successful
supplier
relationships

Annually audit all tier 1 suppliers againstCapita’s standards of business 100% 50%

Consistently increase the number of supplier audits across all ourGroup suppliers. 40% 41%
40%audited against a 23% increase in suppliers audited audited
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Case study:
eircom

Customer service
that serves

The transformation at eircom’s contact centre
in Dublin has been spectacular. Annualised staff
attrition has fallen fromover 250%to under
30%, average call waiting time has been cut
fromover 6minutes to just 20 seconds, and
customer satisfaction levels have risen from
just over 30% in 2005 to 79% in 2008.

The change began in 2005,whenCapita joined
what is now amulti-contract partnership
between eircom andCapita to provide a
managed service for eircom’s telesales, business
and consumer customer service and directory
enquiries operations. BeforeCapita’s
involvement, eircomwas using an extremely
costly agency based employmentmodel,
resulting in high staff turnover and very poor
service levels.

“We adopted a performance based culture
andoffered employees permanent contracts
with competitive pay and benefits,” says
David Kelly (above), CapitaClient Services
Director. “The resultwas an immediate and
dramatic drop in staff attrition and a gradual
improvement in customer satisfaction.”

GerryCulligan, Director ofConsumerMarkets
at eircom, is delighted. “We’re very pleased
to have established such a successful
partnershipwithCapita.They’ve provided a
first class outsourced service and constantly
review their operations to ensure that this
continues to be the case.”

2007: 6minutes

Average callwaiting timehas been
reduced fromover 6minutes to
just 20 seconds

2008: 20 seconds

David Kelly
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A leadingposition in thegrowingBPOmarket
We lead theUKmarket in business processoutsourcing (BPO) –
the long termcontractingoutof business processes to help
lower costs and improve servicedelivery.

Wefocuson theUKand Ireland,where there are significant
opportunities for growth.
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2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
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5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions

4.Targeting
growthmarkets

TotalUKBPOmarket p.a*

Private£3.9bn69%Public £1.7bn31%

Private£62.8bn66.7%Public £31.4bn33.3%

Today

£5.6bn

£94.2bn
Potential

Private

52%
(2007: 48%)

Public

48%
(2007: 52%)

Capitamarket split by revenue

1

2

3

5

6

7

8 9

4

%of turnover 2008 2007

1. Life and pensions 16 11
2. Insurance 8 10
3. Financial services 5 4
4.Other corporates 23 23
5. Local government 20 20
6.Central government 10 12
7. Education 11 13
8.Transport 5 6
9. Health 2 1

*Ovum2008
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A growingmarket
Independent analysts have estimated that the total
2008market for BPO in theUKwas £5.6bn, against
market potential of £94.2bn a year*.The benefits of
outsourcing are now firmly acknowledged, and the
market is forecast to grow at 9% ayear until 2012.*

We are ranked as the BPOmarket leader in theUK
with 25.5%market share.*

Strong competitivedifferentiation
Our scale, flexible infrastructure and expertise allow
us to offer compelling service solutions across each of
our chosenmarkets.Our clients benefit from reduced
costs, improved business processes and better services
to offer their own customers.Our reputation for
innovative business transformation and consistent
service delivery enables us to compete strongly in our
marketplace.The long term contractswe secure, and
our high contract renewal rate, evidence our clients’
satisfaction and in turn help us secure further business.

In our chosenmarketswe tend to bid against differing
groups of fairly stable competitors. Increasingly, clients
are seeking outsourcing partnerswith the scale,
expertise and financial stability to deliver a complex
range of services under long term contracts. Capita has
the breadth of service offering, expertise and resource
tomeet these needs. Manyof our competitors are
focused on a single service offering and somay have to
bid in consortium formore complex contracts.

Our focus on theUK and Ireland has allowed us to
develop a detailed understanding of our chosen
markets and the key drivers for outsourcing in each
sector.Thismarket knowledge, alongside our scale
andour core skills in changemanagement, ICT and
business process transformation, gives us competitive
advantage.

9diverse and growingmarkets
Aswell as being theUK’s leading provider of BPO,
business transformation and professional support
services, we are number one inmost of our sector
markets.We currently operate in 9 distinctmarkets
where the drivers for outsourcing are strong:

– private sector: life and pensions, insurance, financial
services andother corporates

– public sector: local government, central government,
education, transport and health.

All ourmarkets havemaintained a good flowof
outsourcing opportunities across both public and
private sectors. In 2008our private/public split was
52%/48% (2007: 48%/52%).

Continued growth
With strong demand for outsourcing continuing across
ourmarkets, wewill remain focused on selecting
opportunitieswherewe believewe can clearlymeet
clients’ expectations, maintain controlled growth and
achieve a reasonable return for theGroup.

In 2008, our strongestmarkets remained life
and pensions and local government. Bothmarkets
continue to offer a steady flowof opportunities.
Central government, amarketwhich has been less
active in recent times, is beginning to offer some
interesting opportunities, including 2 of ourmajor
contractwins in 2008: theGas Safe RegisterTM scheme
for theHealth andSafety Executive andNHSChoices,
theNHS’ online presence. Looking ahead,we believe
greater demands on public spendingwill bring a
greater requirement to deliver high quality public
services at reduced cost – andwe arewell placed to
help achieve this.

While constantly expanding our offering in our
chosen 9markets, we also proactively identify and
target newmarket segmentswherewe feel we can
add value.We are interested in developing further
opportunities in the healthmarket following our
recent success inwinning the contract to deliver
NHSChoices.This contract gives uswide insight
into health issues and policy, and engagement at a
central government and health trust level. Defence
is an area of governmentwherewe have previously
been fairly inactive but now see opportunities to
provide back office administration services.

In the current economic climate, an increasing number
of private sector organisations are expected to review
their businessmodelsmore rigorously and identify
areaswhere outsourcing could reduce financial risk,
lower costs andoffer protection against economic
volatility.With our scale, expertise and financial
stability, we believewe arewell placed to help these
potential clients createmore flexible, lower cost
operatingmodelswhile improving service quality.

Competitor rankingsUKBPOmarket*
%market share

2008 2007

Capita 25.5 22

Accenture 6.8 6.0

Xchanging 6.4 5.1

EDS 5.5 6.0

Vertex 4.4 7.0

Businessreview

*Ovum2008
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1. Life andpensions
Capita is the leader in thismarket.Our scale, focus
on customer service and investment in specialist
technologymake us a compelling choice as an
outsourcing partner.

We raise service levels, reduce costs and help bring
products tomarket faster andmore cheaply for our
clients.This is an attractive proposition for product
manufacturers, distributors and specialist providers.
The life and pensions outsourcingmarket continues to
develop andoffer strong new contract opportunities;
we are also beginning to see early contracts delivered
by other providers being re-tendered.Our scale
economies and deep experience have enabled us
towin themajority of these opportunities.

Driversforoutsourcinginclude:

– Structural changes in themarket due to the
worldwide credit crunch, notably in the
bancassurance sector: many firms are reassessing
their current operatingmodels

–Need to increase effectiveness of operations and
cut operating costs

– Response to increasing regulation, notably the
FSA’sTreatingCustomers Fairly

– Pressure to improve customer service and find
innovativeways of retaining customers

– Reducing clients’ exposure to the risks associated
with administering closed books of business

– Importance of bringing new products to
market faster

–Need for a platform that allowsmore effective
distribution to Independent FinancialAdvisers.

2. Insurance
Capitaworkswith its clients as a strategic partner,
helping them rise to the insurance industry’s
challengingoperating and economic environment.

Weestablish strategic partnershipswith clients to
introduce low-risk service improvement, business
transformation and revenue enhancement, and
establish effective processes to satisfy complex
regulation.We also helpmarket entrants to build
their infrastructure andoperational delivery.

Conditions for the insurance industry remain tough.
Although the full impact of turmoil in the financial
markets is still unclear, it is likely to exacerbate
pressures and drive further industry change.

Given its cost and flexibility benefits, outsourcing
maywell begin to play a larger role in thismarket.

Driversforoutsourcinginclude:

– Structural change as organisations strive to
competemore effectively andmanage the impact
of the financial market turmoil: increasingly, they
look to outsourcing to deliver ‘end-to-end’ and
specialised insurance solutions – aswell as to
manage non-core services andoperations

– Pressure to cut operating costs, improve efficiency
and enhance customer service

– Increased regulatory requirements

– Dramatic shifts in consumer expectations, pricing
and service delivery due to the rapid growthof
internet sales and industry consolidation

– Importance of bringing new products to
market faster

–Need to improvemanagement of claims costs, in
particular through fraud and leakage prevention

– Customer demand formore transparency,
information, flexibility and value.

1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
4. Targeting growthmarkets
5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions

Private sector
Capita iswell established in the private sector,which accounts for 52%ofour
turnover.Our 3main private sectormarkets are life and pensions, insurance,
and financial services.We also support a growing numberofother corporate
organisations, particularlymedia, retail and telecommunications companies.

*Ovum2008

9% annual growth to 2012
estimated by industry analysts*

7%annual growthacross this sector to2012
estimated by industry analysts*
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3. Financial services
Capita is a strong, stable service partner for clients
facing fierce competition and growing regulation.

Currentmarket conditions have forcedmany
potential clients to lookmore closely at counterparty
risk. Inmost of our financial markets, we are unique in
being the only scale provider that is not also a financial
institution, bank or insurer.Growing pressure on
financial institutions as they compete in an unstable
market has led to increased interest in our service
offerings.

Organisations are reassessing their operating
models to stay competitivewhile focusing on quality
customer service and bringing new products to
market faster andmore efficiently.Our uniquely
broad range of services enables us to offer them a
single viewof their customers across their whole
product range.

Driversforoutsourcinginclude:

–Unsustainable cost bases

– Stricter regulatory environment: increasingly, real
scale is required to offset the costs of compliance

– Constant legislative change acting as a catalyst
for new products

–Need for leading edge systems to copewith volatile
markets: where fair value pricing has to be applied,
for example, scale is required to fund the necessary
investment in systems

–Need to balance efficiencywith quality
customer service.

4.Other corporates
Capita helps increaseour clients’ competitiveness
by enhancing their customer services and reducing
costs through higher productivity and streamlined
processes.This adds real value to their business
models.

In the current economic climate companiesmust
focusmore than ever on reducing operating costs
without compromising customer service.There is
increasing recognition that outsourcing both back
office and frontline services can play a key role in
achieving this.

Driversforoutsourcinginclude:

–Need to reduce processing and administration costs
while improving customer service and retention

– Increasing pressure to reduce headcountwhile
maintaining productivity and improving service
levels

– Pressure on investment and research budgets,
despite undiminished requirement for development
tomaintain competitiveness

– Importance of bringing new products tomarket
faster

–Need for better access to expert operational and
advisory capabilities

– Desire to improve productivity through better
management of sickness and absenteeism

– Increased regulatory and legislative requirements.

Businessreview

*Ovum2008

12% annual growth to 2012
estimated by industry analysts*

8% annual growth to 2012
estimated by industry analysts*
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Public sector
Capitawas formed in the public sector: our first clientswere local authorities.
Today, the public sector accounts for 48%ofour turnover.Weprovideoutsourcing
and support services to both local and central government – andhave built
particular expertise in education, transport and health.

5. Local government
Capita forges strong partnershipswith clients in
local government,where transformationof public
services for the benefit of citizens and communities
remains a top priority.

Workingwith local government over the past 25
yearswe have built up expertise across the spectrum
of services typically delivered by local authorities.
As authorities seek alternativeways of providing
services, we areworkingwith them to set new
standards in delivering services to their citizens.

Driversforoutsourcinginclude:

– Increased pressure to deliver efficiencies and value
formoney in the economic downturn

– The challenging goals of the 2007Comprehensive
Spending Review, including 3% annual efficiency
targets and establishing shared services

– Requirement to respond to socio-economic and
demographic issues such as ageing communities
in areaswith lower revenue collection

– LocalGovernmentWhite Paper requirements to
transform services and providemore flexibility
and choice to local communities

– Gershon Efficiency Review

– Lyons Review

– LocalGovernment Financial Settlement – the
toughest formore than a decade – increasing
pressure on local authorities to find newways
of delivering services

– Increased pressure to report progress against
targetsmore transparently.

6.Central government
CapitaworkswithGovernmentdepartments to
help them improve thequality, efficiency, capacity
and co-ordinationof frontline public services and
essential support services.

TheGovernment’s 2007Comprehensive Spending
Review is in its first year and an election has to be
called beforeMay 2010.While the flowof new service
initiatives and projects is expected to decrease, a good
number of large, legislatively backed projectswill still
have be competed by then.There is also a steady flow
of second generation outsourcing contracts thatmust
be put out to re-tender under EU competition law.

Driversforoutsourcinginclude:

– The challenging goals of the 2007Comprehensive
Spending Review, including 3% annual efficiency
targets and establishing shared services

– Increased pressure onWhitehall to deliver
efficiencies and value formoney and as a result of
theGovernment’s 2008 Pre-Budget Report

– HMTreasury’sOperational Efficiency Programme,
reporting in Spring 2009 and expected to put
additional direction andmomentumbehind the
Government’s efficiency agenda

– Possible need to prioritise new, short term
investment in infrastructure projects to help
alleviate growing unemployment

– Continuing requirement to build andmodernise
public infrastructure – e.g. transport, Building
Schools for the Future

– Key service priorities: children’s services, regulatory
compliance, public safety, economic regeneration
and transport

– Need for government and public services to
enhanceUK’s global competitiveness.

1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
4. Targeting growthmarkets
5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions

*Ovum2008

8% annual growth to 2012
estimated by industry analysts*

3% annual growth to 2012
estimated by industry analysts*
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7. Education
Capita combines first class professional support
services and innovative productswith education
expertise to help clients deliver against challenging
agendas.We alsooffer strategicmanagement
capacity to support local authorities and the
Department forChildren, Schools and Families
(DCSF).

TheGovernment has committed further funds to
raise achievement andoffer personalised learning
through a variety of initiatives aimed at delivering
better outcomes for learners. Education is evolving
rapidly, driven by initiatives such as theNational
Challenge programme, the continued development
of Specialist Schools andAcademies, Building Schools
for the Future, the transformation of EarlyYears
guidance and support, and a drive to increase
participation in post-16 education throughwholesale
change to 14-19 learning for all. Education spending
is rising by an average of 2.8% ayear in real terms
and by 2011will have risen to 5.6%ofGDP.

Driversforoutsourcinginclude:

– Legislative changes causing local authorities to
redefine their roles and pushing schools and
colleges to take on new responsibilities and find
differentways ofworking

– Increased pressure tomeet efficiency targets and
achieve value formoney to underpin education
excellence

– Need to develop anddeliver thewiderChildren’s
ServicesAgenda

– Leitch Reviewof Skills and need to reconfigure
further education and training

– Building Schools for the Future programme

– Need to reduce bureaucracy, enhance assessment,
improve financial management and improve
outcomes for all learners.

8.Transport
Through its property consultancy business,
CapitaSymonds,Capita is oneof theUK’s leading
transport and infrastructure consultancies
providing services to clients across both public
and private sectors.

Weoffer awide range of services such as highway
and tunnel infrastructure design and refurbishment,
road user pricing, intelligent transport systems,
rail engineering and projectmanagement, and
transport planning.
TheGovernment plans to inject an extra £1bn in
major transport projects in 2009.This investment,
intended to help stimulate the economy,will be
spent on road and rail schemes. It supplements the
overall £10bn for 2009 to 2014 pledged in 2007 to
increase rail capacity.Othermajor long term rail
projects include London’sCrossrail, the £5.5bn
Thameslink programme and an additional £600m
to tackle congestion.
Driversforoutsourcinginclude:

– Increasing pressure on local government budgets
and focus on delivering projects efficiently

– Government bringing forward large infrastructure
projects to create and support employment,
counter the economic downturn and foster
economic and social regeneration

– Continued focus on reducing urban congestion
– Requirement to reduce transport’s long term
impact on climate change and improve the
industry’s environmental performance

– Increased focus on national infrastructure by
agencies delivering national security and resilience
strategies

– Institutions looking for help in defining
strategies tomanage better their distressed
property debt books.

Businessreview
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3% annual growth to 2012
estimated by industry analysts*

5% annual growth to 2012
estimated by industry analysts*
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9.Health
Capita is helping todeliver the transformationof
the health sector demanded byGovernment and
public alike.

Achieving this change requiresmore engagement
with the private sector to secure the knowledge,
culture and investment needed for success.The value
of our experience and capacity in key non-clinical
services is increasingly recognised by health service
providers.

NHS funding has increased significantly in recent
years, but this looks set to plateau. Significant
financial pressure is now expected fromGovernment
over the next 3 years. Structural changes in theway
theNHS is funded, following the introduction of
FoundationTrusts and Payment by Results, are
resulting in amuchmore commercial approach.

Driversforoutsourcinginclude:

– Need to transform both support and front office
services to enhance clinical delivery, drive efficiency
and improve the patient experience

– PatientChoice, requiring streamlined clinical
administration tomeet the 18-week target from
first appointment to treatment

– Need to rationalise andmodernise support services

– Need to realise the benefits of investment in new
technology

– Pressure to improvework environment and patient
care by rationalising existing property and
reinvesting in new property

– Funding pressures and 2007Spending Review

– Need to enhance governance andmember services
capability.

1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
4. Targeting growthmarkets
5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions

*Ovum2008

20% annual growth to 2012
estimated by industry analysts*
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Case study:
ServiceBirmingham

Robust ICTenables
public service
transformation

Service Birmingham is our joint venturewith
BirminghamCityCouncil, Europe’s largest local
authority, established inApril 2006 to provide
theCouncil’s information and communications
technology (ICT) services. Substantial
investment and innovation have created an
all-new platform that underpins theCouncil’s
ambitious business transformation programme.

To datewe’ve invested £48.4m in a
combination of staff training, network
upgrades, server replacements, hardware and
software – andwe continue to drive efficiency
through innovation.

We’ve created a centralised, state of the art
server environment that’s farmore reliable than
its predecessor and easier to back up, support
andmanage.We’ve introduced aworld-class
network provider, so the network is nowmore
secure, more stable and capable of further
expansionwhenever necessary.We’ve also
created aTechnical DesignUnit (TDU) to
develop new IT frameworks and provide
strategic vision for future projects.

“TheTDUdevelopsour technology roadmap
andensures that anynewapplications and
infrastructure are futureproofed in the
technologymarketplace,” explainsDanny
Reeves (left), ICT&OperationsDirector, Service
Birmingham. “Agoodexampleof this isour use
of IBMPseries server infrastructurewhich
employstechnologies that reduce space
requirement, reducepower consumptionand
support fullyvirtualisedenvironments.

“Someof the investmentswe’vemadeare
already realising savings for theCouncil,”he
continues. “The improved communications
infrastructurehas saved£350,000eachyear
andnetworkmanagement costs havefallenby
40%ayear.We’re also exceedingour targetof
99.9%network availability.”

In 2008Service Birminghamwas officially
recognised as aworld-class ICT company
whenwe attained ISO 20000 accreditation,
becoming 1 of only 3 local authorities to achieve
this accolade. In addition to this international
endorsement, ourCustomerCompetency
Centre has also been certified by SAP.

StephenHughes, Chief Executive of
BirminghamCityCouncil adds “This solid ICT
framework provides the essential foundation
for theCouncil’swider transformational
agenda.We aimto implement a step change
in thewaywedeliver services to the citizens
of Birmingham, and effective and stable ICT
is key to achievingour goals.”

Introductionof solid ICT framework
provides foundation forCouncil’swider
transformational agenda.

DannyReeves



Each of our 5 operating divisions consists of a number of
businesses andmajor contracts.
The common aim is to deliver service excellence and
generate profitable growth through:
5.1Aligning each businesswith theGroup’s overall strategy
andobjectives.
5.2 Investing in service and product development and
appropriate sales andmarketing activities.
5.3Maintaining a simple, pragmatic divisional structure to
share resources and economies of scale.
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A clear business strategy

5.Maintaining performance
acrossourdivisions

1.Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
4. Targeting growthmarkets
5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions

INSURANCE & INVESTOR SERVICES
– Shareholder Services
– FinancialAdministration Services
–Trust Services
–Treasury Services
– Insurance Services

LIFE & PENSIONS
– Life & Pensions Services
–Corporate Pensions
–Wealth&Distribution Services

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
– Software Services
–Children’s Services
– Local government

– LocalGovernment Services
– StrategicChildren’s Services
– Consulting&MissionAssurance
andTesting

–Communications
– Scanning&Storage

Our divisions
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5.1Alignment withGroup strategy
Wemaintain a simple, pragmatic divisional structure
that delivers ourGroup strategy.

The operating divisions and the businesseswithin them
are alignedwith theGroup’s overall objectives and
strategy.They all follow theGroup strategy of securing
strong, sustainable growth, both organically and by
acquiring complementary businesses.

Each business produces its own annual business plan
outlining specific strategies and considerations and
setting performance targets for the following year.
TheMOB review process ensures regularmonitoring
and reporting of performance against targets and is an
effective forum for planning ahead, solving issues and
sharing expertise and support. See page 27.

The divisional structure supports a robust, individual
focus for each businesswhile providing ready access to
theGroup’swider resources, expertise and economies
of scale.

5.2An individual business focus
With anobjective of achieving continuous growth,
each business undertakes appropriate strategies to
achieve ormaintainmarket leading positions. Research
anddevelopment initiatives underpin the constant
development of products and services tomeet the
current and future needs of clients. Businesses adopt
themost appropriatemarketing and sales activities to
address the characteristics of their individual
marketplaces. Each business alsomaintains strict
disciplines on cost control.

5.3Aflexible divisional operating
structure
Wehave created a pragmatic, flexible structurewhich
is regularly refreshed as theGroupdevelops.Wemove
businesses, contracts andmanagers across the
divisions to ensure the bestmatch of leadership and
resources as theGroup grows.The businesses benefit
from the powerful combination of individual focus and
the ability to reach out across theGroup to share
operational skills and resources, benefit from
economies of scale, create and deploy innovation, and
harness the best of ICT and business processes.

We are currently organised into 5 operating divisions,
plus aGroupSales &Marketing Division. Each
operating division brings together activitieswith
similar operatingmodels or client bases. Eachmajor
contract secured by theGroup sales team ismanaged
within the divisionwhich bestmeets its operational,
regulatory andmanagement requirements.To provide
greater transparencywe report financial progress for
8 business segments, splitting 3 of the 5 operating
divisions (Insurance& Investor Sevices, Integrated
Sevices and ICT, Property& Partnerships) each into
2 segments.

Group-wide support services, such as finance, legal
and commercial, propertymanagement, procurement,
health and safety and environment andHR, report
directly to Board Executive Directors to ensure robust
control, consistent standards and shared benefits
across theGroup.

Businessreview

INTEGRATED SERVICES
– IntegratedHRServices
– Specialist Services
– BBC contracts
–Criminal Records Bureau
–TfLCongestionCharging
–Gas Registration&Ancillary Services
–CentralGovernment Services
–Administration Services
– BusinessTravel &Conferences

ICT, PROPERTY & PARTNERSHIPS
– IT Services
–ComputerLand
–LocalGovernmentStrategicPartnerships
– Health Services
–Offshore: India
–Capita Symonds



2008 Growth and operational update:

Conditions for insurance companies are challenging in the current
economic climate, however these volatile conditions have resulted in
pressure on potential clients to address counterparty risk and drive
business transformation.This has led to an increased interest in our
service offerings.

Marsh:We successfully transferred administration services forMarsh
from their operations based inNorwich and Pune, India.The contract
is progressingwell.

Principle Holdings:Weare setting up an IT system and
administration infrastructure to provide outsourced services for
Principle’smotor and home insurance and fromwhich to launch and
sell Sharia compliant insurance (orTakaful) products direct to
consumers in theUK.

System migration and consolidation:Across our insurance
operationswe have consolidated and enhanced our IT
infrastructure, increasing efficiency and reducing costs.We have
migrated a significant number of roles from London toGloucester
andMumbai, and this processwill continue in 2009.This project
will yield significant cost savings bothwith regards to headcount
and premises.

Acquisitions:Wehave continued our focus on small, bolt on
acquisitions to expandour service offering and enter new sectors.
During the yearwe acquired or invested in 3 companies covering
areas including insurance administration, legal services and the
provision of supply teacher insurance for schools.Our largest
acquisition, Lancaster Insurance Services, has been successfully
integratedwithin our business and is performingwell.

2009 priorities

– Enhance our sales function tomeet the higher level of demand
from current and potential clients as they consider outsourcing to
introduce greater cost efficiencies and improved service levels in
the current economic climate

– Pursue sensibly priced and quality acquisition opportunities as
companies look to dispose of non-core assets

–Use our scale and reputation for compliant delivery to provide
clientswith an effectivewayof addressing the probable tighter
regulation thatwe expect to see across themarket

–Workwith clients to bring new products tomarket faster

– Increase use of our offshore facilities and expertise.
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2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
4. Targeting growthmarkets
5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions

2008 2007
£m £m

Turnover 246.2 241.5
Operating profit 31.1 29.1
Operatingmargin 12.6% 12.0%
Capex 7.6 2.9

2008 Growth and operational update:

Across the financial servicesmarket there ismuch commonality
of processes and therefore a greater ability to share infrastructure
and expert resource.The current economic conditions present
some challenges but also opportunities.

Shareholder Services: For the eighth year in a row,wedominated
theNew IssuesMarkets on the Stock Exchange and alsowon 14
new registration clients fromother registrars, a record year of
‘switch’ business for us.

Our Investment and UnitTrust Administration business is
potentially sensitive to economic conditions as fees are linked
to the value of funds under administration. During 2008 new
mandateswere secured and assets under administration
remained constant.

Acquisitions:During the yearwe acquired 3 companies to
complement and expandour fiduciary, treasury and registrars
businesses.These small acquisitions, which cover services such as
treasury advice to housing associations andNHSmembership
administration services, add depth and scale to our existing
businesses and are performingwell.

ICT:Wehave successfully begun a programmeofmajor systems
upgrades across our FundAdministration andShareholder Services
to improve operational efficiency, increase quality of service and
enhance our ability to transferwork acrossmultiple locations
including offshore.

2009 priorities

– Explore and be selective regarding the bid opportunities from
current and potential clients as they consider outsourcing to
introduce greater cost efficiencies, flexibility and improved
service levels in the current economic climate

–Use our scale and reputation for compliant delivery to address
the probable tighter regulation of themarketswe serve

– Continuemajor systems upgrades and implementations, especially
in FundAdministration andShareholder Services, to significantly
improve operational efficiency and increase quality of service

– Pursue sensibly priced and quality acquisition opportunities as
companies look to dispose of non-core assets

– Pursue opportunities following introduction, in 2009, of settlement
of collectives in Euroclear, building onour position as the only
Euroclear compliant registrarwhich also undertakes fund
administrationwork in theUK.

2008 2007
£m £m

Turnover 173.9 156.9
Operating profit 39.6 37.3
Operatingmargin 22.8% 23.8%
Capex 17.9 3.7

Insurance & InvestorServices
Comprises our shareholder, financial and trust administration, treasury services businesses, specialist services
andour insurance services businesses.
These businesses focus on providing efficient, quality advisory, administration and customer services.

Insurance Services Investor Services
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Life & Pensions
Comprises all our life & pensions operations
including open and closed book, occupational
pensions andwealth and distribution services.

2008 Growth and operational update:

We continue to focus onwinning new contracts and expanding
our existing client relationships.Themarket is highly active and
continues to offer strong new contract opportunities.

Life and Pensions Outsourcing:Weare the leading L&Poutsourcing
providerwith a resource of 10,000 people across our L&Poperations.

We ended 2008with the successful win of theAbbey Life contract
to administer approximately 1.1million life and pensions policieswith
service due to commence inMarch 2009. 2009 has startedwell
with selection as strategic partner byAXASun Life. Including the
proposedAXA contract,which is due to commence inMay 2009,
wewill be responsible for administering 26million policies in total.

Our corporate pensions business, Capita Hartshead, continues
to performwell, administering 550 schemeswith over 3.4million
members.

Prudential:Weachieved a smooth transition of services from
Prudential including the transfer of 3,000 staff located in the
UK andMumbai.

ICT:Wehave continued to develop our technology platforms across
thewhole division to reinforce our reputation for providing
leading edge service.

Offshore:Capita India continues to expand in size and capability
and has played a key role in helping towin new life and pensions
contracts.

Wealth & Distribution Services:Wehave implemented one of
theUK’s leading independent trading platforms,which has been
embraced by one of theUK’s largest intermediary support services
business. In addition a number of life and pension product providers
have chosen to launch their products on this new platform.

2009 priorities

– Continue to develop our shared delivery infrastructure to place
us further at the forefront of thismarketwith unique scale benefits
and excellent administration and customer service

–Workwith our existing clients on new business opportunities and
exploreways of expanding our portfolio further

– Focus on the transformation of people, processes and technology
to achieve greater efficiency and quality

– Achieve a smooth transition of services and people fromAXA

–Use our strengths in customer retention and compliant
management expertise to further develop our presence in
thismarket

– Expandour occupational pensions consultancy activities, aided
by the launch of our 1st AnnualConsultancy Services Survey

– Continue to develop our independent platform strategy by
expanding its product coverage and attracting newdistributor
and provider firms.

2008 2007
£m £m

Turnover 462.9 263.6
Operating profit 55.7 32.9
Operatingmargin 12.0% 12.5%
Capex 34.1 23.4

ProfessionalServices
Comprises our operations focused on supporting
local government and children’s services (including
education) through strategic advice and interim
support, outsourced administration services, ICT
and software solutions and support.

2008Growth andoperational update:

Wecontinuetodeliver robust and innovative solutions andproducts to
support effective administration and joinedup services across local
government and children’s services.

SoftwareServices –Children’sServices: In February2009,Capitawon
aprestigiousBETTAward2009 in the ICTEducationPartnership
category for itswork indeveloping theSIMSPartnershipXchange
product in collaborationwith3 school partnerships.SIMSPartnership
Xchange,developed in responsetothe EveryChildMatters –Changefor
Childrenprogramme, allows schools to share standard student
information across all schoolswhere a student studies.Suchawards
underlineour continuedpractical applicationof innovation.

SoftwareServices – LocalGovernment:Strengthenedour position
in the revenues andbenefitsmarket across theUKwithwins in England
andScotland.Supportedthedevelopmentof shared services across
several local authorities.WorkedwithDWPtodevelop software to
improve speedof benefit payments and reducepotential fraud.This
software canbe linkedwithVoiceRiskAnalysis (VRA) toprovide a first
checking stage. Launched ‘CapitaSupport’ – aweb-basedapplication
offering end-to-endhousing services.

NationalStrategies:ContinuedtobuildonourNationalStrategies
contractandfurther strengthenedour relationshipwiththeDCSF.
Plansare inplace inordertomeettheDepartment’sobjectivesfor2009
andmaintainhigh levelof customersatisfactionwithservices sofar.

StrategicChildren’sServices:Wecontinuedto satisfy ahighdemand
for interimmanagers for LEAs tohelp themwith achieving improvement
in schools.

LocalGovernmentServices:Progressedwell in 2008, successfully
supportedour 15year partnershipwithSouthamptonCCassuming
responsibilityof procurement serviceswith the aimof achieving
substantial savings for theCouncilover the lifeof the contract –
£15msavings havebeenachieved sofar.

CapitaConsulting:Rationalised cost base and refocusedoperations
achieving a greatly improvedperformance.Demand remainedhighfor
change andtransformational consultancy especially acrossour local
government clients.

MissionAssurance andTesting: Improvedprofitability by20%,
comparedto2007,despite tighteningmarket conditions.

2009 priorities

–Maintainmarket share in local government andeducation software
markets through continueddevelopmentof newand innovative
products to keeppacewith changing requirements

– Leverageour expertise and scale gained inour coremarkets to expand
intonewmarket segments

–Continueto exploreopportunities toprovidemanaged services in
local government as pressure increases todeliver efficiencies and
value formoney

–Focuson successfuldeliveryof services as partof thenewcontract
withSheffieldCityCouncil

–Collaborate across theGrouptodevelopbroader solutions for clients,
across people, processes andtechnology, tohelp themkeeppacewith
legislative andbest practice requirements.

2008 2007
£m £m

Turnover 311.2 289.8
Operating profit 56.4 47.9
Operatingmargin 18.1% 16.5%
Capex 5.4 5.6



2008 Growth and operational update:

We continue to focus on introducing innovation and alternative
service deliverymodels across our operations, including further
offshoring, to increase quality and efficiency across contracts.

TV Licensing: Following investment in the delivery of effective
front office solutions, we reduced transaction handling times by
31%offering significant operational cost savings to the business.
We have increased automation of back office systems. Bymid 2009
wewill have deployed handheld units across our entire field based
enforcement and sales teams.

TfL Congestion Charging: Following the successful introduction of
theWestern Extension Zone (WEZ), the business has enjoyed
exceptional operational performancewhich has allowed further
efficiencies in staffing and IT costs.The Low Emission Zone (LEZ)
was successfully implemented on 4 February 2008.The contract is
due to transition to IBM at the endof November 2009.

CRB: The partnership is in its sixth yearwith Disclosure applications
at approximately 3.8m per annum.We continued to enhance the
online tracking service and the electronic application functionality.

Constructionline: Following a successful re-tender, we secured the
contract tomanage and administer theUK register of local and
national pre-qualified construction and construction related
suppliers, which is operated on behalf of BERR, for a further 4 years
with an option to extend for an additional 2 years.

Call Centre and Specialist Services:Capita signed an additional
contract in 2008 todeliver directory enquiry services on behalf of
eircom.

Capita Business travel:Operational improvements have continued
following amove to a newoperational site in Derby.The sales pipeline
within the business remains healthy.The conferencing business
continued its successful growth.

Learner Support Programme:Capita signed the InterimServices
Agreementwith the Learning andSkills Council (LSC) to deliver the
EducationalMaintenanceAllowance (EMA),Adult LearningGrant
(ALG) plus a number of othermeans tested educational grants in
November 2008.We are finalising the details of a longer term
contractwith the LSC to deliver these services to over 500,000
students and learners for the next 4 academic years.

2009 priorities

– Focus on employee retention and training tomaintain consistency
and quality of service for our long term partnerships

– Continue to focus on seeking service enhancements tomaintain
high standards of service delivery

– Successful implementation of theHealth andSafety Executive (HSE)
contract.TheHSE installer sitewent live in January 2009 allowing
installers to registerwith the newGas Safe RegisterTM scheme.
The consumer facingwebsite is due to go live inApril 2009

–Continue to leverage benefits across our businesses from shared
technology platforms includingCRM systems, operational
scanning/workflow and telephony systems and to share the
operational expertise across the division gained from these
operational improvements.

2008 2007
£m £m

Turnover 387.4 405.0
Operating profit 56.1 55.8
Operatingmargin 14.5% 13.8%
Capex 10.0 19.0

2008 Growth and operational update:

Another year of progress for the division.Our payroll services are
underpinned by long term contracts andmuchof our resourcing
businesses are focused on essential public and private services or
underpinned bymanaged service contracts. Interim placements and
recruitment outsourcing remain strong and there has been 15%
growth in our Learning&Development and RIPA businesses.

Resourcing businesses:Wefocus on campaign solutions, managed
services, process outsourcing, search and selection, interim
management and agencies operating in nichemarkets for Social
Care, Education, Finance andHR.The businesses have generally
performedwell, especially in the InterimManagement andManaged
Service/RecruitmentOutsource businesses, and the sales pipeline
for 2009 is healthy.

We successfullywon a newmanaged service contractwith DWP,
and a recruitment process outsourcing (RPO) contractwith Essex
CountyCouncil - both are framework agreements underwhich other
client partners are expected to join.We further developedour
relationshipswith ourmanaged services clients such as BAA, BNFL
andNATS.Veredus, our senior search and selection and executive
interims business, had a strong year across both public and private
sectors.

Payroll outsourcing business:Major transformation projects have
been completed at Southampton andSwindon councils and this
business continues to performwell.

Assessment and testing:Developed further long term contracts,
supporting clients such asTheScottish Executive and BAA towhom
we also provide recruitmentmanaged services.

Learning & development businesses:OurUK Learning&
Development practice secured a number of newmanaged service
contracts in 2008, includingContactPoint, DCSF andDorsetCouncil.
RIPA, specialising in providing learning events for international
delegates in the field of public administration and judicial reform,
enjoyed a record year in terms of delegates and performance.

2009 priorities

– Continue to seek synergies across businesses and focus partnerships
to secure long term relationships. Extend the reach of Framework
Agreements secured in 2008.To date Southend BoroughCouncil
andTreasury Solicitors have joined the Essex andDWP frameworks
respectively

–Develop additional products and services to penetrate new and
existing clients, andmake further acquisitions to develop or
consolidate our position

– Continue to drawonour breadth of expertise and capability to
offer HR solutions to both the public and private sector

– Achieve and build on a smooth transfer of HR administration and
payroll services at SheffieldCityCouncil

– Promote our offshore capabilitywhere appropriate for clients.

2008 2007
£m £m

Turnover 258.2 225.0
Operating profit 24.2 21.3
Operatingmargin 9.4% 9.5%
Capex 1.5 1.8
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A clear business strategy 1. Generating profitable growth
2. Controlling andmeasuring growth
3. Managingour business responsibly
4. Targeting growthmarkets
5. Maintaining performance acrossourdivisions

IntegratedServices
Comprises all ourmajor central government contracts, retail sector contact centres and business travel
administration businesses, our integratedHR services andHRSolutions: HRadministration, resourcing, payroll
administration, learning anddevelopment andoutplacement services.

Integrated Services (excluding HR Solutions) HR Solutions



2008Growth and operational update:

Wecontinue to growthisdivision throughmajor contractwins
and a sustained sales focus alongside niche acquisitions to extend
our capabilities.
ITServices:This business continues to support awide and increasing
rangeof external customers, aswell as internal contracts and businesses.
During theyearwe completed 2 significant acquisitions –ComputerLand
andABSNet –which have significantly added to and strengthenedour
capabilities in thedesktop andnetworkingmarkets andwefurther
enhancedour hosting capability by commencingwork to significantly
increase the capacityofour primary and secondarydata centres.
LocalGovernmentStrategic Partnerships:Wehave continued to
deliver improved services, quality regeneration projects, savings
generated through ICT and process efficiencies and improved
purchasing initiatives acrossour partnerships.Our newpartnerships
which started in 2007withSouthampton andSwindonCouncils are
progressingwell following smooth transfersof people and services.

Service Birmingham:Wecontinue todrive efficiency through
innovation as partofour joint venturewith BirminghamCityCouncil.
In 2008,wewere awarded a contractworth £110mover 8years to
manage their contact centre, supporting theCouncil's ‘Customer
First’ transformation programme.
Swindon:Delivered integratedCustomerServicesOneStopShop
andCallCentrewith significant improvements in customer service
and public perception. ICTTransformation substantially completed
with the implementationof new infrastructure andhardware.
Southampton:The partnership has created a newGateway and
CustomerServicesCentre as partof the commitment to enhance
the customer experienceofCouncil services.

Health services:Wesuccessfullywonthe contract todeliver
NHSChoices, theNHS’online presence, and have startedworkon
implementing thedigital and content requirements.Thiswin provides
a platformfor further growth in the healthmarketplace.
Offshore services/Capita India:Ouroffshoreoperation continues
to play a significant role in helping to securemajor newbusiness.
Following the transferof 1,700 employees fromPrudential’s Indian
operation toCapita inOctober 2008,wenowhave 3 sites inMumbai
and have established a new site in Pune. Following the transferof
employeeswith theAXAdeal,wewill have approximately 3,600
people in India.

2009 priorities
–Withour poolof highly skilled IT staff,we continue to focuson
developingour end to end IT serviceofferings andon successfully
integratingour acquisitions, ensuring thatour enhanced capabilities
aredeployed for the benefit ofour clients and theGroup

–Continue to focuson achieving service improvement through service
transformation and applying practical innovations acrossour strategic
local government partnerships

–Continue to growouroffshoreoperations in India – by the endof 2009
weexpect to haveover 4,500 staff in India. Establish a newfacility in
Bangalore to support the newAXAcontract and continue to smoothly
transitionwork fromnewclients and theGroup to India.

2008 2007
£m £m

Turnover 339.4 259.5
Operating profit 35.0 27.7
Operatingmargin 10.3% 10.7%
Capex 12.2 8.8
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2008 Growth and operational update:

Comprises our property services consultancy, Capita Symonds
which is one of theUK’s largest andmost diversemultidisciplinary
consultancies operating in the building design, civil engineering,
environment, management and transport sectors.

Throughout 2008we have focused on increasingmargins through
changing themix of our business and accelerating the growthof
our expert niche areas of operation.

New business:Wehave focused our efforts on sustainable sectors
andwere successful inwinning framework andmajor project
commissions in Rail, Education, Highways design andAirport design.
We continued to increase our share ofOlympic commissions and
are nowworking for LOCOG,ODA and LDA at a strategic level.

Partnerships:We successfully created new property partnerships
with SeftonMBC andGlamorganConsultancy.We are providing key
services as part of theGroup’s contractswith local authorities in
Southampton, Swindon andSheffield.Over the yearwe have
reinforced our position as the leading property provider to local
government.

Acquisitions:We continued to expandour capability and reach
through acquisitions – Lovejoy, Pearce Buckle andNRMBobrowski.
These have all been integratedwell into our business andoperate
within extremely resilientmarkets.They have all outperformed
our expectations.

2009 priorities

– Explore opportunities forwinning and establishing further local
government partnerships as pressure is applied to local government
budgets and there is an increased focus on cost efficiencies

– Build uponour design frameworkwins forCrossRail and focus on
increasing our profile and role in essential infrastructure projects

– Continue to acquire small tomedium sized businesses in resilient
sectorswhere theywill add value to our consultancy

– Focus on increasing our capability in critical infrastructure
programmemanagement

– Reduce exposure to activities in areasmore sensitive to the
economy, such as corporate fit out, by continuing to transfer
employees and reduce headcount

– Focus on assisting clients to dramatically reduce carbon emissions
on all work across theUK.Aim to have 70%of all new projects at
zero carbon status by 2012. Focus on delivering carbon positive
solutions by 2015.

2008 2007
£m £m

Turnover 262.2 231.9
Operating profit 22.8 19.3
Operatingmargin 8.7% 8.3%
Capex 2.2 2.7

ICT, Property & Partnerships
Comprises our ICT business, which supports theGroup’s operations and external clients, strategic local
government partnerships, health business, offshore operations andour property consultancy, Capita Symonds.

ICT & Partnerships Property consultancy: Capita Symonds
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Case study:
The Children’s Mutual

ComplianceFinanceProcessing

In preparation for the launch of the new
GovernmentChildTrust Fund initiative,
TheChildren’sMutual appointedCapita to
develop a system to administer the new
funds, from customer application right
through to compliance.

“We took responsibility for setting up a
new joint service infrastructure that could
efficiently process charge-capped products,
such as the new ChildTrust Funds,” explains
Nigel Purveur (left), Managing Director of
Capita Life & Pensions Services’ SouthWest
Operations. “Within just 10 months, we
developed a completely new policy
administration system ready for the launch
of the new funds.The Children’s Mutual
developed the product while we provided
the administration and IT expertise to create
a unique end-to-end service including
customer service, IT, finance, HR, actuarial
and compliance.”

At the same time,we also took over the
administration ofTheChildren’sMutual’s
existing portfolio of policies.The client’s existing
serviceswere transferred fromTunbridgeWells
to our Barnwood sitewithin 12months.This
involved end-to-end business transformation
and service provision to support a portfolio of
500,000 existing insurance plans. Since then,
service levels have been enhanced dramatically.
Costs are down by 30%and clerical
productivity is 50%higher than in a traditional
life and pensions processing area.Over 85%of
applications are now processedwithout any
manual intervention.

The partnershipwas boosted inNovember
2007,whenAsda choseCapita andThe
Children’sMutual to provide itsChildTrust
Fund.The transfer of services, including new
business, contact centre and back-office
administrationwas seamless and took just
8weeks. Capita is nowon track to administer
1millionChildTrust Fund accounts on behalf
ofTheChildren’sMutual in 2009.

DavidWhite, Chief Executive ofTheChildren’s
Mutual, confirms the partnership’s value:
“Capita’s ability to provide advanced
administration and customer contact
services to its wide range of clients – and its
commitment to extending these service
models to our valued customers – continues
to impress us.”

Weareon track to administer 1million
ChildTrust Fund accounts 50%faster
with 30%savings.

Delivering efficient
end-to-end services

Customer service

Nigel Purveur
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The Board of Directors
To support our growth,wemade some changes to the
Board in 2008. InMarch 2008,Martin Bolland joinedCapita
as aNon-ExecutiveDirector and is nowSenior Independent
Director. He has alreadymade an excellent contribution to
the business.

At the endofSeptember 2008, PeterCawdron steppeddown
asNon-ExecutiveDirector, after serving 11 years on the Board.
We thank him for his valuable contribution andwish himwell.

InAugust 2008, Simon Pilling,who previously shared the role
of JointChiefOperatingOfficerwith PaddyDoyle, tookon
this role exclusively and becameCapita’sChiefOperating
Officer. PaddyDoyle decided tomove to a part-time role and
from 1 January 2009, he isworking 2days aweek forCapita
and remains an active Executive Boardmember.

Also inAugust 2008,Maggi Bell joined the Board as Business
DevelopmentDirector. She adds significant value toour Board
aswe continue to broaden and strengthenour Board’s skills.

EricWalters
Non-ExecutiveChairman,Age 64
Joined the Board in January 2001 and became
Non-ExecutiveChairmanwith effect from 1August 2006.
Chair of theNominationCommittee andMemberof the
RemunerationCommittee. He has held senior positionswith
Alchemy Partners LLP, EnglefieldCapital, SchroderVentures,
GrandMetropolitan plc and LexService plc.

Paul Pindar
Chief Executive,Age 49
Responsible formanaging anddevelopingCapita’s
operations to achieve theGroup’s strategic objectives.
Joined theGroup in 1987 from3i, after advisingCapita on its
management buy-out.A chartered accountant since 1984,
Paul is alsoChair of theGreatOrmondStreetHospital’s
Corporate Partnerships Board andNon-ExecutiveDirector
of Debenhams Plc. Paul has overall responsibility for the
Group’s charitable and community approach.

Gordon Hurst
Group Finance Director, Age 47
Joined theGroup in 1988 fromSunMicroSystems Ltd.
First appointed to the Board asCommercial Director in
February 1995 and then asGroup FinanceDirector in 1996.
A chartered accountant since 1986, he is alsoCompany
Secretary. He has Board responsibility for theGroup’s overall
corporate social responsibility policy and specific
responsibility for our environment, health and safety
approach and supplier relationships.
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Board members

Paddy Doyle, Eric Walters

Simon Pilling, Gordon Hurst
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Simon Pilling
ChiefOperatingOfficer, Age 46
Joined the Boardon 1August 2006 serving as JointChief
OperatingOfficer alongside PaddyDoyle untilAugust 2008.
He is nowChiefOperatingOfficerwithoverall responsibility
for themanagementof theGroup’s operations. Simon has a
strong background inmanagingmajor programme
developments. He joinedCapita in 1999 fromSema (now
AtosOrigin) and, prior to joining the Board, held various senior
management positions across theGroup. He has Board
responsibility for client service quality and for our employee
and human resources policies.

Maggi Bell
Business Development Director, Age 53
Joined the Boardon 1August 2008.Moved toCapita in
January 1999 fromManpowerwhere shewasUKOperations
Director. She ranCapita’s recruitment businesses until shewas
promoted to lead the Business Services Division in June 2001.
In 2002, shemoved to head theCorporateServices Division,
which included responsibility for business development
activity across theGroup. Since January 2005, she has been
headof theGroupSales&MarketingDivision and continues
todrive forwardCapita’s sales activity.

Paddy Doyle
Executive Director, Age 58
Joined theGroup in 1992 andwas appointed to the Board in
1994. His background is in IT andoutsourcing, previouslywith
CapGeminiUK (formerlyHoskyns).AsGroupOperations
Director hewas responsible for theongoingoperational
managementof theGroup’s business units. From 1August
2006 to the endofAugust 2008 hewas JointChiefOperating
Officer alongsideSimon Pilling.With effect from 1 January
2009 Paddy hasmoved to a part-time role, spending 2days
perweek continuingwith his client facing activities and
remaining an activememberof the Board.

Martin Bolland
Senior Independent Director, Age 52
Joined the Boardon 1March 2008.Chair of theAudit
Committee andmemberof the Remuneration and
NominationCommittees.Martin is aCharteredAccountant
and is currentlyChairmanofQHotels, a privately ownedUK
hotel company. He previously held a numberof positions
includingChief Executive andVice President Financewithin
LonrhoHotels andwas a founding partner ofAlchemy
Partners LLP. Hewas alsoNon-ExecutiveDirector at Jacques
Vert plc from2003 to 2004.

Martina King
Non-Executive Director, Age 47
Joined the Boardon 1 January 2005.Chair of the
RemunerationCommittee andmemberof theAudit and
NominationCommittees. FormerYahoo!ManagingDirector
for Europe, and the firstManagingDirector ofYahoo!UK and
Ireland.ANon-ExecutiveDirector of Johnston Press plc and
IMDPLC.Martina is alsoTreasurer of theMarketingGroupof
Great Britain, aTrusteeofCoram, aTrusteeof theAhoyCentre
and aGovernor atWoodbridgeSchool.

Bill Grimsey
Non-Executive Director, Age 57
Joined the Boardon 9October 2006.Memberof
theAudit, Remuneration andNominationCommittees.
Bill has held a numberof senior positions across the retail
sector over the past 20years, includingChief Executiveof
The Big FoodGroup andWickes Plc. Bill is currently
Chief Executiveof FocusDIY Limited. Hedoes not hold
anyotherNon-Executive positions.

G
overnance

Paul Pindar

Bill Grimsey, Maggi Bell

Martin Bolland, Martina King
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TheCapitaGroup Plc and its subsidiaries (“theGroup”) continue to be
committed to the principles of corporate governance contained in the
CombinedCode Principles ofGoodGovernance andCodeof Best Practice
(“theCode”) forwhich the Board is accountable.

TheGroup has complied throughout the yearwith the provisions of
Section 1of theCode as updated in June 2008, except in respect of the
compositionof the Board.

Compositionof the Board (A.3.2) – During the period under review the
compositionof the Board changed several times.This is shown in the
table below:
Period Descriptionof change Balanceof Board

1 January – Non-ExecutiveChairman
29 February 2008 4 ExecutiveDirectors

3Non-ExecutiveDirectors

1March – 31 July 2008 Appointmentof Non-ExecutiveChairman
Martin Bolland – 4 ExecutiveDirectors
1March 2008 4Non-ExecutiveDirectors

1August – Appointmentof Non-ExecutiveChairman
30September 2008 Maggi Bell – 5 ExecutiveDirectors

1August 2008 4Non-ExecutiveDirectors

1October – Resignationof Non-ExecutiveChairman
31December 2008 PeterCawdron – 5 ExecutiveDirectors

30September 2008 3Non-ExecutiveDirectors

The Board believes that the current composition, as it is led by a
Non-ExecutiveChairman, remains suitable for the nature and size of the
Group.We believe that the collective skills, experience and approach to
running the business are appropriate for driving theGroup forward and
achieving theGroup’s goals. However,we constantly review the
compositionof the Board to ensure that it continues tomeet the needsof
theGroup.

As explained inour half-yearly report, PaddyDoyle decided tomove
to a part-time role fromJanuary 2009. Paddy’s ability and judgement have
played a key role in our success andwe are therefore delighted that he
agreed to remain as an ExecutiveDirector andmoved to 2days aweek
from 1 January 2009.The Board believes that the retentionof PaddyDoyle
as an ExecutiveDirector on a part-time basis is an asset to the business.

The Board’sNon-ExecutiveDirectors (EricWalters,Martin Bolland,
Martina King and BillGrimsey) are regarded as independent and free
fromany business or other relationship that couldmaterially interfere
with their judgement.

Board Changes in the year
Martin Bollandwas appointedNon-ExecutiveDirectorwith effect from
1March 2008 and subsequently replaced PeterCawdron asSenior
IndependentDirector andChairmanof theAuditCommitteeon 1October
2008.Martin’s appointmentwasmade following a formal and rigorous
recruitment process.When consideringMartin’s appointment, the
NominationCommitteemet,with EricWalters chairing the proceedings.
PeterCawdron took no part in the process.

Simon Pillingwas appointedChiefOperatingOfficerwith effect from
1August 2008;

Maggi Bellwas promoted to Business DevelopmentDirectorwith effect
from 1August 2008;

PeterCawdron retired as aNon-ExecutiveDirectorwith effect from
30September 2008.

For each appointment the Board undertook a formal appointment process,
led by theNominationCommittee and,where appropriate,with the
assistanceof independent external search consultants.

All these changeswere part of the Board’s orderly succession planning and
arrangements.

Board composition
TheDirectors acknowledge the need to segregate the responsibility for
operating the Board fromthemanagementof the underlying business.
Consequently, the roles ofNon-ExecutiveChairman (EricWalters) and
Chief Executive (Paul Pindar) are separate.

The Board consists of EricWalters (Non-ExecutiveChairman); 3 further
independentNon-ExecutiveDirectors:Martin Bolland (Senior Independent
Director),Martina King and BillGrimsey; and 5 ExecutiveDirectors:
Paul Pindar (Chief Executive),GordonHurst (Group FinanceDirector and
CompanySecretary), Simon Pilling (ChiefOperatingOfficer),Maggi Bell
(Business DevelopmentDirector) and PaddyDoyle (ExecutiveDirector).

TheSenior IndependentDirector is available, as necessary, to leadmeetings
of theNon-ExecutiveDirectorswithout the ExecutiveDirectors and/or the
Chairman being present and is available tomeetwith shareholders to
understand any concerns. Biographies of theDirectors can be foundon
pages 62-63.

Board responsibilities and effectiveness
The Board is collectively responsible to shareholders for setting the
directionof the business andmonitoring theGroup’s ongoing affairs. It is
also responsible for ensuring an effective internal control environment that
identifies andmanages appropriately the risks associatedwith the business
as set out on page 67.

The Boarddemonstrates its commitment to the strategic direction and
control of theGroup by scheduling a series ofmeetings in the year. It can
meet as necessaryoutsideof this schedule to consider any urgentmatters
thatmay arise. It sets the strategic objectives of theGroup, ensuring
sufficient financial and human resources are in place tomeet those aims.
The Board sets theGroup’s values and standards and ensures that its
obligations to clients, employees, suppliers, the community andother key
stakeholders are understood andmet.

The Board has a formal schedule ofmatters that canonly bedecided by the
Board.This Schedule has been reviewed and updatedduring the year and
the keymatters reserved to the Board include:

–TheGroup’s business strategy

–Annual financial andoperating plans

– Financial reporting

–Dividend policy

– Internal controls and riskmanagement (via theAuditCommittee)

– Remuneration policy (via the RemunerationCommittee)

–Treasury policy and significant fundraising

–Appointment/removal of Directors andCompanySecretary

The Board also considers regular reports fromtheChief Executive,Group
FinanceDirector,ChiefOperatingOfficer and Business Development
Director.The Board is providedwith complete, timely and relevant
information to ensure that informed judgements aremade in pursuit of
theGroup’s objectives.

The Board also reviews the performanceofmanagement inmeeting
business objectives, plans the successionof key executives, anddetermines
appropriate remuneration levels through the RemunerationCommittee, a
committeeof the Board.

Paul Pindar, asChief Executive, is responsible for all aspects of the
operation andmanagementof theGroup. Following the change in the
Board structure inAugust 2008 a reviewwas undertakenof the reporting
and communication lines. Itwas agreed that theDivisional Executive
Boardwasduplicatingourmonthly operational business (MOB) review
process and itwas therefore agreed that theDivisional Executive Board
was no longer required.

Corporate governance
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The Non-Executive Directors have a particular responsibility to challenge
independently and constructively the business development plans that
are proposed by executive management and monitor the performance of
the management teams in the delivery of agreed business objectives and
targets.The Non-Executive Chairman encourages and engages in an open
dialogue with Non-Executive Directors in particular, who are at liberty
to meet with him as a group or individually as they feel fit, without the
presence of Executive Directors.The Non-Executive Directors meet at least
once a year without the Executive Directors present.

Directors and officer’s liability insurance is maintained.

Director induction and professional development
On joining the Board, all Directors participate in an induction programme
involving appropriate documentation, meetings and visits to Capita
businesses with other Directors, attendance at MOB review meetings and
discussions with advisers and senior management from across the Group.
Martin Bolland and Maggi Bell undertook induction training that was
appropriate for their roles and responsibilities during the year.

All Board members have access to independent advice on any matters
relating to their responsibilities as Directors and as members of the various
committees of the Board, at the Group’s expense.The Company Secretary,
Gordon Hurst, who is also Group Finance Director, is available to all
Directors and he is responsible for ensuring that all Board procedures are
complied with.

The decision to combine the roles of Group Finance Director and Company
Secretary was taken when Capita was a smaller entity and as the Group
has evolved this approach has been regularly reviewed. During the year,
the Board felt the Group had sufficiently evolved and increased in
size and diversity to warrant the creation of the new role of Deputy
Company Secretary.The duties of the Deputy Company Secretary include
coordinating and managing the provision of company secretarial services
to the Group on behalf of Gordon Hurst, the Group Finance Director and
Company Secretary, and acting as Secretary to theAudit, Remuneration
and Nomination Committees.The Deputy Company Secretary has direct
access and responsibility to the Chairs of all the standing committees and
open access to all the Directors.

During the year, the Directors received appropriate ongoing briefings and
information, including updates on governance and regulatory issues, to
enable them to perform their roles.This included specific briefings on the
changes to the CompaniesAct 2006 and the transitional arrangements.
They also attended external courses where appropriate.

Board performance evaluation
An evaluation of Board and Committee effectiveness was conducted in
2008.The evaluation took the form of detailed questionnaires completed
by each Director in relation to the Board and any Committee of which they
were a member at the time of the evaluation.The results of the evaluation
were presented to the Board in December 2008.The Board concluded that
the Board and its Committees continue to operate effectively.

The performance of individual Executive Directors is appraised annually
by the Chief Executive, to whom they report.The performance of the
Chairman is reviewed by the Non-Executive Directors, led by Martin
Bolland, taking into account the views of the Executive Directors.

The performance review of the Chief Executive is conducted by the
Non-Executive Chairman, taking into account the views of other Directors.
Non-Executive Directors’ performance is reviewed by the Non-Executive
Chairman, taking into account the views of other Directors.

The Board considered, as it had in previous years, the merit of using an
external body to manage the performance evaluation process. It concluded
that it remained most appropriate for the Company Secretary and Deputy
Company Secretary to issue the questionnaires and collate and analyse
the results.

Appointment, re-appointment and removal of Directors
Directors are appointed and may be removed in accordance with the
Articles ofAssociation of the Company and the provisions of the
CompaniesActs.

All Directors are subject to election at the firstAnnual General Meeting
after their appointment and to re-election at intervals of no more than
3 years in accordance with the Combined Code and the Company’sArticles
ofAssociation.Accordingly Maggi Bell will retire and offer herself for
election at theAnnual General Meeting in 2009.

No person, other than a Director retiring at the meeting, shall be appointed
or re-appointed a Director of the Company at any general meeting unless
he/she is recommended by the Directors.

No person, other than a Director retiring at a general meeting as set out
above, shall be appointed or re-appointed unless between 7 and 35 days’
notice, executed by a member qualified to vote on the appointment or
re-appointment, has been given to the Company of the intention to
propose that person for appointment or re-appointment, together with
notice executed by that person of his/her willingness to be appointed or
re-appointed.

The Non-Executive Chairman and, where appropriate, the Non-Executive
Directors have, following the evaluation process described above,
considered the performance of EricWalters, Gordon Hurst and Maggi Bell,
who are subject to re-election and election at the 2009Annual General
Meeting and are satisfied that they continue to be effective and
demonstrate a clear commitment to the role.

EricWalters will have served 9 years as a Non-Executive Director in
August 2009, and has served as Non-Executive Chairman since July 2006.
Neither the Combined Code nor the Company’s articles require the
Company to make the post of Chairman subject to annual re-election.
The Board have discussed this with Eric, and also in a Board meeting where
Eric was not present, and it was agreed that he would not be subject to
annual re-election.

Membership of the Committees
Membership of the Company’s standing committees during the year is
shown below:

Eric Martin Martina Bill Peter
Walters Bolland King Grimsey Cawdron

Nomination (C)� � � � �

Remuneration � � (C)� � �

Audit (C)�* � � (C)�*

(C) Chairman

*Martin Bolland was appointed Chair of the Audit Committee following the resignation of Peter Cawdron
on 30 September 2008

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprised EricWalters (Chairman), Peter
Cawdron, Martin Bolland, Martina King and Bill Grimsey. Peter Cawdron
retired from the Committee on 30 September 2008 and was replaced by
Martin Bolland.The Committee reports to the Board and its role is to seek
suitably skilled and experienced candidates to be Non-Executive Directors
and ensure plans are in place for orderly succession of appointments to
the Board.
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TheNominationCommittee undertook to review their termsof reference
and newtermsof referencewere recommended and approved by the
Board inNovember 2008.

When considering the constitutionof the Board, theNomination
Committee carries out a rigorous review, taking into account the need for a
progressive refreshof the Board.Core competencies and attributes required
to fill the roles are set out and independent external search consultants
engaged,where appropriate, to identify potential candidates.TheChairman
of theCompanywill not take part in anydiscussions regarding the
considerationof the appointmentof a newChairman.

Audit Committee
TheAuditCommittee comprised theNon-ExecutiveDirectors
throughout the year. PeterCawdron retired asChairmanof the
Committeeon 30September 2008 andwas replaced byMartin Bolland,
who has significant recent and relevant financial experience, including
being aqualifiedCharteredAccountant.Theothermembers of the
AuditCommittee areMartina King and BillGrimsey.AuditCommittee
meetings are attended, by invitation, by theNon-ExecutiveChairman,
Chief Executive,Group FinanceDirector,GroupComplianceDirector,
Group Risk and BusinessAssuranceDirector and by representatives of
the externalAuditors.

TheCommitteemet 4 timesduring the period.Meetings are
planned around the financial calendar for theCompany and the
meeting held inMay is specifically to focuson the risk, internal control
and compliance agendas.

On appointment asChairman,Martin Bolland heldmeetingswith the
GroupComplianceDirector, DeputyCompanySecretary,Group Risk and
BusinessAssuranceDirector and external auditors as part of his induction
to theCommittee. Hewas given a specific induction and trainingon
appointment. He also reviewed the formats of all papers and reports
presented to theCommittee.

TheGroupComplianceDirector, DeputyCompanySecretary,Group Risk
and BusinessAssuranceDirector andAuditors all havedirect access to the
Chairmanof theCommittee.

During the year, theCommittee reviewed its termsof reference and
ensured that these remain in linewith the guidance given by the Financial
ReportingCouncil and theCode. Revised termsof referencewere proposed
to the Board inNovember 2008.The termsof reference include the
approval of the appointmentof theGroup Risk and BusinessAssurance
Director.

TheCommittee also reviewedduring the year the policy onwhistleblowing
and the policy on the provisionof the non-audit services by theAuditors.
Both policieswere updated to reflect current good practice and are
publishedon theCompany’s employee intranet.

In accordancewith the termsof reference theCommitteemet separately
with theAuditors independently of the ExecutiveDirectors and alsowith
theGroup Risk and BusinessAssuranceDirector.

TheCommittee reviewed awide rangeof financial reporting and related
matters during the year, including the half year and annual accounts prior
to their submission to the Board.TheCommittee focused in particular on
critical accounting policies and practices adopted by theGroup and any
significant areas of judgement thatmaterially impact on reported results.
It alsomonitored the internal controls that areoperated bymanagement
to ensure the integrity of information reported to shareholders.The
Committee also reviewed and approved the Representation Letter
required by theAuditors.

TheCommittee provides a forumfor reporting by theGroup’sAuditors,
and it advised the Boardon the appointment, independence andobjectivity
of theAuditors andon the remuneration for both statutory audit and non-
auditwork. It alsodiscussed the nature, scope and timingof the statutory
auditwith theAuditors.TheAuditCommittee annually performs an
independent assessmentof the suitability and performanceof the Auditors
inmaking its recommendationtotheBoardfortheir re-appointment.

TheCommitteemetwith theGroup FinanceDirector todiscuss the
re-appointmentof theAuditors and their performanceover the preceding
12months.This discussion also included the scopeof the audit thatwas
required.This processmeant theCommittee coulddiscuss in detail the
re-appointment and recommend the re-appointmentof theAuditors to
the Board,which it did and found to be satisfactory.

TheCommittee has responsibility for reviewing the annual business
assurance programme and for ensuring that theGroup Risk and Business
Assurance Function is adequately sponsored and resourced. It also
monitored the resourcing levels and performanceof theGroup’s
Compliance function.

At themeeting to review the 2008Annual Report andAccounts, the
Committee considered the level of non-audit services being provided by
theGroup’sAuditors in order to satisfy itself that theobjectivity and
independenceof theAuditorswere safeguarded. Details of audit and
non-audit fees are given in note 6on page 91.The lead audit partner is
rotated at least on a 5-yearly basis.

Remuneration Committee
Details of the RemunerationCommittee and its activities are given in the
Directors’ remuneration report on pages 71-76.

The termsof referenceof theNomination, Remuneration andAudit
Committeeswere updatedduring the year to reflect changes in best
practice.The termsof reference aredisplayed in the investor centre at
www.capita.co.uk/investors.

Board and committee members, frequency of meetings and attendance
During 2008 the Boardmet 9 times, excluding ad hocmeetings, solely
todealwith proceduralmatters.TheNominationCommittee and the
RemunerationCommitteemet 3 and 5 timesduring the year, respectively.
TheAuditCommitteemet 4 timesduring the year.Attendance is recorded
in the table below.

Nomination Remuneration Audit
Board Committee Committee Committee

meetings meetings meetings meetings

Scheduledmeetings 9 3 5 4
EricWalters 9 3 4 –
Paul Pindar 8 – – –
GordonHurst 9 – – –
PaddyDoyle 8 – – –
Simon Pilling 8 – – –
Maggi Bell1 2 – – –
PeterCawdron2 7 1 3 3
Martina King 9 3 5 4
BillGrimsey 7 3 4 4
Martin Bolland3 7 1 2 1
1.Maggi Bell was appointed to the Board as an Executive Director on 1August 2008

2. PeterCawdron retired as a Director on 30September 2008

3.Martin Bollandwas appointed to the Board on 1March 2008 and to theNomination,Audit and
Remuneration committees on 1October 2008

AnyDirectors’ non-attendance at Boardmeetings ormeetings of theAudit,
RemunerationorNominationCommitteeswasdue to illness or an absence
previously agreedwith theChairmanof the Board, theChief Executiveor
theChairmanof the relevant committee.

Dialogue with institutional shareholders
The Board encourages and seeks to build amutual understandingof
objectives between theGroup and its institutional shareholders.As part
of this process, theNon-ExecutiveChairman,Chief Executive,Group
FinanceDirector andChiefOperatingOfficermake regular presentations
andmeetwith institutional shareholders todiscuss any issues of concern,
toobtain feedback and to considerCorporateGovernance issues.All the
Non-ExecutiveDirectors are available tomeetwith shareholders to
understand their viewsmore fully.TheNon-ExecutiveChairman and the
Senior IndependentDirector are personally available to the significant
shareholders in theGroup.
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TheCorporateCommunications teamhas effective day-to-day
responsibility formanaging shareholder communications and always acts
in close consultationwith the Board.ADisclosureCommittee consisting
of theCorporateCommunicationsDirector,Chief Executive andGroup
FinanceDirector ensures all appropriate communications aremade to the
LondonStock Exchange and shareholders. Shareholders can also access
up-to-date information through the investor centre sectionof theGroup’s
website atwww.capita.co.uk/investors.A telephone helpline, 0871 664
0300, provides a contact point directly to theGroup’s registrars.

Allmembers of the Board, including theNon-ExecutiveDirectors, receive a
report on any significant discussionswith shareholders and the feedback,
that follows the annual and half-yearly presentations to investment
analysts and shareholders, is also circulated.All brokers’ reports and
analysts’ briefings are circulated to theDirectors.

The Board encourages shareholders to attend itsAnnualGeneralMeeting.
Directors, including the chairpersonsof the various committees, are present
to answer anyquestions.TheGroup uses theAnnualGeneralMeeting to
communicatewith private investors and encourages their participation.

Social and environmental responsibility
Details of howtheGroupmanages its social and environmental
responsibilities can be foundon pages 34-44 and at
www.capita.co.uk/corporate-responsibility.

Internal control
The Board is responsible for theGroup’s systemof internal control and for
regularly reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have beendesigned for,
inter alia, the safeguardingof assets against unauthorised useor
disposition,maintaining proper accounting records and the reliability of
financial information usedwithin the business or for publication. Such a
system is designed tomanage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and canonly provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance againstmaterial errors, losses or fraud.There is an
ongoing process of identifying, evaluating andmanaging the significant
risks faced by theGroup,which has been in place throughout the year
under review and up to thedateof approval of theAnnual Report and
Accounts.This process is regularly reviewed by the Board.TheGroup’s key
internal control procedures include the following:

– The Board has responsibility to set, communicate andmonitor
the applicationof policies, procedures and standards in areas including
operations, finance, legal, commercial and regulatory compliance, human
resources and health and safety, information security and property
management and corporate social responsibility and the environment
and these policies are cascaded to the businesses via theMOB review
process

– Authority tooperate the individual businesses comprising theDivisions
thatmake up theGroup is delegated to their respectiveManaging
Directors,within limits set by theGroup.TheMOB review process
includes, through theDivisional Directors and theirmanagement teams,
the appointmentof executives to themost senior positionswithin the
Group, other than Board appointments.The Board establishes key
operational, functional and financial reporting standards for application
across thewholeGroup and this is cascaded through theMOB review
process.These are supplemented byoperating standards set by local
management teams, as required for the typeof business and geographical
locationof each subsidiary and business unit

– Comprehensive annual financial plans are prepared at the individual
business unit level and summarised at aDivisional andGroup level.
Financial plans are reviewed and approved by the Board following
challengewithin theMOB review process.Capital expenditure is subject
to rigorous budgetary control beyond specified levels anddetailed
written proposals have to be submitted to the Board. Expenditureon
acquisitions is the subject of appropriate consideration, review and
approval by the Board.

– Results aremonitored routinely bymeansof comprehensive
management accounts and actual progress against plan is challenged
directly by ExecutiveDirectors of the Boardon aGroup-wide basis and at
the business unit level eachmonth

– A framework is in place to identify, assess andmitigate themajor business
risks, including credit, liquidity, operations, reputation, information
security, regulatory and fraud.The framework also includes specific
provision for risk-basedduediligence in respect of business acquisitions
and new customer contracts. Exposure to business risk ismonitored as an
integral part of theMOB review process and by theAuditCommittee

– TheGroup risk framework is supplemented in certain of theGroup’s
businesses, including all financial services related business streams,
by a numberof formally constituted local boards,which in turn are
underpinned bydedicated risk committees.These committees provide
an appropriatemeans to routinelymonitor the risk profile of these
businesses, including regulatory risks, and for proposedmitigating actions
to be challenged and tracked

– TheGroup riskmanagement framework ismonitored anddeveloped
as required by theGroup Risk and BusinessAssurance function, in
conjunctionwith theGroupCompliance function, to ensure that it
remains appropriate to business requirements and consistentwith
best practice

– TheGroup Risk and BusinessAssurance function reports to theGroup
FinanceDirector and independently to theAuditCommittee. In addition
to independently facilitating theGroup’s riskmanagement framework, it
delivers a risk-based internal audit programme, to provide assuranceon
the effectiveness of the internal control structures operating across the
business.The annual audit programme is focusedon areas of greatest
risk to theGroup, as determined by theGroup risk framework, and the
independent viewof those risks is taken by theGroup Risk and Business
Assurance function

– In addition, regulatory risks and compliancematters are overseen by the
GroupCompliance function reporting through theGroup FinanceDirector
and independently to theAuditCommittee.TheGroupCompliance team,
in conjunctionwithdedicated compliance teamswithin the relevant
businesses, independentlymonitor regulatory compliance bywayof
risk-basedwork programmes and support operations in identifying and
mitigating regulatory risks as an integral part of theGroup risk framework

– Both theGroupCompliance function and theGroup Risk and Business
Assurance function routinely appraise theGroup’s seniormanagement
and theAuditCommitteeof theirwork programmes and findings.

The Board keeps under review the effectiveness of this systemof internal
control.The keymechanisms used by the Board to achieve this include
regularMOB review reports, periodic updates fromtheAuditCommittee
basedon its reviewof riskmanagement, business assurance and
compliance reports by the relevantGroup functions; discussionswith and
reports fromtheAuditors andother advisers, and periodic reports from
relevant regulators.

Basedon the above, the Board has concluded that it is satisfiedwith the
process ofmonitoring the effectiveness of internal controls and complies
with the InternalControlGuidance for Directors on theCombinedCode
issued by the InstituteofCharteredAccountants in England andWales
and in the revisedTurnbullGuidance (2005).The Board and theAudit
Committee have reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management in accordancewith theCode for the period from 1 January
2008 to thedateof approval of thisAnnual Report andAccounts.
No significant failings orweaknesseswere identifiedduring this review;
however had there been, the Board confirms that necessary actionswould
have been taken to remedy them.
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Group activities
TheGroup is a leadingUK provider of business process outsourcing
solutions and professional support services toorganisations across the
public and private sectors.TheGroup’s 9 chosenmarkets are in the public
sector: central government, local government, education, health and
transport, and in the private sector: life and pensions, insurance, financial
services andother corporates.

On behalf of its clients, theGroup aims to improve service quality, reduce
costs of delivery and enable themto transformtheway that theydeliver
services to their customers.The services that theGroup provides are
essential to the smooth running and success of its clients’ operations.
TheGroupdesigns, successfully implements andmanages tailored service
solutions, ranging across administration, information technology, financial,
human resources, property and customer service functions.TheGroup
maintains leading positions in themajority of itsmarkets due to its scale
and ability todrawon itswide baseof professional services, detailed
market knowledge and extensive business process transformation and
changemanagement skills. During the period under review, theGroup’s
business divisionswere reorganised.The Boarddecided the reorganisation
was necessary tomanage the continued growth in the business and to
enhance service provisions across theGroup.TheGroup’s principal activities
are nowmanaged through 5operatingdivisions comprising: Insurance&
Investor Services; ICT, Property&Partnerships; Life& Pensions;
Professional Services and IntegratedServices.Group support services
report direct toGroup ExecutiveDirectors.A reviewof thedevelopmentof
theGroup and its business activities during the year is contained in the
Business Reviewon pages 01-60.Ourdivisional operations and financial
performance aredetailedon pages 54-59.

Profits and dividends
TheGroup profit before taxation and after amortisation and callable swaps
amounted to £226.6m (2007: £228.7m).TheDirectors recommend a final
dividendof 9.6p per share (2007: 8.0p per share) to be paidon 18May
2009 toordinary shareholders on the Register on 14April 2009.This gives a
total dividend for the year of 14.4p per share (2007: 12.0p per share).

The Employee BenefitTrust haswaived its right to receive adividendon the
shares being heldwithin theTrust.

Directors
TheDirectors of theCompany currently in office are listedon pages 62-63.
EricWalters,GordonHurst andMaggi Bellwill retire at the forthcoming
AnnualGeneralMeeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
and election. NoDirector has a service contract exceeding 1 year.

Conflicts policy
Under theCompaniesAct 2006, directors are under anobligation to avoid
situations inwhich their interests canor do conflict, ormay possibly
conflict, with thoseof the company. In response to the conflicts of interest
provisions, a comprehensive projectwas undertaken to identify and
disclose any conflicts of interest that have arisenormay arise across
theGroup. Procedureswere implemented for evaluating andmanaging
conflicts that have been identified in away that ensures that decisions
are not compromised by a conflicteddirector. In addition, theCompany’s
Articles ofAssociation give the Board the power to authorisematters that
give rise to actual or potential conflicts.The Boardwill report annually on
theCompany’s procedures for ensuring that the Board’s powers of
authorisationof conflicts are operated effectively and that the procedures
have been followed.A policy for ongoing identification anddisclosureof
conflicts is in place and is kept under regular review.

Following a reviewofDirectors’ conflicts of interest the Board authorised
the conflict ofGordonHurst being a trusteeof both theCapita Pension and
LifeAssuranceScheme and theCapitaGroupMoney PurchaseScheme, and
gave specific guidanceon this conflict going forward.GordonHurst did not
participate in thediscussionor voteon the guidance given. Noother
conflicts of interest declaredwerematerial to the Board.All conflicts of
interestwill be reviewedon an annual basis by theNominationCommittee
andwill be revisited as part of the year end process by theDirectors.

Noneof theDirectors of theCompany had amaterial interest in any
contractwith theCompanyor its subsidiary undertakings other than their
contracts of employment.

Voting rights and share capital
On20 February 2009 theCompany had received notifications that the
followingwere interested in accordancewithDTR 5:

Percentage
of ISC No. of shares No. of shares

Shareholder No. of shares as at 20 Feb Direct Indirect

Invesco Limited 75,606,954 12.16% 75,606,954
BaillieGifford&Co 40,283,857 6.48% 40,283,857
Fidelity 35,911,427 5.78% 35,911,427
Legal&General 25,613,317 4.12% 25,613,317

At thedateof this report, 621,684,940ordinary shares of 21/15p each have
been issued and are fully paid up and arequotedon the LondonStock
Exchange. During the year ended 31December 2008, optionswere
exercised pursuant to theCompany’s shareoption schemes, resulting in the
allotmentof 12,187,282 newordinary shares.A further 456,443 new
ordinary shares have been allotted under these schemes since the endof
the financial year to thedateof this report. 10,668,305of the issued share
capital is heldwithin an Employee BenefitTrust for the useof satisfying
employee shareoptions.

TheCompany renewed its authority to repurchase up to 10%of its own
issued share capital at theAnnualGeneralMeeting inMay 2008. During
the year theCompany acquired 10,355,046 (2007: 6.6m)ordinary shares,
representing 1.66%of the issued share capital (see note 25on page 107).
During the year 10,355,046 shares,were transferred to an Employee
BenefitTrust. No shareswere cancelledduring the year and there are no
shares held in treasury.

Rights and restrictions attaching to shares
Under theCompany’sArticles ofAssociation, holders of ordinary shares
are entitled to participate in the paymentof dividends pro rata to their
holding.The Boardmay propose and pay an interimdividend and
recommend a final dividend, in respect of any accounting periodoutof
the profits available for distribution under English law.A final dividend
may bedeclared by the shareholders in theGeneralMeeting byordinary
resolution, but nodividendmay bedeclared in excess of the amount
recommended by the Board.

At anyGeneralMeeting a resolution put to vote at themeeting shall be
decidedon a showof hands unless (beforeor on thedeclarationof the
results of a voteon a showof handsor on thewithdrawal of anyother
demand for a poll) a poll is properly demanded.On a showof hands every
memberwho is present in personor by proxy at aGeneralMeetingof the
Company shall haveonevote.On a poll everymemberwho is present in
personor by proxy shall haveonevote for every shareofwhich they are
the holder.

No person holds securities in theCompany carrying special rightswith
regard to control of theCompany.TheCompany is not awareof any
agreements between holders of securities thatmay result in restrictions on
the transfer of securities or onvoting rights.

Restrictions on transfer of shares
TheCompany’sArticles ofAssociation allowDirectors to, in their absolute
discretion, refuse to register the transfer of a share in certificated form
which is not fully paid.Theymay also refuse to register a transfer of a
share in certificated formunless the instrumentof transfer is lodged, duly
stamped, at the registeredoffice of theCompany, or at suchother place
as theDirectorsmay appoint and (except in the caseof a transfer by a
recognised personwhere a certificate has not been issued in respect of the
share) is accompanied by the certificate for the share towhich it relates and
suchother evidence as theDirectorsmay reasonably require to showthe
right of the transferor tomake the transfer.Theymay also refuse to register
any such transferwhere it is in favour ofmore than 4 transferees or in
respect ofmore than 1 class of shares.
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TheDirectorsmay refuse to register a transfer of a share in uncertificated
form in any casewhere theCompany is entitled to refuse (or is excepted
fromthe requirement) under theUncertificatedSecurities Regulations to
register the transfer.

Going concern
TheGroup’s business activities, togetherwith the factors likely to affect its
future development, performance and position are set out in the Business
Reviewon pages 1-60.The financial positionof theGroup, its cash flows,
liquidity position and borrowing facilities are describedon pages 26-32.
In addition note 24 to the financial statements includes theGroup’s
objectives, policies and processes formanaging its capital; its financial risk
managementobjectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging
activities; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk.

TheGroup has considerable financial resources togetherwith long term
contractswith awide rangeof public and private sector clients and
suppliers.As a consequence, theDirectors believe that theGroup iswell
placed tomanage its business risks successfully despite the current
uncertain economicoutlook.

Aftermaking enquiries, theDirectors have a reasonable expectation that
theCompany and theGroup have adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.Accordingly, they continue
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing theAnnual Report and
Accounts.

Disabled persons
It is theGroup’s policy to give full consideration to suitable applications
for employmentof disabled persons. Disabled employees are eligible to
participate in all career developmentopportunities available to staff.
Opportunities also exist for employeesof theGroupwho becomedisabled
to continue in their employmentor to be retrained for other positions in
theGroup.

Employee involvement
TheGroup is committed to involving all employees in the performance and
developmentof theGroup. Its approach to employeedevelopmentoffers
continual challenges in the job, learningopportunities and personal
development.TheGroup supports employees through a comprehensive
rangeof key business andmanagement skills courses and an annual
managementdevelopment programme.

TheGroup encourages all its employees to participate fully in the business
throughopendialogue. Employees receive newsof theGroup through
Recap, theGroup’s online staff newsletter, frequent email notices, internal
notice board statements, the employee intranet,CapitaConnect, and
CapitaOnline, a regular email communication reviewing the performance
of theGroup fromthe perspectiveof theDirectors. In 2009 therewill be a
full re-launchof theCompany’s intranet for all employees.These
communication initiatives enable employees to share informationwithin
and between business units and employees are encouraged to contribute
news, views and feedback.TheGroupmaintains a strong communications
network and employees are encouraged, through its opendoor policy, to
discusswithmanagementmatters of interest to the employee and subjects
affectingday-to-dayoperationsof theGroup.

TheCapitaSharesaveScheme, an employeeSaveAsYou EarnScheme, and
theCapitaShareOwnership Plan, a share incentive plan, are both firmly
established and aredesigned to promote employee shareownership and to
give employees theopportunity to participate in the future success of the
Group.Approximately 23%of theGroup’s eligible employees have share
optionsor ownCapita shares. For the launchof the 2008Sharesave
Scheme a refreshof all thedocumentation for the schemewas undertaken
and this helped to increase participation in the scheme by 19%.

In keepingwith its belief that employees are theGroup’smost valuable
asset, theGroupoperates employee awards schemes.These celebrate the
core values that embody theorganisation and reward employees for
service excellence, effective teamwork, service to the community and
innovation.

Further information can be foundon pages 37-41.

Payment of suppliers
TheCompany aims to pay suppliers in accordancewith the suppliers’
contract terms. In 2008 theCompany had an averageof 41days’ purchases
(2007: 42days’ purchases) outstanding in trade creditors.

Charitable and political donations
During the year charitable donations amounted to £0.6m (2007: £0.5m).
No political contributionsweremade. Further details of theGroup’s
charitable donations andworkwithin the community can be foundon
pages 43-44 and atwww.capita.co.uk/corporate-responsibility.

Financial instruments
TheGroup’s financial instruments primarily comprise bonds, unsecured
loan notes, bank loans, finance leases andoverdrafts.The principal purpose
of these is to raise funds for theGroup’s operations. In addition various
other financial instruments such as trade creditors and tradedebtors arise
directly from its operations. Fromtime to time, theGroup also enters into
derivative transactions, primarily interest rate swaps, currency swaps and
forward exchange contracts, the purposeofwhich is tomanage interest risk
and currency risk.

Themain financial risks, towhich theGroup has exposure, are interest rate
risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk.

TheGroup borrows in selected currencies at fixed and floating rates of
interest andmakes useof interest rate swaps to generate thedesired
interest profile and tomanage its exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

In respect of liquidity risk, theGroup aims tomaintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the useof bonds, bank loans,
unsecured loan notes, finance leases andoverdrafts.

In respectof credit risk, theGroup tradesonlywith recognised, creditworthy
third parties. It is theGroup’s policy that all clientswhowish to tradeon
credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances aremonitoredon anongoing basiswith the result that
theGroup’s exposure to baddebts is not significant.With respect to credit
risk arising fromtheother financial assetsof theGroup,which comprise cash
and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial investments and certain
derivative instruments, theGroup’s exposure to credit risk arises from
defaultof the counterparty.TheGrouphas amaximumexposure equal to
the carrying amountof the above receivables and instruments.There is no
concentrationof counterparty risk and theGroup takes all reasonable steps
to seek assurance fromthe associated parties to ensure that it canmanage
any risk identified appropriately.

TheGroup has exposure to foreign currency riskwhere it has investments in
overseas operationswhich are affected by foreign exchangemovements.
TheGroup is not generally exposed to significant foreign currency risk
except in respect of its overseas operations in Indiawhich generate
exposure tomovements in the INR/GBP exchange rates.TheGroup seeks
tomitigate the effect of this exposure by entering forward currency
contracts (in the formofNon-deliverable ForwardContracts (NDFs)) to fix
theGBP cost of highly probable forecast transactions denominated in INR.
These non-deliverable forward contracts are designated as cash flow
hedges and it is theGroup’s policy to negotiate the termsof the hedge
derivatives tomatch the termsof the hedged items inorder tomaximise
hedge effectiveness.

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of Directors
Under theCompaniesAct 2006, companies are under anobligation to
disclose any indemnitieswhich are in force in favour of their directors.
The currentArticles ofAssociationof theCompany contain an indemnity in
favour of theDirectors of theCompanywhich indemnifies them in respect
of certain liabilities and costs that theymight incur in the executionof their
duties as Directors.Copies of the relevant extract fromtheArticles of
Association are available for inspection at the registeredoffice of the
Companyduring normal business hours on anyweekday andwill be
available at the venueof theAnnualGeneralMeeting from 15minutes
before themeeting until it ends.
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Auditors
A resolution to re-appoint Ernst&Young LLP as theAuditorswill be put
forward at the forthcomingAnnualGeneralMeeting.

TheCompany is committed to ensuring appropriate independence in its
relationshipwith theAuditors and the key safeguards are:

• TheGroup FinanceDirectormonitors the independenceof theAuditors as
part of theGroup’s assessmentof auditor effectiveness and reports to the
AuditCommittee

• TheAuditCommittee routinely benchmarks the level of theAudit fee
against other comparable companies bothwithin andoutsideof its sector,
to ensureongoingobjectivity in the audit process

• TheGroup FinanceDirectormonitors the level and natureof non-audit
fees accruing to theAuditors, and specific assignments are discussed in
advancewith theAuditors and flagged for the approval of theAudit
Committee as appropriate and in accordancewith theCompany’s policy
on the provisionof non-audit services by theAuditors.TheAudit
Committee reviews, in aggregate, non-audit fees of this natureon an
annual basis and considers implications for theobjectivity and
independenceof the relationshipwith theAuditor.

Ensuring conflicts of interest are avoided is a fundamental criterion in the
selectionof any third party auditor for assignmentswithwhich theGroup is
involved. Such conflictsmay arise across public or private sector customers
and key supplier relationships, for example, and are a keydeterminant in
the award process for external audit assignments.

Powers of Directors
The business of theCompany shall bemanaged by theDirectorswho are
subject to the provisions of theCompaniesAct, theMemorandumand
theArticles ofAssociationof theCompany and to anydirections given by
special resolution, including theCompany’s power to repurchase its
own shares.

TheCompany’sArticles ofAssociationmayonly be amended by a special
resolutionof theCompany’s shareholders.

Change of control
All of theCompany’s share schemes contain provisions relating to a change
of control.Outstandingoptions and awardswould normally vest and
become exercisable on a changeof control, subject to the satisfactionof
any performance conditions at that time.

TheGroup has a numberof borrowing facilities provided byvarious banks
andother financial institutions.The bonds issued by theGroup contain a
changeof control provisionwhich requires theGroup tooffer to prepay the
bonds in full if a changeof control event occurs and theGroup is unable to
obtain an investment grade credit rating.

There are noother significant contracts in place thatwould take effect,
alter or terminateon the changeof control of theCompany.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial
statements and auditors
Company law requires theDirectors to prepare financial statements for
each financial year that give a true and fair viewof the stateof affairs of the
Company andof theGroup andof the profit or loss of theGroup for that
period. In preparing those accounts, theDirectors are required to:

– Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently

–Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent

– Statewhether applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject to anymaterial departures disclosed and explained in the
accounts

– Prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate
to presume that theGroupwill continue in business.

To the best of eachDirector’s knowledge and belief, there is no information
relevant to the preparationof their report ofwhich theCompany’sAuditors
are unaware.

Eachof theDirectors has taken all steps that aDirectormight reasonably
be expected to have taken to be awareof all relevant audit information and
to establish that theCompany’sAuditors are awareof that information.

TheDirectors confirm that the financial statements complywith the above
requirements.

TheDirectors are responsible for keeping proper accounting recordswhich
disclosewith reasonable accuracy at anytime the financial positionof
theGroup and enable themto ensure that the accounts complywith the
CompaniesAct 2006.They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of theGroup and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detectionof fraud andother irregularities.

To the best of eachDirector’s knowledge, the financial statements
containedwithin this 2008Annual Report andAccounts give a true and fair
viewof the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the
Group and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a
whole; and theDirectors’ report includes a fair reviewof thedevelopment
and performanceof the business and the positionof the issuer and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as awhole, togetherwith
adescriptionof the principal risks and uncertainties that they face. Details
of the principal risks and uncertainties can be foundon page 32.

Annual General Meeting
The 2009AnnualGeneralMeeting (AGM)of theCompanywill be held at
Deutsche Bank,Winchester House, 1GreatWinchester Street, London
EC2N2DB, on 6May 2009.At theAGManumberof resolutionswill be
proposed.The resolutions are set out in theNoticeofMeeting,whichwas
sent to shareholderswith the 2008Annual Report andAccounts and
includes notes explaining the business to be transacted. InMay 2008,
shareholders granted authority for theCompany to purchase up to 60.82m
ordinary shareswhichwill expire at the conclusionof the 2009AGM.
A resolution to renew this authoritywill be put to shareholders at that
meeting.

At theAGM inMay 2009 theDirectors are proposing that the nameof the
Company be changed toCapita plcwith effect from31December 2009.
This brings our name in linewithour branding andmarketing strategy.
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As required bySection 420of theCompaniesAct 2006, theDirectors
present the report onDirectors’ remuneration for the year ended
31December 2008. In accordancewith the requirements the report
provides thedisclosure in 2 parts: information that is not subject to
audit and information that is subject to audit.

The following information is not subject to audit.

Executive summary
This summary provides anoverviewofDirectors’ remuneration in 2008
andoutlines the changes to the previous year.

The introductionof a new long term incentive plan (LTIP 2008)was
approved at the lastAnnualGeneralMeeting.Although long term
incentives had been in place previously, there had been no grants to
our ExecutiveDirectors since 2004.The performanceof awards thatwill
vest under this planwill bedetermined by the following schedule:

EPS growthof RPI + 4%per annum– 20%of the awardvests

EPS growthof RPI +16%per annum– 100%of the awardvests

Straight-line vestingoccurs between these 2 points.

These are also subject to the share price performance.Theoptionwill lapse
if the performance conditions are notmet. See page 73 for details.

The grantsmade under this LongTerm Incentive planwere:
Director Numberof options

Paul Pindar 165,000
PaddyDoyle 120,000
Simon Pilling 120,000
GordonHurst 120,000
Maggi Bell 30,000

Maggi Bell’s awardof 30,000options under this planwasmade prior to her
promotion to the Board.

Base salaries
Individual salary increases for 2008were between 4%and 7%for
ExecutiveDirectors in 2008 andvaried by individual basedon external
benchmarking, changes in their role and considerationof awardsmade
within the businesses.

Due to the current volatile economic climate the basic salaries of Executive
Directors, Non-ExecutiveDirectors and seniormanagement have been
held at 2008 levels, apart fromthose in executive positionswho have been
promotedor changed their responsibilities.

Annual bonuses
In 2008 the bonus awarded to each ExecutiveDirectorwas 140%of base
salary as full achievementof the stretch targetwasmet.Thiswas split
between 70%of the award payable in cash and the remaining 70%
compulsorily placed into theDeferredAnnual Bonus plan.TheDeferred
Annual Bonus plan also included amatching awardof up to 1.5 shares for
eachdeferred sharedependenton the requirement tomeet performance
criteria.The bonuses areonly awardedon the achievementof a set target
on the profit before tax.These targets are set by the Remuneration
Committee and approved by the Board.

Theoverall package isweighted towards long term share based incentives
which strongly links the interests of the ExecutiveDirectorswith thoseof
the shareholders in respect of shareholder value.

Maggi Bellwas appointedduring the year and her remuneration package
was reviewed for the period beginning 1 January 2009 and thiswill be
disclosed in the 2009 financial statements.

Summary table of remuneration for 2008 for Executive Directors

*fromdate of appointment

Remuneration strategy and policy for Executive Directors
The table below showsour remuneration strategy and policy for our
ExecutiveDirectors and howthese link to the packageof remuneration:

Strategy Policy Package

To provide a remuneration
package that:

Capita’s RemunerationCommittee is satisfied that the remuneration policy
is appropriate, particularlywith regard to total executive remuneration and
Group performance.TheCommittee plans to continue to pursue this
approach in its future remuneration policy.Consistentwith this principle,
approximately half of an Executive’s target total remuneration is
performance-linked andweighted to the long term.This percentage
increases in the caseof performance above target. For further information
regarding the remuneration strategy for Directors and thewiderworkforce
please see page 37.
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Remuneration Committee membership
Martina KingwasChairpersonof the RemunerationCommittee throughout
the year.Membershipof the RemunerationCommitteeduring the year is
shown below.

TheCommitteemet 5 times and the attendance is shown below:
NameofDirector Numberofmeetings attended

Martina King 5
EricWalters 4
BillGrimsey 4
Martin Bolland (appointed 1October 2008) 2
PeterCawdron (retired 30September 2008) 3

Terms of reference
The RemunerationCommittee has formal termsof reference and these are
agreed by the Board.These include:

– Setting and reviewing performance targets

–Determining remuneration and benefits for ExecutiveDirectors and
seniormanagement

–Determining contractual terms for ExecutiveDirectors

–Grantingof long term incentive planoptions.

TheCommittee also considers the remuneration packageswithin the
organisationwhen reviewing the ExecutiveDirectors’ remuneration.

The termsof reference for theCommittee are reviewed annually
and updated as required.Thesewere reviewed inNovember 2008
and amended termsof referencewere recommended and approved
by the Board.These are available atwww.capita.co.uk/investors or
copies can be requested fromtheCompanySecretary.

Advisers to the Committee
During 2008 theCommittee sought advice fromPricewaterhouseCoopers
(PwC), the remuneration advisers, as required. Paul Pindarwas invited to
provide further information to theCommitteeon the performance and
proposed remuneration for the ExecutiveDirectors andother senior
management.

PwC also provide services in respect of overseas tax compliance and also
other adhoc tax projects and share plans.

Combined Code
TheCompany has compliedwith the provisions set out inSection Bof the
CombinedCode Principles ofGoodGovernance andCodeof Best Practice.

TheCommittee also reviewed the remuneration strategy and policies
against the Financial ServicesAuthority guidance, sent out inOctober
2008, and confirms that theCompany’s policies are in linewith this
guidance.

Comparison ofTotal Shareholder Returns
The following chart compares the valueof an investmentof £100 in the
Company’s shareswith an investmentof the same amount in the FTSEAll
Share Index and the FTSE 350Support Services Indexover the 5years
starting 1 January 2004 and ending 31December 2008 assuming that all
dividend income is reinvested.TheCommittee is of theopinion that this
comparison provides a clear pictureof the performanceof theGroup
relative to both awide rangeof companies in theUnited Kingdomand also
a specific groupof companieswithin the same sector.

Capita vs. FTSE All Share Index and FTSE 350 Support Services Index,
Value of investment of £100 on 1 January 2004.

A£100 investment inCapita shares on 1 January 2004would beworth
£330 at 31December 2008 compared to £119 for an investment in the
FTSEAll Share Index and £106 for an investment in the FTSE 350Support
Services Index.

Elements of remuneration
Basic salary and benefits
TheCommittee regularly commissions independent reviewsof the salaries
and benefits of the ExecutiveDirectors.The policy adopted by the
Committee requires that basic salaries and benefits be below those
provided to comparable roles in comparable companies to enable the
provisionof a higher performance-related elementof remuneration.

This low basic salary policy allows theDirectors to provide a lead in terms
of keeping fixed remuneration costs low across theGroup as awhole and is
reflective of theGroup’s remuneration policy in general.The continued
success of theGroup has enabled it to provide the benefits of a highly
geared reward structurewhichdelivers a competitive total remuneration
package.

Annual bonus
Themaximumannual bonus potential for ExecutiveDirectors is 140%of
salary.The valueof the annual bonus is determined at the start of the
financial year and payment triggered at a pre-determinedGroup profit
before tax target.

Half of the annual bonus entitlementwill be paid in cash and the remainder
will be compulsorily deferredon a gross-basis intoCapitaShares (Deferred
Shares).

Non-Executive Directors
Non-ExecutiveDirectors’ fees reflect the time, commitment and
responsibilities of the role.They are reviewed annually anddetermined
by the ExecutiveDirectors.The fees paid to theNon-Executives include
considerationof all the responsibilities that they are asked to undertake.
TheNon-Executives have equal responsibilities and therefore receive
equal pay.

Non-ExecutiveDirectors are paid an annual fee and in 2008 thiswas
set at £42,500.They are not paid further amounts for specific duties and
responsibilities, such as chairing a committee. EricWalters is paid £105,000
per annumasChairmanof theGroup.

Service contracts
The service contracts for ExecutiveDirectors are for an indefinite period and
provide for a 1 year notice period.Theydo not include provisions for
predetermined compensationon termination that exceed 1 year’s salary
and benefits.There are no arrangements in place between theCompany
and its Directors that provide for compensation for loss of office following a
takeover bid.

Directors’ remuneration report
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All Directors are appointed for an indefinite period but are subject to
re-election at theAnnualGeneralMeeting every 3years.

Details of the contracts are set out below:
ExecutiveDirectors Dateof contract Notice period

Paul Pindar 17December 2007 12months
GordonHurst 17December 2007 12months
PaddyDoyle 17December 2007 12months
Simon Pilling 17December 2007 12months
Maggi Bell 1August 2008 12months

Non-ExecutiveDirectors Dateof Joining the Board

EricWalters 1 January 2001
Martin Bolland 1March 2008
Martina King 1 January 2005
BillGrimsey 9October 2006
*PeterCawdronwas appointed to the Board on 1 September 1997 and retired from the Board on
30September 2008

Share Plans
DeferredAnnual Bonus Plan (DAB)
TheDeferredAnnual Bonus Planwas approved and adopted at theAnnual
GeneralMeetingon 28April 2005.TheDAB is comprisedof Deferred
Shares,which formpart of the annual bonus scheme, andMatchingShares.

TheCommittee believes that this plan focuses participants ondelivering
strongyear-on-year annual performance,whichwill in turndrive long term
shareholder value creation. ExecutiveDirectors andDivisional Directors are
eligible to participate in theDAB.

InMarch 2008, an aggregateof 142,985DeferredShareswere awarded to
ExecutiveDirectors (includingMaggi Bell) at a price of £6.56, being the
market price determined, as detailedon page 75.

TheDABoperates as follows:

The valueof DeferredShares is determined by the entitlement under the
annual bonus scheme: half of the bonus entitlement is paid in cash and the
remainder is deferred, on a gross basis, intodeferred shares.TheDeferred
Shares are held for a periodof 3years fromthedateof award.They areonly
forfeited in the caseof dismissal for grossmisconduct.

A conditional awardofMatchingShares ismade at the same time as the
awardof DeferredShares. Participants are eligible to receive up to 1.5
matching shares for everyDeferredShare.MatchingShares vest after the
3year holding period to the extent towhich performance criteria have
beenmet. During the year an aggregateof 214,476MatchingShareswere
awarded to ExecutiveDirectors (includingMaggi Bell) as detailedon page
75 and subject to the following performance conditions.

TheCommittee has decided that the performance condition thatwill apply
to theMatchingShares is earnings per share (EPS) growth against theUK
Retail Price Index (RPI).TheCommittee believes that long term EPS growth
is themost appropriate performance condition for theCompany as it is a
key indicator of shareholder value creation.The EPS based performance
conditions are as follows.The proportionof awards that vestwill be
determined by the following schedule:

– EPS growthof RPI + 6%per annum–33%of the awardvests

– EPS growthof RPI + 16%per annum– 100%of the awardvests

–Straight line vestingoccurs between these points.

The performance conditions attached to theMatchingShares awardsmade
under the bonus schememay be amended by theCommittee fromtime to
time, subject to the newperformance condition being no less demanding
than theoriginal condition.

LongTerm Incentive Plan (2008 LTIP)
The 2008 LTIPwas approved and adopted at theAnnualGeneralMeeting
on 6May 2008. In calculating the LTIP awards granted to Executive
Directors, theCommittee considered that a fixed numberof shares
approachwas preferable to fixing awards as a percentageof salary.

On 7May 2008, an aggregateof 555,000 shareswere awarded to the
ExecutiveDirectors (includingMaggi Bell), as detailedon page 75.

Thevestingof awardsmadeduring 2008will dependon share price growth
and EPS growth targetsmeasuredover a 3year period.An awardwill not
vest ifCapita’s average share price at thedateof vesting is below the
average share price at thedateof grant.

The proportionof awards that vestwill bedetermined by the following
schedule:

– EPS growthof RPI + 4%per annum– 20%of the awardvests

– EPS growthof RPI + 16%per annum– 100%of the awardvests

–Straight line vestingoccurs between these points.

TheCommitteemayvary the performance conditions if it considers
that theoriginal conditions are not appropriate and a fairmeasureof
performance.Where the performance conditions are notmet, the award
will lapse.Therewill be no re-testingof performance.

CapitaShareOwnership Plan (CSOP)
TheCSOP is open to all employeesof theCompany under certain eligibility
criteria, including ExecutiveDirectors.Under the plan, eligible employees
may invest up to £125 permonth in theCompany’s shares and the
Companymatches these at a ratio of 1MatchingShare for every
10 ParticipantShares.

Save as you Earn (SAYE)
TheSAYE is open to all employeesof theCompany, including Executive
Directors, under certain eligibility criteria,.Under theSAYE employees can
save up to £250 permonth for a periodof 3years and purchase shares at
the price set at the beginningof the savings period.

ExecutiveShareScheme
The 1997 ExecutiveShareOptionScheme (including bothHMRC approved
and unapproved elements) is a discretionary scheme for seniormanagers,
inwhich the ExecutiveDirectors no longer participate.

Options granted under the 1997 ExecutiveShareOptionScheme become
exercisable if the growth in theCompany’s EPS exceeds growth in RPI by
8%over the 3year period fromthedateof grant.

LongTerm IndexedShareAppreciationScheme (LTISAS)
The LTISASwasonlyopen to the ExecutiveDirectors andDivisional
Directors.Under the scheme, participantswere providedwith 2 equal
tranchesof 600,000options.The criteriawere the same for eachof these
grants and therefore both tranches had performance periods that endedon
31December 2006.The exercise price of theoptionwas adjusted in line
with themovement in the FTSEAll Share Index fromthedateof grant to
25November 2007.The adjusted exercise priceswere £3.48 for the 2002
award and £4.74 for the 2004 award.This feature ensured that participants
only gained if the share price out-performed the index.

As growth in theCompany’s EPSover the 3year period to 31December
2006 exceeded RPI growth by 17.6%, 100%of theoptions vested
(representing 1,200,000 shares per participant) and became exercisable on
25November 2007.

The last award under the LTISASwasmade inNovember 2004 andvested
in full on 31December 2006 and no further awards haveorwill bemade
under this plan.

Satisfaction of options
When satisfying awardsmade under its share plans and long term incentive
plans, theCompany uses newly issued, treasury shares or purchased shares
as appropriate.

Dilution
All awards aremade under plans that incorporatedilution limits as set out
in theGuidelines for Share IncentiveSchemes published by theAssociation
of British Insurers.The current estimateddilution from subsisting awards,
including executive and all-employee share awards, is approximately 9.1%
of theCompany’s share capital as at 31December 2008.
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The following information is subject to audit

Directors’ remuneration
The remunerationof theDirectors, excluding gainsmadeon the exercise of options, ismade up as follows:

Gainon Gainon
Performance exercise exercise

Salary and related Total Total of options of options Pension Pension
fees Benefits bonus 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EricWalters1 105,000 – – 105,000 100,000 – – – –
Paul Pindar 375,000 1,248 525,000 901,248 880,210 8,955,632 – 18,750 18,518
GordonHurst 257,000 17,148 385,000 659,148 605,079 38,495 4,151,912 46,270 53,703
PaddyDoyle 266,069 20,451 420,000 706,520 641,582 1,356,000 2,782,700 63,199 71,502
Simon Pilling 248,333 15,363 371,000 634,696 590,022 – 3,562,440 43,617 38,810
Maggi Bell2 85,417 6,410 287,000 378,827 – – – – –
Martin Bolland1and2 35,417 – – 35,417 – – – – –
Martina King1 42,500 – – 42,500 40,000 – – – –
BillGrimsey1 42,500 – – 42,500 40,000 – – – –
PeterCawdron1 31,875 – – 31,875 40,000 – – – –

Directors’ interests
31 December 2008 31December 2007

or date of appointment or dateof appointment
if later if later

ordinary shares ordinary shares
of 21/5p of 21/5p

EricWalters1 51,158 50,230
Paul Pindar 1,451,612 1,451,612
GordonHurst 10,181 10,181
PaddyDoyle 26,741 26,497
Simon Pilling 0 0
Maggi Bell 0 0
Martin Bolland1and2 12,500 0
Martina King1 0 0
BillGrimsey1 12,209 12,209
PeterCawdron1 – 23,225

Directors’ remuneration
2008 2007

£000s £000s

Basic salaries 1,227 1,038
Compensation 0 0
Benefits 61 76
Annual Bonus 1,988 1,603
Pension contributions to theGroup’s defined contribution scheme – 53
Pension contributions to external defined contribution pension schemes – 130
Fees 257 220
Total 3,533 3,120
1Non-Executive Directors.
2 Maggi Bell andMartin Bolland’s information is at date of appointment to the Board to the end of the financial period.

The sumdisclosed above represents the total value of the performance related bonus payable in respect of the year ended 31 December 2008. 50%will be
paid in cash and the remainderwill be settled through the issue of Deferred Shares as explained on page 73.

In addition, bywayof salary sacrifice, the base salaries ofGordonHurst, PaddyDoyle andSimon Pilling have been reduced by £18,000 (2007: £36,000),
£33,931 (2007: £50,897) and £16,666 (2007: £20,000) respectively and paid into separate defined contribution schemes.

The benefits ofGordonHurst, PaddyDoyle andSimon Pilling are in respect of private health insurance and the provision of a company car allowance.The
benefits of Paul Pindar, the highest paid Director, are in respect of a company car and private health insurance.

Paul Pindarwas released by theCompany to serve as aNon-Executive Director of Debenhams Plcwith effect from9May 2006. He receives £50,000 per
annum in fees fromDebenhams Plcwhich he retains.

Directors’ remuneration report
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Share plan awards
DeferredAnnual Bonus Plan (DAB)
Details regarding theDAB can be foundon page 73.The informationon page 73 is unaudited.The valueof theDeferredShares is included in the
Performance Related Bonus figure in the first table on page 74.

At Matching
1 January 2008 Awarded Shares At

or dateof in the awarded in 31 December
appointment year the year 2008

Paul Pindar 213,782 37,881 56,821 308,484
PaddyDoyle 169,767 29,878 44,817 244,462
GordonHurst 153,697 27,743 41,614 223,054
Simon Pilling 123,217 26,676 40,014 189,907
Maggi Bell* 171,779 171,779
*At date of appointment

Themarket price on thedateof the awardwas £6.56.

LongTerm Incentive Plan (2008 LTIP)
At At

1 January Dateof Awarded in Vesting 31 December
2008 award theyear date 2008

Paul Pindar – 07.05.08 165,000 07.05.11 165,000
PaddyDoyle – 07.05.08 120,000 07.05.11 120,000
GordonHurst – 07.05.08 120,000 07.05.11 120,000
Simon Pilling – 07.05.08 120,000 07.05.11 120,000
Maggi Bell* 30,000* 07.05.08 – 07.05.11 30,000
*At date of appointment.

Details regarding the 2008 LTIP can be foundon page 73.The informationon page 73 is unaudited.

Themarket price on thedateof grant for this awardwas £6.83.

Capita Share Ownership Plan
PaddyDoyle participated in theCapitaShareOwnership Planduring 2008.As a result of his participation, hewas awarded 22MatchingShares during the
period to 31December 2008.The ParticipantShares andMatchingShares are included in the table of Directors’ interests in shares on page 74.

Capita Sharesave Scheme
TheDirectors’ interests in theCapitaSharesaveScheme are listed below:

Market
Exercise At price At

price 1 January Granted Exercised at exercise 31December
£ 2008 in year in year £ 2008 Exercisable between

PaddyDoyle1 7.33 1,289 0 0 1,289 01.11.10 to 30.04.11

GordonHurst2 1.88 8,430 0 8,430 £6.45 0
1The exercise price quoted abovewas set at 100%of themarket price at the date of grant.
2 The exercise price quoted abovewas set at 80%of themarket price at the date of grant.

There are no performance criteria to be satisfied under this scheme.

1997 Executive Share Option Scheme
TheDirectors’ interests in the 1997 ExecutiveShareOptionScheme are listed below:

Market
Exercise At price At

price 1 January Granted Exercised at exercise 31December
£ 2008 in year in year £ 2008 Exercisable between

Paul Pindar 4.49 200,000 0 200,000 6.80 0
4.36 100,000 0 100,000 6.80 0

Maggi Bell* 4.36 75,000* 0 0 75,000 22.02.05 to 22.03.09

*At date of appointment.

Details of the performance conditions attached to options granted under the 1997Scheme can be foundon page 73.The information on page 73
is unaudited.

Nooptions under this scheme have been granted to Board Directors since 2002.

Themarket value of an ordinary share of the company at 31 December 2008was 738p, and the high and lowvalues for the yearwere 769.5p and 590.5p
respectively.
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LongTerm Indexed Share Appreciation Scheme
The ExecutiveDirectors’ interests in the LTISAS are listed below:

Price Final Market
at dateof exercise At price At
of grant price 1 January Exercised at exercise 31December

Dateof award £ £ 2008 in year £ 2008 Exercisable between

Paul Pindar 25.11.2002 2.16 3.48 600,000 600,000 7.15 0
25.11.2004 3.51 4.74 600,000 600,000 25.11.2007 to 25.11.2012

PaddyDoyle 25.11.2004 3.51 4.74 600,000 600,000 7.00 0

The grant pricewas calculated based on the average of the closing share price over themonth prior to the date of grant.The exercise price of the options
increased in linewith the FTSEAll Share Index,measured from the date of grant to 25November 2007.The adjusted exercise prices are set out above.

PaddyDoyle exercised LTISASoptions, as specified above, on 24 June 2008, selling all resulting shares.The closingmarket price on the day of exercise
was 698p.

Details of the performance conditions attached to awardsmade under the LTISAS can be foundon page 73.The information on page 73 is unaudited.

At 31 December 2008, themarket price for aCapita sharewas 738p.

LongTerm Investment Plan
Awards under the LTIPwere structured either as RestrictedShareAwardsor Indexed PerformanceShareAppreciation Rights (IPSARs).The last Restricted
ShareAwards and awardsof IPSARs vested in full inMay 2001 and 2003 respectively. No further awardsweremade under the LTIP.Onlyone awardof
IPSARswasmade.The performance requirements in respect of the IPSARsweremet in full on 4May 2003 and the IPSARs are exercisable at a price of 169p
per share.

IPSARs
Number Number
of shares Market of shares at
1 January Vesting Exercised price at 31December

2008 date in year exercise 2008

Paul Pindar 1,200,000 5.05.2003 1,200,000 6.805 0

Pensions
Pension contributions aremade into theGroup’s defined contribution scheme.TheCompanymakes contributions at a rateof 5%of basic salary.Gordon
Hurst, Simon Pilling and PaddyDoylemade additional contributions, bywayof salary sacrifice in the year, to a separate executive defined contribution
scheme.

Changes in Directors’ interests
Between the endof the financial year and 25 February 2009, PaddyDoyle acquired 39 shares under theCapitaShareOwnership Plan, increasing his
beneficial interest in ordinary shares of theCompany to 26,780.

The remuneration report has been approved by the Board and has been signedon behalf of the Board by:

EricWalters Martina King
Non-ExecutiveChairman Chairpersonof the RemunerationCommittee
25 February 2009 25 February 2009

TheDirectors’ report frompages 01-76was approved by the Board and has been signedon behalf of the Board by:

GordonHurst
CompanySecretary
25 February 2009

Directors’ remuneration report
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Consolidated income statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2008 

 2008 2007

 Notes
Underlying 

£m

Amortisation
and callable

swaps
£m 

Total
£m

Underlying 
£m 

Amortisation
and callable

swaps
£m

Total
£m

Continuing operations:        
Revenue 3 2,441.4 – 2,441.4 2,073.3 – 2,073.3
Cost of sales 1,757.8 – 1,757.8 1,498.5 – 1,498.5

Gross profit 683.6 – 683.6 574.8 – 574.8
Administrative expenses 362.7 18.6 381.3 303.5 9.7 313.2

Operating profit 6 320.9 (18.6) 302.3 271.3 (9.7) 261.6
Net finance costs 8 (43.5) (32.0) (75.5) (34.1) – (34.1)
Investment (loss)/income 4 (0.2) – (0.2) 1.2 – 1.2

Profit before tax 277.2 (50.6) 226.6 238.4 (9.7) 228.7
Income tax expense 9 (74.9) 14.1 (60.8) (66.0) 3.5 (62.5)

Profit for the year 202.3 (36.5) 165.8 172.4 (6.2) 166.2

Attributable to:  

Equity holders of the parent 202.3 (36.5) 165.8 172.4 (6.2) 166.2

Earnings per share 10  
– basic  33.26p (6.00)p 27.26p 28.10p (1.01)p 27.09p
– diluted 32.96p (5.95)p 27.01p 27.63p (0.99)p 26.64p
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Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense 
for the year ended 31 December 2008 

Notes  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit pension schemes 31  (48.1) 25.4
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations   5.9 1.1
Gains on cash flow hedges 24  20.1 5.6
Tax on items taken directly to equity 9  23.3 (5.0)

Net income recognised directly in equity   1.2 27.1
Profit for the year   165.8 166.2

Total income and expense for the period   167.0 193.3

Attributable to:   
Equity holders of the parent   167.0 193.3
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Consolidated balance sheet 
at 31 December 2008 

Notes  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment 12  238.3 193.4
Intangible assets 13  907.0 745.7
Financial assets 15  332.4 60.6
Trade and other receivables 17  8.1 11.1
Employee benefits 31  – 20.3
Deferred taxation 9  3.0 1.4

   1,488.8 1,032.5

Current assets   
Financial assets 15  5.2 0.9
Trade and other receivables 17  583.6 456.4
Cash  18  86.7 0.8

   675.5 458.1

Total assets   2,164.3 1,490.6

Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 19  690.4 556.9
Financial liabilities 21  116.5 57.7
Provisions 23  2.3 1.8
Income tax payable    40.4 36.3

   849.6 652.7

Non-current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 19  9.6 9.2
Financial liabilities 21  882.7 480.2
Provisions 23  1.0 0.8
Employee benefits 31  24.5 15.9

   917.8 506.1

Total liabilities   1,767.4 1,158.8

Net assets   396.9 331.8

Capital and reserves   
Issued share capital 25  12.8 12.6
Share premium 27  410.4 374.9
Employee Benefit Trust 25  (0.2) –
Capital redemption reserve 27  1.8 1.8
Foreign currency translation 27  6.6 0.7
Net unrealised gains reserve 27  18.5 4.0
Retained earnings 27  (53.0) (62.2)

Equity shareholders’ funds   396.9 331.8

Minority interest 27  – –

Total equity   396.9 331.8

Included in aggregate financial liabilities is an amount of £953.1m (2007: £461.1m) which represents the fair value of the Group’s bonds which should be 
considered in conjunction with the aggregate value of currency and interest rate swaps of £274.3m included in financial assets (2007: £19.1m included in 
financial liabilities and £1.1m in financial assets; aggregate £18.0m). Consequently, this gives an effective liability of £678.8m (2007: £479.1m). 

The accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 February 2009 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

 

P R M Pindar   G M Hurst 
Chief Executive   Group Finance Director
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2008 

Notes  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Cash flows from operating activities   
Operating profit on continuing activities before interest and taxation   302.3 261.6
Depreciation 12  50.0 46.1
Amortisation of other intangible assets (treated as depreciation) 13  1.5 1.5
Amortisation of intangible assets created on acquisition 13  18.6 9.7
Share based payment expense 26  9.2 8.6
Pension charge 31  19.3 15.2
Pension contributions 31  (28.5) (21.0)
Loss/(profit)on sale of property, plant and equipment   1.1 (0.1)
Investment loss 4  0.2 –
Movement in provisions   (2.2) 0.9
Increase in receivables   (90.7) (71.4)
Increase in payables   111.2 82.9

Cash generated from operations before exceptional additional pension contribution   392.0 334.0
Income tax paid   (48.6) (45.8)
Exceptional additional pension contribution 31  (10.0) –
Net interest paid   (38.4) (31.9)

Cash generated from operations after income tax, interest and exceptional additional pension contribution   295.0 256.3

Net cash used in investing activities   
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12  (86.4) (67.9)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   0.3 1.0
Purchase of intangible fixed assets 13  – (5.0)
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings and businesses   (188.4) (94.7)
Cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings   8.9 4.4
Disposal/(purchase) of financial assets  15  23.1 (4.4)
Investment loan  15  (6.2) (16.6)
Return on investment in joint venture 4/15  0.1 –

   (248.6) (183.2)

Net cash from financing activities   
Issue of ordinary share capital 27  35.7 67.2
Share buybacks 27  (68.4) (43.9)
Share transaction costs 27  (0.4) (0.5)
Dividends paid 11  (78.0) (218.6)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments 28  (0.2) (0.4)
Instalment debtor movement 28  0.7 20.4
Asset based securitised financing 28  – (17.8)
Repayment of loan notes and long term loans 28  (3.3) (34.6)
Proceeds on issue of bonds 28  200.2 100.9
Financing arrangement costs 21  (0.7) (0.3)

   85.6 (127.6)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   132.0 (54.5)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period   (45.3) 9.2

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December   86.7 (45.3)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:   
Overdraft 21  – (46.1)
Cash at bank and in hand 18  86.7 0.8

Total   86.7 (45.3)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2008 

1 Corporate information 
The consolidated financial statements of The Capita Group Plc for the year ended 31 December 2008 were authorised for issue in accordance with  
a resolution of the Directors on 25 February 2009. The Capita Group Plc is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales whose shares  
are publicly traded. 

The principal activities of the Group are given in the business review on pages 54-60.  

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
(a) Statement of compliance  
The consolidated financial statements of The Capita Group Plc and all of its subsidiaries (the Group) have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985 and 
2006.  

The parent company continues to apply UK GAAP in the preparation of its individual financial statements and these are contained on pages 119-130. 

(b) Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under IFRS where certain financial instruments and the pension assets and liabilities have been 
measured at fair value. The carrying value of recognised assets and liabilities that are hedged are adjusted to record changes in the fair values attributable 
to the risks that are being hedged. The consolidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest tenth 
of a million (£m) except when otherwise indicated. 

(c) Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of The Capita Group Plc and its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year.  
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies,  
but in accordance with UK GAAP. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist between IFRS and UK GAAP. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the Directors’ to make judgements and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported income and expense during the reported periods. Although these judgements and assumptions are based on the Directors’ best knowledge  
of the amount, events or actions, actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are the measurement and impairment of goodwill and the measurement of defined benefit obligations and defined benefit 
assets . The measurement of intangible assets other than goodwill on a business combination involves estimation of future cash flows and the selection  
of a suitable discount rate. The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired on an annual basis and thus requires an estimation of the value in use of 
the cash generating units to which the intangible assets are allocated. This involves estimation of future cash flows and choosing a suitable discount rate 
(see note 14). Measurement of defined benefit obligations requires estimation of future changes in salaries and inflation, as well as mortality rates, the 
expected return on assets and the selection of a suitable discount rate (see note 31).  

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intragroup transactions, have been eliminated in full. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group until control is transferred out of the Group. Where there is a loss 
of control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the reporting year during which The Capita Group Plc 
has control. 

(d) Changes in accounting policies 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows: 

The Group has adopted the following new amendments to IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during the year. Adoption of these amendments and 
interpretations did not have any effect on the financial statements of the Group. 

• Reclassification of Financial Assets – Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

• IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements 

The principal effects of these changes are as follows: 

Reclassification of Financial Assets – Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures These amendments to the standards, issued in October 2008, permit an entity to reclassify non-derivative financial assets 
(other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss by the entity upon initial recognition) out of the fair value through profit or loss category 
in particular circumstances. The amendments also permit an entity to transfer from the available-for-sale category to the loans and receivables category a 
financial asset that would have met the definition of loans and receivables (if the financial asset had not been designated as available for sale), if the entity 
has the intention and ability to hold that financial asset for the foreseeable future. These amendments, which are effective from 1 July 2008, have had no 
impact on the financial statements of the Group. 

IFRIC 12 – Service Concession Arrangements This interpretation, which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008, provides 
guidance on the application of existing International Financial Reporting Standards on the accounting by operators for public-to-private service concession 
arrangements. Service concession arrangements are arrangements whereby a government or other body grants contracts for the supply of public services, 
such as roads, energy distribution, prisons or hospitals, to private operators. Adoption of this interpretation has had no impact on the financial statements 
of the Group. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(e) Revenue 
Revenue is earned within the United Kingdom, Europe, India and South-East Asia. 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  
Other than in respect of service contracts, described below, and where the Group is acting as lessor (see (v)), revenue represents fee income recognised  
in respect of services provided during the period (stated net of value added tax). 

For time and materials contracts which are those where Capita provide staff to customers at hourly or daily rates, revenue is recognised on the basis  
of time worked. 

Revenue on contracts where there is an ongoing service (e.g. life and pension policy administration, hardware maintenance) is recognised over the  
period during which the service is provided. 

Contracts where there are distinguishable components are separated and revenue is recognised individually on the basis that each component can  
be reliably estimated. Revenues and costs relating to each element are recognised simultaneously. 

(f) Service contracts 
(i) Brownfield outsourcing contracts – Brownfield contracts are where there is a transfer of an existing operation to the Group. For brownfield  
contracts all costs incurred prior to service commencement are expensed as incurred and revenue represents fee income in respect of services provided. 

(ii) Greenfield outsourcing contracts – A greenfield contract is one in which an entirely new service is being established for a customer. For these 
contracts no profit is recognised until service delivery commences and is being invoiced. Upon commencement, revenue represents fees invoiced in 
respect of services provided. Direct incremental costs incurred on the contract prior to service commencement and reimbursable during the contract, 
excluding any overheads, are included in prepayments and amortised over the life of the contract. On some contracts, non-refundable payments are 
received, prior to full service commencement, on the achievement of agreed contract delivery milestones. These are recognised as revenue when earned. 

(iii) Property consultancy and transformation contracts – Revenue represents the sales value of work done in the year, including fees invoiced and 
estimates in respect of amounts to be invoiced after the year-end. Profits are recognised on long term contracts where the final outcome can be assessed 
with reasonable certainty. In calculating this the percentage of completion method is used based on the proportion of costs incurred to the total 
estimated cost. Cost includes direct staff costs and outlays. Full provision is made for all known or anticipated losses on each contract immediately  
such losses are forecast. 

In respect of construction contracts, gross amounts due from customers are stated at the proportion of the anticipated net sales value earned to date less 
amounts billed on account. To the extent that fees paid on account exceed the value of work performed, they are included in creditors as gross amounts 
due to customers. 

(g) Foreign currency translation 
The functional and presentation currency of The Capita Group Plc and its United Kingdom subsidiaries is the pound sterling (£). Transactions in foreign 
currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the consolidated 
income statement with the exception of differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign operation. 
These are taken directly to equity until the disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those borrowings are also dealt with in equity. Non-monetary items that are measured  
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured 
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

The functional currencies of overseas operations include the euro, Indian rupee, Malaysian ringgit, and the South Korean won. As at the reporting date, the 
assets and liabilities of the overseas operations are retranslated into the presentation currency of The Capita Group Plc at the rate of exchange ruling at 
the balance sheet date and their income statements are translated at the weighted average exchange rate for the year. The exchange differences arising 
on the retranslation are taken directly to a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the deferred cumulative amount recognised 
in equity relating to that particular foreign operation shall be recognised in the income statement. 

The Group has elected not to record cumulative translation differences arising prior to the transition date as permitted by IFRS 1. In utilising this 
exemption, all cumulative translation differences are deemed to be zero as at 1 January 2004 and all subsequent disposals shall exclude any translation 
differences arising prior to the date of transition. 



84 The Capita Group Plc 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(h) Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows: 

Freehold buildings and long leasehold property – over 50 years 
Leasehold improvements – period of the lease 
Plant and equipment – 3 – 10 years 

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value 
may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down 
to their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater of net selling price and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement in the 
administrative expenses line item. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued 
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the item) is included in the income statement in the year in which the item is de-recognised. 

(i) Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs are currently recognised as an expense when incurred in accordance with the benchmark accounting treatment under IAS 23. 

(j) Goodwill 
Goodwill recognised under UK GAAP prior to the date of transition to IFRS is stated at net book value as at this date. This goodwill had been amortised  
on a straight-line basis over its useful economic life (ranging from 5 to 20 years). This was changed on transition to IFRS. Goodwill recognised subsequent 
to 1 January 2004 is, on acquisition, initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer’s interest in the 
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may be impaired. Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 31 December 1997 remains set off directly against reserves and does not get recycled through 
the income statement. 

As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash-generating units which are expected to benefit from the combination’s 
synergies. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates. Where the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Where goodwill forms part of a cash-
generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying 
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured on the 
basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

(k) Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at cost and those identified in a business acquisition are capitalised at fair value as at the date of 
acquisition. Following initial recognition, the carrying amount of an intangible asset is its cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. There were no indefinite-lived assets in 2007 or 2008. 
Amortisation is charged on assets with finite lives, this expense is taken to the income statement through the administrative expenses line item. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are only tested for impairment, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level, where there is an indicator  
of impairment.  

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statement when the asset is de-recognised. 

Intangible assets identified and recognised since transition to IFRS are profiled as follows: 

• brands are amortised evenly over their useful economic lives of 5 and 10 years 

• software and licences are amortised over their useful economic lives of 5 years 

• contracts and committed sales are amortised over their useful economic lives of between 1.5 and 15 years 

• customer lists and relationships are amortised over their useful economic lives of between 4 and 10 years 

• other intangibles are amortised over their useful economic lives of 6.5 years. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(l) Recoverable amount of non-current assets 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists, the 
Group makes a formal estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets. 

(m) Investments and other financial assets 
All investments are initially recorded at their fair value. Subsequently they are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate  
the carrying value may not be recoverable.  

Investment loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Available for sale financial assets are measured at their fair value with unrealised gains or losses being recognised directly in equity. When the investment 
is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded in equity is recognised in the income statement. 

Financial assets at fair value through the income statement (disclosed in investment income) include financial assets designated upon initial recognition  
as at fair value through the income statement. 

Financial assets may be designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the assets are part of a group of financial assets which 
are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy. 

(n) Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectable amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts  
is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off when identified. 

(o) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and short term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits with an original maturity of 3 months  
or less. 

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net  
of outstanding bank overdrafts, except where no right of set-off exists. 

(p) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value. 

After initial recognition loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is 
calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any discount or premium on settlement. 

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are de-recognised, as well as through the amortisation process. 

(q) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow  
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as  
a separate asset but only when recovery is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of any 
reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost. 

(r) Surplus properties 
The Group provides, on a discounted basis, for the future rent expense and related cost of leasehold property (net of estimated sub-lease income) where 
the space is vacant or currently not planned to be used for ongoing operations. 

(s) Pre-contract costs 
Pre-contract award bidding costs are expensed as incurred. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(t) Pension schemes 
The Group maintains a number of defined contribution pension schemes and for these schemes the Group has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income statement for the year when they are due. 

In addition, the Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme and participates in a number of other defined benefit pension schemes, all of which 
require contributions to be made to separate trustee-administered funds. The costs of providing benefits under these schemes are determined separately 
for each scheme using the projected unit credit method, which attributes entitlement to benefits to the current period (to determine current service cost) 
and to the current and prior periods (to determine the present value of the defined benefit obligation) and is based on actuarial advice. Past service costs 
are recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the changes are conditional on employees remaining in service for a specified period of time 
(the vesting period). In this case, the past service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the average vesting period. 

When a settlement (eliminating all obligations for benefits already accrued) or a curtailment (reducing future obligations as a result of a material 
reduction in the scheme membership or a reduction in future entitlement) occurs the obligation and related plan assets are remeasured using current 
actuarial assumptions and the resultant gain or loss recognised in the income statement during the period in which the settlement or curtailment occurs. 

The interest cost element of the defined benefit pension charge represents a change in the present value of scheme obligations resulting from the passage 
of time and is determined by applying the discount rate to the opening present value of the benefit obligation taking into account material changes in the 
obligation during the year. The expected return on plan assets is based on an assessment made at the beginning of the year of long term market returns 
on scheme assets, adjusted for the effect on fair value of plan assets of contributions received and benefits paid during the year. 

In respect of 3 of the defined benefit pension schemes in which the Group participates, the Group accounts for its legal and constructive obligation over 
the period of its participation which is for a fixed period only. 

Actuarial gains and losses are fully recognised in equity through the statement of recognised income and expense such that the balance sheet reflects the 
scheme’s surplus or liability at the balance sheet date. Current and past service cost are charged to operating profit with the interest cost, net of expected 
return on assets in the plans, included within administrative expenses. 

The liability on the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension schemes comprises the total for each scheme, or group of schemes, of the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation (using a discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds), less any past service cost not yet recognised 
and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly. Fair value is based on market price information and in the case 
of quoted securities is the published bid price. The value of a net pension benefit asset is restricted to the sum of any unrecognised past service costs and 
the present value of any amount the Group expects to recover by way of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions.  

(u) Derivative financial instruments 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and foreign currency contracts to hedge risks associated with interest and 
exchange rate fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. The fair values of interest rate swaps and foreign currency 
contracts are determined by reference to market rates for similar instruments.  

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either: fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a 
recognised asset or liability; or cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated 
with either a recognised asset or liability or a forecast transaction.  

In relation to fair value hedges (e.g. fixed to floating interest rate swaps held as fair value hedges against fixed interest rate borrowings) which meet  
the conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised immediately in the income 
statement. Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and recognised 
in the income statement. 

In relation to cash flow hedges the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity, while any ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the income statement when the hedged 
transaction affects the income statement, such as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is recognised or when a forecast transaction 
occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the amounts taken to equity are transferred to the initial 
carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. 

If the forecast transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in equity are transferred to the income 
statement. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, 
amounts previously recognised in equity remain in equity until the forecast transaction or firm commitment occurs. 

For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to the income statement.  

(v) Leasing  
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception date and is concerned 
with whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent upon the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use  
the asset.  

Group as a lessee: Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are 
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease 
payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income. 

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated life of the asset or the lease term. Leases where the lessor retains substantially 
all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Group as a lessor: Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating 
leases. Rental income arising from operating leases is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(w) Income tax 
Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences: 

• except where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill 

• except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,  
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss 

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, except where the timing  
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax 
assets and unused tax losses can be utilised, except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from  
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability  
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income statement. 

(x) Share based payments 
The Group operates a number of executive and employee share schemes.  

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted and is recognised 
as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is 
determined using an option pricing model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions 
linked to the price of the shares of the Company (market conditions).  

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are 
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.  

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period has expired and 
management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions, the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or,  
in the case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be treated as vesting as described above. The movement in cumulative expense since the 
previous balance sheet date is recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity.  

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified or a new award is designated as replacing a cancelled or settled award, the cost based on the 
original award terms continues to be recognised over the original vesting period. In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the new 
vesting period for the incremental fair value of any modification, based on the difference between the fair value of the original award and the fair value  
of the modified award, both as measured on the date of the modification. No reduction is recognised if this difference is negative.  

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any cost not yet recognised in the income 
statement for the award is expensed immediately. Any compensation paid up to the fair value of the award at the cancellation or settlement date is 
deducted from equity, with any excess over the fair value being treated as an expense in the income statement.  

The Group has taken advantage of the transitional provisions of IFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and has applied IFRS 2 only to equity-settled 
awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested before 1 January 2006. 

(y) Participation in Lloyd’s Market Syndicate 
Capita provides run-off administrative services to Lloyd’s Syndicates. On occasion where there is a commercial driver to do so, the Group will take an 
equity holding in a Corporate Member (a limited liability company – operating in the Lloyd’s market). 

The Group has treated this arrangement as an investment in a joint venture, whereby the Group and the other venturers have a contractual arrangement 
that establishes joint control over the economic activities of the entity. The Group's investment in the joint venture is accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting. Under the equity method the investment in the joint venture is carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes  
in the Group’s share of net assets of the entity. The income statement reflects, where material, the share of the results of operations of the joint venture. 
Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the joint venture. 
The Corporate Member’s share of the assets and liabilities of the Syndicate and the quota share arrangement are further disclosed in note 15 to these 
financial statements. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(z) New standards and interpretations not applied 
The IASB and the IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of these financial statements: 

 Effective date

International Accounting Standards (IAS/IFRSs) 
IFRS 2  Share-based Payment Vesting Conditions and Cancellations (Amendment) 1 January 2009
IAS 1  Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised) 1 January 2009
–   Improvements to IFRSs 1 January 2009
IFRS 8  Operating Segments 1 January 2009
IAS 23  Borrowing Costs (Revised) 1 January 2009
IAS 27  Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity  
   or Associate (Amendment) 1 January 2009
IAS 32  Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Amendments) 1 January 2009
IFRS 3  Business Combinations (Revised) 1 July 2009
IAS 39  Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items (Amendment) 1 July 2009
IAS 27  Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amendment) 1 July 2009
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 July 2008
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate 1 January 2009
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 1 October 2008
IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners 1 July 2009
IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers 1 July 2009

The Directors do not currently anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements in the period of initial application. 

3 Revenue 
Revenue disclosed in the income statement is analysed as follows: 

Notes  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Rendering of services   2,289.0 1,964.0
Construction contracts 20  152.4 107.8
Rental income from operating leases 22  – 1.5
Revenue from operating activities   2,441.4 2,073.3
Finance revenue 8  5.7 1.6
Total revenue   2,447.1 2,074.9

4 Investment loss 
Investment loss includes: 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

(Loss) /profit on financial assets measured at fair value through the income statement (0.7) 1.2
Investment in joint venture 0.5 –
Net investment (loss)/gain (0.2) 1.2

Investment income represents income recognised in relation to the Lloyd’s Market Syndicates in which the Group has a joint venture arrangement as 
disclosed in note 15. During the year the Group received a dividend of £0.1m from the Syndicate which is reflected in the net assets recognised in the 
disclosure in note 15. 

The investment loss in the year is in recognition of negative returns on investments in units held in managed funds by the Group’s insurance captives, as 
disclosed in note 15. At the date of the approval of these financial statements the Group no longer has any investment in these managed funds. 
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5 Segmental information 
The Group’s operations are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the services provided, with each segment representing a 
strategic business unit offering a different package of related services across the Group’s markets. A description of the service provision for each segment 
can be found in the business review on pages 54-60. 

Before eliminating sales between business units on consolidation, the Group accounts for sales between business units as if they were to a third party  
at market rates.  

The tables below present revenue, result and certain asset and liability information for the Group’s business segments for the years 2008 and 2007.  
All operations in 2008 are continuing. 

Year ended 31 December 2008  

Segment revenue 
HR Solutions 

£m  

Property 
Consultancy 

£m  

Insurance
Services

£m

Investor
Services

£m

Integrated
Services

£m

ICT &
Partnership 

Services
£m 

Life &  
Pensions 

£m  

Professional 
Services

£m
Total

£m

Total segment revenue  278.5  284.2  263.6 173.9 393.4 464.8 489.0  378.9 2,726.3
Inter-segment revenue (20.3) (22.0)  (17.4) – (6.0) (125.4) (26.1)  (67.7) (284.9)
Third party revenue  258.2  262.2  246.2 173.9 387.4 339.4 462.9  311.2 2,441.4
Segment result      
Result after depreciation  25.3  24.0  32.7 40.3 58.4 35.7 56.5  57.2 330.1
Share based payment (1.1) (1.2)  (1.6) (0.7) (2.3) (0.7) (0.8)  (0.8) (9.2)
Intangible amortisation (0.2) (1.4)  (3.7) (3.7) (1.2) (1.6) (3.5)  (3.3) (18.6)
 24.0  21.4  27.4 35.9 54.9 33.4 52.2  53.1 302.3
Net finance costs (before callable swaps) (43.5)
Callable swaps            (32.0)
Investment loss            (0.2)
Profit before tax             226.6
Corporation taxation            (60.8)
Profit after tax             165.8

Other segment 
information            
Assets by segment            
Assets 50.9  83.5  121.8 74.4 118.7 124.2 219.6  45.0 838.1
Intangible assets 84.3  63.2  244.3 179.6 39.8 45.9 111.3  138.6 907.0
 135.2  146.7  366.1 254.0 158.5 170.1 330.9  183.6 1,745.1
Liabilities (27.8) (48.8)  (135.3) (42.1) (123.5) (110.2) (103.4)  (164.5) (755.6)
Net allocated assets 107.4  97.9  230.8 211.9 35.0 59.9 227.5  19.1 989.5
Unallocated assets            419.2
Unallocated liabilities            (1,011.8)
Total net assets            396.9
Capital expenditure            
 Tangible assets 1.5  2.2  7.6 17.9 10.0 12.2 34.1  5.4 90.9
 Depreciation charge 1.3  2.9  4.2 2.8 19.8 6.2 7.7  5.1 50.0
 Intangible assets –  9.5  23.1 9.4 0.1 43.0 26.1  70.2 181.4
 Intangible amortisation  0.2  1.4  3.7 3.7 1.2 1.6 3.5  3.3 18.6

Unallocated assets include held for sale financial assets, financial assets held at fair value through the income statement, the cash flow hedge financial 
asset, cash in bank, currency and interest rate swaps. Unallocated liabilities include lease obligations, loan notes, callable swaps, bonds and the pension 
liability. 
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5 Segmental information (continued) 
The tables below present revenue by the geographical location of customers, carrying amount of assets and expenditure on tangible and intangible assets 
by location of those assets. 

Revenue 

United 
Kingdom 

£m  

Non-United
Kingdom

£m
Total

£m

Total segment revenue 2,639.5  86.8 2,726.3
Inter-segment revenue (265.3)  (19.6) (284.9)
Third party revenue 2,374.2  67.2 2,441.4
Other segment information   
Assets 806.7  31.4 838.1
Intangible assets 859.5  47.5 907.0
Unallocated assets 419.2  – 419.2
Total assets 2,085.4  78.9 2,164.3
Capital expenditure   
 Tangible assets 85.1  5.8 90.9
 Intangible assets 164.6  16.8 181.4

Year ended 31 December 2007  

Segment revenue 
HR Solutions 

£m  

Property 
Consultancy 

£m  

Insurance
Services

£m

Investor
Services

£m

Integrated
Services

£m

ICT &
Partnerships 

Services
£m 

Life &  
Pensions 

£m  

Professional 
Services

£m
Total

£m

Total segment revenue  243.2  244.6  260.5 158.2 413.2 352.0 274.1  340.7 2,286.5
Inter-segment revenue (18.2)  (12.7)  (19.0) (1.3) (8.2) (92.5) (10.5)  (50.8) (213.2)
Third party revenue  225.0  231.9  241.5 156.9 405.0 259.5 263.6  289.9 2,073.3
Segment result       
Result after depreciation  22.3  20.4  30.3 37.9 58.3 28.3 33.7  48.7 279.9
Share based payment (1.0)  (1.1)  (1.2) (0.6) (2.5) (0.6) (0.8)  (0.8) (8.6)
Intangible amortisation (0.1)  (0.7)  (2.6) (1.3) (1.6) – (1.5)  (1.9) (9.7)
 21.2  18.6  26.5 36.0 54.2 27.7 31.4  46.0 261.6
Net finance costs       (34.1)
Investment income       1.2
Profit before tax        228.7
Corporation taxation       (62.5)
Profit after tax        166.2
Other segment information      
Assets by segment       
Assets 41.8  72.0  142.8 59.0 141.8 61.4 119.6  53.0 691.4
Intangible assets 84.5  55.0  226.3 173.9 40.9 4.6 88.2  72.3 745.7
 126.3  127.0  369.1 232.9 182.7 66.0 207.8  125.3 1,437.1
Liabilities (19.7) (28.4)  (127.3) (52.9) (117.0) (69.6) (86.2)  (113.6) (614.7)
Net allocated 
assets/(liabilities) 106.6  98.6  241.8 180.0 65.7 (3.6) 121.6  11.7 822.4
Unallocated assets       53.5
Unallocated liabilities       (544.1)
Total net assets       331.8
Capital expenditure       
 Tangible assets 1.8  2.7  2.9 3.7 19.0 8.8 23.4  5.6 67.9
 Depreciation charge 0.9  2.7  3.6 2.0 21.4 4.9 5.8  4.8 46.1
 Intangible assets 2.4  0.9  41.6 18.0 23.9 – 27.1  13.0 126.9
 Intangible amortisation  0.1  0.7  2.7 1.2 1.6 – 1.9  1.5 9.7
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5 Segmental information (continued) 
The tables below present revenue by the geographical location of clients, carrying amount of assets and expenditure on tangible and intangible assets by 
location of those assets. 

Revenue 

United  
Kingdom 

£m 

Non-United 
Kingdom

£m
Total

£m

Total segment revenue 2,217.5 69.0 2,286.5
Inter-segment revenue (203.8) (9.4) (213.2)
Third party revenue 2,013.7 59.6 2,073.3
Other segment information  
Assets 665.0 26.4 691.4
Intangible assets 712.1 33.6 745.7
Unallocated assets 53.5 – 53.5
Total assets 1,430.6 60.0 1,490.6
Capital expenditure  
 Tangible assets 62.5 5.4 67.9
 Intangible assets 109.6 17.3 126.9

6 Operating profit 
This is stated after charging/(crediting): 

Notes  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Employee benefits expense  7  1,051.9 872.7
Amortisation of intangible assets (as shown in amortisation and callable swaps column) 13  18.6 9.7
Depreciation 12  50.0 46.1
Loss/(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment   1.1 (0.1)
Amortisation of other intangible assets (treated as depreciation)* 13  1.5 1.5
Minimum lease payments recognised as an operating lease expense   70.6 69.5
Foreign exchange differences    (1.6) 0.2

*Included within operating activities before amortisation. 

UK fees paid to the auditors include fees in relation to: 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Audit of financial statements 0.6 0.5
Other UK fees: 
 Local statutory audits for subsidiaries 0.3 0.3
 Further assurance services 0.1 0.1
 Other non-audit services** 0.1 0.1
 1.1 1.0

**There were no other amounts payable to the auditors requiring disclosure under s390B of the Companies Act 1985. 

7 Employee benefits expense 

Notes  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Wages and salaries   910.1 751.1
Social security costs   86.6 76.0
Pension costs  31  46.0 37.0
Share based payments   9.2 8.6
   1,051.9 872.7
 

The average number of employees during the year was made up as follows: 
2008 

Number
2007

Number

Sales  731 682
Administration 1,943 1,728
Operations 29,927 24,014
 32,601 26,424

Details of Directors’ remuneration are contained within the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 71-76. 
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8 Net finance costs 

Notes  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Bank interest receivable   (0.9) (1.2)
Other interest receivable   (0.1) (0.4)
Loan note interest   0.8 1.1
Bonds   39.9 25.8
Callable swaps – realised   (4.7) –
Bank loans and overdrafts   8.3 8.5
Other interest payable   0.1 0.2
Unwinding of interest on discounted property provision   0.1 0.1
   43.5 34.1
Callable swaps – mark to market  24  32.0 –
Total finance costs    75.5 34.1

9 Income tax 
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 are: 

Consolidated income statement 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Current income tax 
Current income tax charge 73.2 61.8
Adjustment in respect of prior years (3.1) (3.0)
Deferred income tax 
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (8.8) 6.6
Adjustment in respect of prior years (0.5) (2.9)
 60.8 62.5
 

Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Deferred income tax related to items (credited)/charged directly to equity 
Current income tax deduction on exercise of stock options in excess of share based payments (17.6) (10.0)
Deferred income tax on cash flow hedges 5.6 1.6
Deferred income tax movement in relation to share based payments 2.2 5.8
Deferred income tax movement in relation to actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit plans (13.5) 7.6
 (23.3) 5.0

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the UK corporation tax rate for the years ended 31 December 
2008 and 2007 is as follows: 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Accounting profit before tax  226.6 228.7
Notional charge at UK corporation tax rate of 28.5% (2007: 30%) 64.6 68.6
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of prior years (3.1) (3.0)
Adjustments in respect of deferred tax of prior years  (0.5) (2.9)
Non-deductible expenses 2.4 1.8
Attributable to lower tax rates in overseas jurisdictions (2.6) (1.5)
Attributable to reduction in corporation tax rate – (0.5)
At the effective tax rate of 26.8% (2007: 27.3%) 60.8 62.5
Total tax expense reported in the income statement 60.8 62.5

The tax charge for the year ended 31 December 2008 was £60.8m (2007: charge of £62.5m) and is after a prior year net credit of £3.1m resulting from 
the successful resolution of issues with relevant tax authorities. The tax charge is equivalent to an underlying effective tax rate of 26.8% (2007: 27.3%). 
The effective tax rate on profit before amortisation and callable swaps valuation is 27.0% (2007: 27.7%). In addition, a net tax credit of £23.3m has been 
credited directly to equity including a credit of £17.6m in respect of realised stock option gains which resulted in a corresponding reduction in cash tax 
liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2008. 



 The Capita Group Plc 93 
 

9 Income tax (continued) 
Deferred income tax 
Deferred income tax at 31 December relates to the following: 

Consolidated balance sheet  Consolidated income statement

2008
£m

2007 
£m  

2008
£m

2007
£m

Deferred tax liabilities   
Accelerated capital allowances (5.7) (4.6)  1.3 3.2
Pension scheme’s asset – (5.7)  0.4 –
Cash flow hedges (7.2) (1.6)  – –
Fair value adjustments on acquisition (22.7) (12.6)  (4.8) (3.3)
 (35.6) (24.5)  
Deferred tax assets   
Share based payments 16.1 15.7  (2.6) (0.8)
Pension schemes’ liability 6.9 4.5  5.0 5.4
Provisions 6.7 5.0  (1.5) (1.1)
Losses available for offset against future taxable income – 0.7  1.8 0.3
Cash flow swaps 8.9 –  (8.9) –
 38.6 25.9  
Net deferred tax asset 3.0 1.4  
Deferred income tax expense   (9.3) 3.7

The Group has tax losses which arose in the UK of £5.8m (2007: £11.0m) that are available for offset against future taxable profits of the companies  
in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of £5.8m (2007: £8.5m) of these losses, as their recoverability  
is uncertain. 

10 Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued  
on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations: 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent from operations 165.8 166.2
 

 

2008
Number 

million

2007
Number 

million

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares) for basic earnings per share 608.3 613.6
Dilutive potential ordinary shares: 
Employee share options 5.5 10.3
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares) adjusted for the effect of dilution 613.8 623.9

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of completion of 
these financial statements. 

The following additional earnings per share figures are calculated based on earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent before 
amortisation and callable swap valuation of £202.3m (2007: £172.4m) and after amortisation and callable swap valuation of £165.8m (2007: £166.2m). 
They are included as they provide a better understanding of the underlying trading performance of the Group. 

 
2008

p
2007

p

Basic earnings per share  – underlying 33.26 28.10
 – after amortisation and callable swaps 27.26 27.09
Diluted earnings per share  – underlying 32.96 27.63
 – after amortisation and callable swaps 27.01 26.64
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11 Dividends paid and proposed 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Declared and paid during the year 
Ordinary shares (equity): 
 Final for 2007 paid: 8.0p per share (2006: 6.3p per share) 48.8 39.2
 Interim for 2008 paid: 4.8p per share (2007: 4.0p per share) 29.2 24.7
 Special dividend for 2007: paid 25.0p per share  – 154.7
 78.0 218.6
Proposed for approval at AGM (not recognised as a liability at 31 December) 
Ordinary shares (equity): 
 Final for 2008: 9.6p per share (2007: 8.0p per share) 58.6 48.8

12 Property, plant and equipment 
Leasehold 

improvements, 
land and  
buildings 

£m  

Plant and
machinery

£m
Total

£m

Cost   
At 1 January 2007 40.2  228.5 268.7
Subsidiaries acquired 0.3  1.2 1.5
Additions 12.0  55.9 67.9
Disposals (2.4)  (40.5) (42.9)
At 31 December 2007 50.1  245.1 295.2
Subsidiaries acquired 2.4  3.0 5.4
Additions 17.1  73.8 90.9
Disposals (5.3)  (40.1) (45.4)
At 31 December 2008 64.3  281.8 346.1
Depreciation and impairment   
At 1 January 2007 15.0  82.7 97.7
Provided during the year 6.0  40.1 46.1
Disposals (2.4)  (39.6) (42.0)
At 31 December 2007 18.6  83.2 101.8
Provided during the year 8.1  41.9 50.0
Disposals (4.3)  (39.7) (44.0)
At 31 December 2008 22.4  85.4 107.8
Net book value   
At 1 January 2007 25.2  145.8 171.0
At 31 December 2007 31.5  161.9 193.4
At 31 December 2008 41.9  196.4 238.3

The net book value of plant and machinery includes an amount of £nil (2007: £nil) in respect of assets held under finance leases. The net book value of 
assets held by the Group for which it acts as lessor, amounts to £nil (2007: £0.4m). 
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13 Intangible assets 

 
Brands 

£m  

Software and
licences

£m

Contracts and
committed 

sales
£m

Customer 
lists and

relationships
£m

Goodwill
£m

Sub-total 
£m  

Other
intangibles

£m
Total

£m

Cost     
At 1 January 2007 5.9  2.0 6.9 34.6 601.4 650.8  13.4 664.2
Recognition of intangibles – prior year 
acquisitions 0.1  0.3 – 3.0 (2.4) 1.0  – 1.0
Subsidiaries acquired 2.8  3.7 – 8.6 105.8 120.9  – 120.9
Additions –  – 5.0 – – 5.0  – 5.0
At 31 December 2007 8.8  6.0 11.9 46.2 704.8 777.7  13.4 791.1
Recognition of intangibles – prior year 
acquisitions 0.1  – – 12.5 (9.1) 3.5  – 3.5
Subsidiaries acquired 2.8  8.5 8.3 23.6 134.7 177.9  – 177.9
At 31 December 2008 11.7  14.5 20.2 82.3 830.4 959.1  13.4 972.5
Amortisation and impairment     
At 1 January 2007 2.3  1.0 3.8 6.1 12.0 25.2  9.0 34.2
Amortisation during the year 1.6  1.1 0.9 6.1 – 9.7  1.5 11.2
At 31 December 2007 3.9  2.1 4.7 12.2 12.0 34.9  10.5 45.4
Amortisation during the year 2.1  2.1 1.8 12.6 – 18.6  1.5 20.1
At 31 December 2008 6.0  4.2 6.5 24.8 12.0 53.5  12.0 65.5
Net book value     
At 1 January 2007 3.6  1.0 3.1 28.5 589.4 625.6  4.4 630.0
At 31 December 2007 4.9  3.9 7.2 34.0 692.8 742.8  2.9 745.7
At 31 December 2008 5.7  10.3 13.7 57.5 818.4 905.6  1.4 907.0

During the year a total of £12.6m (2007: £3.4m) of intangible assets was recognised in respect of prior year acquisitions. This amount was previously 
reflected within goodwill. As required by IAS 12, deferred taxation is recognised in respect of these items, the impact of this was to increase goodwill in 
2008 by £3.5m (2007: £1.0m) and to create a deferred tax liability of the same amount. 

The amount in ‘other intangibles’ represents the consideration paid to AON to acquire the contract for the administration of the miners’ personal injury 
liability claims on behalf of the Department of Energy and Climate Change. 

14 Impairment of goodwill 
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the groups of cash generating units (CGUs) 
listed below. These represent the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is monitored by management for internal reporting purposes. 

The significant groups of CGUs identified are Property Consultancy, HR Solutions, Insurance & Specialist Services, Registrar Services, Financial Services, 
Life & Pensions and IT & Software Services. The remaining groups of CGUs are included in the ‘balance of CGUs’ column. 

The recoverable amount of all the CGUs is based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on the latest 1 year budget forecast 
extrapolated for 4 future years by a growth rate applicable to each unit; an appropriate terminal value based on a perpetuity calculation using nil real 
growth is then added. A discount rate of 10.0% (2007: 11.1%) is then applied to these projections.  

Compound growth rates (years 2–5) %

Property Consultancy 9.9
HR Solutions 9.9
Insurance & Specialist Services 4.3
Registrar Services 8.8
Financial Services 7.6
Life & Pensions 7.0
IT & Software Services 9.9
Balance of CGUs (weighted average growth rate) 6.6

The growth rates used do not exceed published industry estimates. 

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to groups of cash generating units 

   

Property 
Consultancy 

£m  
HR Solutions

£m

Insurance 
Services

£m

Registrar 
Services

£m

Financial 
Services

£m

Life & 
Pensions 
Services 

£m  

IT & Software 
Services 

£m  

Balance of 
CGUs

£m
Total

£m

2008  
Goodwill   49.7  91.3 236.9 116.4 56.9 91.7  83.9  91.6 818.4
2007  
Goodwill   45.1  91.3 219.7 114.9 57.0 78.9  26.9  59.0 692.8

 



96 The Capita Group Plc 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

14 Impairment of goodwill (continued) 
The key assumptions used in the impairment testing were as follows: 

• profit before interest and taxation 

• discount rates 

• rates of growth in CGUs for the years 2 to 5. 

Profit before interest and taxation 
The profit before interest and taxation is based on the assumption that future margins will remain at the levels currently being achieved.  

Discount rate 
The discount rate reflects management’s estimate of the gross cost of capital employed for the groups of CGUs listed above. This is the benchmark 
established to assess operating performance and to evaluate future capital investment proposals. The rate applied to all CGUs is the same across all units, 
this reflects the Group’s funding arrangements where all units have equal access to the Group’s treasury functions and borrowing lines to fund their 
operations. No unit demonstrates abnormal levels of risk or funding profile and therefore the discount rate applied is deemed to be justified.  

Rates of growth in cash generating units beyond the budget period 
Growth rate assumptions are based on, as far as possible, published industry research (Ovum 2008). Where the cash generating unit does not correspond 
directly with the research undertaken then the growth rate used is that of the nearest possible match in relation to the risks experienced within the 
associated market. The rates used are further cross-checked with the senior operational management of the units in question.  

Goodwill impairment 
Management believes that no reasonably possible change in the key assumptions above would cause any of the identified CGUs to become impaired. 

15 Financial assets 

Current 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Cash flow hedges 4.1 0.9
Currency swaps in relation to US$ denominated bonds 0.4 –
Interest rate swaps in relation to GBP denominated bonds 0.7 –
 5.2 0.9
 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Non Current financial assets 
Available for sale investments1 0.3 0.3
Investment loan2 35.3 29.1
Financial assets at fair value through the income statement3 1.6 25.4
Cash flow hedges4 21.6 4.7
Currency swaps in relation to US$ denominated bonds4 269.2 1.0
Interest rate swap in relation to GBP denominated bonds4 4.0 0.1
Investment in a joint venture5 0.4 –
 332.4 60.6
1Available for sale assets includes investments in unlisted ordinary shares. The unlisted ordinary shares, for which there is no immediately identifiable market and which have no fixed maturity date or 
coupon rate, are carried at cost less provision for any impairment. 
2The Group has entered into a funding arrangement with Optima Legal Services Limited (OLSL) and during the year has provided it with an additional £6.2m (2007: £16.6m) to fund that company’s 
acquisition of further volume legal services businesses. In addition, the Group entered into an option agreement to acquire the shares of OLSL for £1 in the event that Law Society rules are amended  
to allow the Group to own the shares in this type of legal services company. The Group believes that the option should be held at the fair value of £1 as the change in law society rules in favour of the 
Group is uncertain. 
3Financial assets at fair value through the income statement include investments in units, held in the Group’s insurance captives. The units are held in managed funds (comprising units of equities  
and other assets) which are traded with a quoted market price in an active market. An explanation of the Group’s accounting policy with regard to these assets is contained in note 2(m) on page 85.  
During the year the Group made the decision to withdraw the funds invested in these assets, the remaining units were sold early in 2009, the Group therefore no longer holds units in these funds. 
4The currency swaps are used to hedge the exposure to currency fluctuations on the Group’s US dollar denominated bonds. The asset recognised is equal to the uplift in the fair value of the underlying 
bonds. The interest rate swap is used to hedge the fair value of the Group’s GBP denominated bonds, and the asset recognised above is equal to the uplift in the fair value of the underlying bonds.  
Details of the interest rate swap, currency swaps and cash flow hedges are contained in note 24. 
5The investment in a joint venture disclosed represents the Group’s interest in a Syndicate (for which the Group provides administrative outsourcing services) operating in the Lloyd’s Market, through its 
joint venture ownership of Cobex Corporate Member No 1 Limited (Cobex) in conjunction with the Group’s insurance partners. During the year the Group added further assets and liabilities through the 
acquisition of further Lloyd’s Market Syndicates. The Group’s share of the net assets and liabilities of this Syndicate are set out in the following table. 
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15 Financial assets (continued) 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Investments 8.9 5.4
Reinsurance assets 9.6 5.7
Other debtors 2.8 2.6
Cash and cash equivalents 10.0 10.8
Total assets 31.3 24.5
Technical provisions  23.6 22.6
Other creditors 6.9 1.8
Accruals and deferred income 0.4 0.1
Total liabilities 30.9 24.5
Net position 0.4 –

The Group, through Capita Commercial Insurance Services Limited (CCIS), a wholly owned subsidiary, has a 50.1% holding in Cobex Corporate Member 
No 1 Limited (Cobex). In addition to the assets and liabilities of the underlying Syndicate, Cobex has in place a quota share arrangement with its insurance 
partners such that only 8.86% of any profit or loss declared by the Syndicate, in respect of Cobex, would be attributable to the Group.  

The Group has no rights over the assets or liabilities of the Syndicate other than to the extent that it will receive distributed profits or contribute to relieve 
losses. The Group has in place a letter of credit amounting to £1.0m (2007: £0.5m) which is the maximum exposure that the Group has to losses 
generated within the Syndicate. The increase of £0.5m is with regard to the additional assets and liabilities added to the Syndicate during the year.  

16 Business combinations 
The Group made a number of acquisitions in 2008 which are shown in aggregate. The book and fair values of the assets acquired are disclosed in the  
table below: 

 
Book values 

£m  

Fair value
adjustments 

£m

Fair value
to Group

£m 

Intangible assets –  43.2 43.2
Property, plant and equipment 5.9  (0.5) 5.4
Deferred tax 1.5  – 1.5
Debtors 32.4  (2.8) 29.6
Cash and short term deposits 8.9  – 8.9
Creditors (23.1)  (2.3) (25.4)
Provisions (0.5)  (2.2) (2.7)
Net assets  25.1  35.4 60.5
Goodwill arising on acquisition    123.6
    184.1
Discharged by:     
Cash    180.6
Loan notes issued    3.5
    184.1

Included within the table above are net assets of IBS OPENSystems Limited of £21.5m, including recognised intangible assets of £13.1m. The cash 
consideration paid was £74.9m with resulting goodwill of £53.4m. Intangible valuations relating to this acquisition have been performed on a provisional 
basis and the exercise will be completed in the subsequent year. 

During the year deferred consideration of £9.1m was settled in respect of acquisitions made in prior years, £7.8m was paid in cash and the remainder  
of £1.3m through the issue of loan notes, of which £9.4m had been previously provided; the impact of this was to reduce goodwill by £0.3m. 

As required by IAS 12 deferred taxation is calculated on intangible assets recognised as a result of an acquisition, the impact of this was to increase 
goodwill in 2008 by £11.4m and to create a deferred tax liability of the same amount.  

As a result of the above total goodwill of £134.7m was recognised in the year. 

Acquisitions in the year included IBS OPENSystems plc (now known as IBS OPENSystems Limited), ComputerLand UK PLC (now known as ComputerLand 
UK Limited), Lancaster Insurance Services Limited, Nieuwenhuis Services BV (now known as Capita Fiduciary BV), and ABS Network Solutions Limited.  
For all acquisitions in the year the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of the acquired company. 

Within goodwill are certain intangibles that were not separable from the acquirees and could not be measured reliably. These items include customer 
loyalty and the assembled workforce. 

The Group’s acquisition of IBS OPENSystems Limited is the subject of a referral by the Office of Fair Trading (OFT) to the Competition Commission under 
section 22(1) of the Enterprise Act 2002. The decision to refer this acquisition was made by the OFT on 19 November 2008, with the decision of the 
Competition Commission being anticipated in the first half of 2009.  
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16 Business combinations (continued) 
2007 acquisitions 
The Group made a number of acquisitions in 2007, of which only 2, the acquisition of Harry Weeks and CMGL Group are considered material and thus 
disclosed separately, the remainder are shown in aggregate. The book and fair values of the assets acquired are disclosed in the tables below: 

Harry Weeks (now known as Evolvi Rail Systems Limited) 
Book values 

£m  

Fair value
adjustments 

£m

Fair value
to Group

£m 

Intangible assets –  4.5 4.5
Property, plant and equipment 0.2  – 0.2
Deferred tax 0.3  – 0.3
Debtors 2.3  (0.4) 1.9
Cash and short term deposits 0.2  – 0.2
Creditors (2.5)  (0.2) (2.7)
Net assets  0.5  3.9 4.4
Goodwill arising on acquisition    18.1
    22.5
Discharged by:    
Cash    22.5

Harry Weeks includes Harry Weeks Travel & Leisure Group Limited, a business travel software provider via its Evolvi and Travelpackonline  
software products. 

The Group acquired 100% of the ordinary share capital of Harry Weeks on 2 February 2007. From the date of acquisition to the comparative year end, 
Harry Weeks contributed £0.6m to the net profit after tax of the Group. Had the combination taken place at the beginning of 2007, the profit after tax  
of the Group in the comparative year would have been £166.1m and the revenue from continuing operations would have been £2,079.4m. 

Within goodwill are certain intangibles that were not separable from the acquirees and could not be measured reliably. These items include customer 
loyalty and the assembled workforce. 

CMGL Group of companies 
Book values 

£m  

Fair value
adjustments 

£m

Fair value
to Group

£m 

Intangible assets –  7.4 7.4
Property, plant and equipment 0.5  – 0.5
Deferred tax 1.7  – 1.7
Debtors 3.7  – 3.7
Cash and short term deposits (2.0)  – (2.0)
Creditors (9.7)  (1.2) (10.9)
Long term debt (6.9)  – (6.9)
Corporation tax (0.2)  – (0.2)
Net assets  (12.9)  6.2 (6.7)
Goodwill arising on acquisition   27.0
   20.3
Discharged by:   
Cash   14.4
Loan notes   5.9
   20.3

CMGL Group is a leading provider of outsourced claims and insurance management services to FTSE quoted companies, general insurers, Lloyd’s 
underwriters and London Market companies. 

The Group acquired 100% of the ordinary share capital of CMGL on 31 March 2007. From the date of acquisition to the comparative year end, CMGL 
contributed £1.43m to the net profit after tax of the Group. Had the combination taken place at the beginning of 2007, the profit after tax of the Group  
in the comparative year would have been £163.7m and the revenue from continuing operations would have been £2,107.6m. 

Within goodwill are certain intangibles that were not separable from the acquirees and could not be measured reliably. These items include customer 
loyalty and the assembled workforce. 
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16 Business combinations (continued) 

Other acquisitions 
Book values 

£m  

Fair value
adjustments 

£m

Fair value
to Group

£m 

Intangible assets –  3.2 3.2
Property, plant and equipment 0.8  – 0.8
Deferred tax 1.3  – 1.3
Debtors 6.2  0.2 6.4
Cash and short term deposits 6.2  – 6.2
Creditors (12.8)  (0.4) (13.2)
Net assets  1.7  3.0 4.7
Goodwill arising on acquisition    47.9
    52.6
Discharged by:    
Cash    52.6

During 2007 deferred consideration of £5.2m was paid in respect of acquisitions made in prior years, of which £4.5m had been previously provided. 
The impact of this was to increase goodwill by £0.7m. 

Deferred consideration which is expected to be paid has been accrued in respect of acquisitions made in 2007 amounting to £7.8m. The impact of this  
is to increase goodwill by the same amount. 

As required by IAS 12 deferred taxation is calculated on intangible assets recognised as a result of an acquisition. The impact of this was to increase 
goodwill in 2007 by £4.3m and to create a deferred tax liability of the same amount.  

As a result of the above, total goodwill of £105.8m was recognised in the year. 

Other acquisitions in the year included Aspen (Actuaries & Pension Consultants) Limited (now known as Capita Hartshead (Actuaries & Pension 
Consultants) Limited), Higham Dunnet Shaw Plc (now known as Capita Hartshead Solutions Limited), Global Fund Administration Limited (now known  
as Capita Financial Administrators (Gibraltar) Limited, M.V.R.A. Limited, Eagle Management Services Limited and CPFR Solutions Limited. 

The performance of these acquisitions post their inclusion in the Group cannot be ascertained as they have been fully integrated within existing offerings. 

Within goodwill are certain intangibles that were not separable from the acquirees and could not be measured reliably. These items include customer 
loyalty and the assembled workforce. 

17 Trade and other receivables  

Current 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Trade receivables 306.6 245.9
Other receivables 37.2 29.5
Gross amounts due from customers on construction contracts 17.8 11.1
Prepayments and accrued income 222.0 169.9
 583.6 456.4
 

Non-current 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Other receivables 1.8 1.5
Prepayments and accrued income 6.3 9.6
 8.1 11.1

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 days’ terms. 

At 31 December 2008, trade receivables at a nominal value of £7.1m (2007: £4.2m) were impaired and fully provided for. 



100 The Capita Group Plc 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

17 Trade and other receivables (continued)  
Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables were as follows: 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

At 1 January 4.2 4.4
Charge for year 5.7 3.3
Amounts written off (1.0) (0.9)
Unused amounts reversed (1.8) (2.6)
 7.1 4.2

As at 31 December, the analysis of trade receivables that were past due but not impaired is as follows: 

 Past due but not impaired 

 
Total

£m 

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
£m

0 – 3 months
£m

4 – 6 months 
£m  

7 – 12 months 
£m

More than 
12 months

£m

2008 306.6 245.6 52.6 8.4  – –
2007 245.9 197.4 42.7 5.8  – –

The Group monitors the level of trade receivables on a monthly basis, continually assessing the risk of default by any counterparty. 

18 Cash at bank and in hand 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Cash at bank and in hand 86.7 0.8

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The fair value of cash is the same as the carrying amount above. 

19 Trade and other payables 

Current 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Trade payables 111.3 56.5
Other payables 87.3 83.3
Other taxes and social security 60.8 64.2
Gross amounts due to customers on construction contracts 6.2 2.1
Accruals and deferred income 424.8 338.4
Deferred consideration payable – 12.4
 690.4 556.9
Non-current 
Accruals and deferred income 9.6 9.2
 9.6 9.2

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on terms agreed with suppliers. 

20 Construction contracts 
Presented in the table below are disclosures with regard to the Group’s property consultancy business where the provision, as a sub-contractor, is 
architectural, structural or another service that results in the construction of a new asset. 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Contract revenue recognised in relation to construction contracts in the year 152.4 107.8
Aggregate costs incurred and recognised profits (less losses) to date 180.5 112.9
Gross amount due from customers for construction contracts 17.8 11.1
Gross amount due to customers on construction contracts 6.2 2.1
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21 Financial liabilities 

Current Notes  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Bank overdraft   – 46.1
Obligations under finance leases  22  – 0.2
Bonds   101.3 –
Unsecured loan notes   3.7 1.7
Asset-based securitised financing (see below)   10.4 9.7
Callable swaps    1.1 –
   116.5 57.7
Non-current   
Bonds   851.8 461.1
Currency swaps in relation to US$ denominated bonds   – 19.1
Callable swaps   30.9 –
   882.7 480.2

The aggregate bond value above of £953.1m includes the GBP value of the US$ denominated bonds at 31 December 2008. To remove the Group’s 
exposure to currency fluctuations it has entered into currency swaps which effectively hedge any movement in the underlying bond fair value. The fair 
value of the currency swaps is disclosed in note 15 – Financial assets in the current year (2007: Financial liability – above). 

The Group has insurance debtors which are subject to a securitisation agreement. The purpose of this arrangement is to securitise customer receivables, 
derived through the provision of instalment credit facilities to insurance customers of the Group. The Group sells these receivables, with no immediate 
effect on the income statement, for cash to a third party (Gresham in this case). Gresham takes on the rights and responsibilities of these receivables such 
that the terms of this agreement dictate that Gresham has no recourse to the Group beyond 14% of the total receivable securitised. 

The obligations under finance leases are secured on the assets being financed. The bank overdraft, bonds and loan notes are unsecured. The bonds 
effectively bear a floating interest charge at a rate based on 6 month LIBOR. 

Loan notes issued during the year amounted to £5.3m (2007: £5.9m), further loan notes of £nil (2007: £8.2m) were assumed through business acquisition 
and £3.3m (2007: £34.6m) were repaid. The interest rates attributable to the loan notes are fixed for each new issue. These rates ranged from 3.45% to 
5.25%. The loan notes issued in the year bear interest at a weighted average rate, based on the Bank of England base rate. The outstanding loan notes 
totalling £3.7m are repayable on demand and have a final weighted average maturity of 1 year . 

The Group has issued guaranteed unsecured bonds as follows: 

Bond 
Interest rate

% Denomination
Value 

£m Maturity

Issued 2002***  
Series B 6.44 GBP* 55.0 20 June 2009
Issued 2005***  
Series A 0.525 above 6m LIBOR GBP 50.0 28 September 2013
Series B 0.525 above 6m LIBOR GBP 25.0 28 September 2015
Issued 2008*  
Series C 7.19 GBP 32.0 13 September 2015
Total of sterling denominated bonds 162.0 

US$m 

Issued 2002***  
Series A 6.10 US$** 66.0 20 June 2009
Series C 6.47 US$** 36.0 20 June 2012
Issued 2006***  
Series A 5.74 US$** 60.0 28 June 2013
Series B 5.88 US$** 130.0 28 June 2016
Series A 5.66 US$** 11.0 13 September 2013
Series B 5.81 US$** 74.0 13 September 2016
Series C 5.77 US$** 60.0 13 September 2016
Issued 2007***  
Series A 5.57 US$** 21.0 11 October 2014
Series B 5.88 US$** 179.0 11 October 2017
Issued 2008**  
Series A 6.04 US$** 80.0 13 September 2015
Series B 6.51 US$** 256.0 13 September 2018
Total of US$ denominated bonds 973.0 

All series are unsecured and rank pari passu in all respects apart from those detailed above.  

* The Group has entered into an interest rate swap to convert the interest cost to floating rate based on 6 month LIBOR.  
** The Group has entered into currency swaps for the US$ issues to achieve a floating rate of interest based on 6 month LIBOR. Further disclosure on the Group’s use of hedges is included in note 24 
commencing on page 103. 
***Subsequently, the Group has entered a series of interest rate swaps to convert these issues from paying a floating rate based on 6 month LIBOR to fixed rates. See note 24 for further details of these 
callable swaps. 

The issue costs incurred during the year amounted to £0.7m (2007: £0.3m). Issue costs are spread over the life of the bonds to their maturity.  
The unamortised balance of issue costs at the year end totalled £1.4m (2007: £0.8m). 
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22 Obligations under leases and hire purchase contracts 
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 
The Group uses finance leases and hire purchase contracts to acquire plant and machinery. These leases have terms of renewal and purchase options but 
no escalation clauses. Renewals are at the option of the lessee. 

The value of future minimum lease payments and their present value, which are the same, is analysed as follows: 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Not later than 1 year – 0.2
 – 0.2

Operating lease agreements where the Group is lessee 
The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties, motor vehicles and items of plant and machinery. These leases have an average 
duration of between 3 and 10 years.  

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Not later than 1 year 59.2 55.4
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 158.0 139.3
Later than 5 years 23.0 80.7
 240.2 275.4

Operating lease agreements where the Group is lessor 
The Group has determined that certain executory contracts contain embedded leases as defined by IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease’. Accordingly, these are accounted for as leases in accordance with IAS 17 ‘Leases’. 

Future minimum rentals receivable under these embedded operating leases are as follows: 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Not later than 1 year – 1.5
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years – –
 – 1.5

23 Provisions 
Property 
provision

£m

At 1 January 2008 2.6
Utilisation (0.7)
Additional provisions in the year 1.3
Unwinding of interest on discounted provisions 0.1
At 31 December 2008 3.3

The property provision is made on a discounted basis for the future rent expense and related cost of leasehold property (net of estimated sub-lease 
income) where the space is vacant or currently not planned to be used for ongoing operations. The expectation is that this expenditure will be incurred 
over the remaining periods of the leases which range from 1 to 6 years. 
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24 Financial instruments 
Financial risk management objectives and policies 
The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans, bond issues, loan notes, finance leases and cash. The main 
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group also has various other financial instruments such as trade 
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations. 

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, primarily interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts. The purpose is to manage the interest 
rate and currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its sources of finance. It is, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s 
policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken. 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. 

Classification of financial instruments 
The following table analyses by classification and category all of the Group’s financial instruments (excluding short term debtors, creditors and cash in 
hand) that are carried in the financial statements. The values represent both the carrying amounts and the fair value.  

At 31 December 2008 

Available for 
sale
£m

At fair value 
through the 

income 
statement

£m

Loans and 
receivables

£m

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging 

£m  

Liabilities at 
amortised cost

£m
Total

£m

Financial assets   
Investments in units – 1.6 – –  – 1.6
Unlisted equity securities 0.3 – – –  – 0.3
Investment loan – – 35.3 –  – 35.3
Cash flow hedges – – – 25.7  – 25.7
Interest rate swaps in relation to GBP denominated bonds – – – 4.7  – 4.7
Currency swaps in relation to US$ denominated bonds – – – 269.6  – 269.6
Investment in joint venture – – 0.4 –  – 0.4
 0.3 1.6 35.7 300.0  – 337.6
Financial liabilities   
Unsecured loan notes – – – –  3.7 3.7
Bonds – – 953.1 –  – 953.1
Asset-based securitised financing – – 10.4 –  – 10.4
Callable swaps – 32.0 – –  – 32.0
 – 32.0 963.5 –  3.7 999.2

The aggregate bond value above of £953.1m includes the GBP value of the US$ denominated bonds at 31 December 2008. To remove the Group’s 
exposure to currency fluctuations it has entered into currency swaps which effectively hedge the movement in the underlying bond fair value. The interest 
rate swap is being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of GBP denominated bonds. The fair value of the currency and interest swaps 
are disclosed in note 15 – Financial assets in the current year. 

At 31 December 2007 

Available for 
sale
£m

At fair value 
through the 

income 
statement

£m

Loans and 
receivables

£m

Derivatives  
used for 
 hedging 

£m  

Liabilities at 
amortised cost

£m
Total

£m

Financial assets   
Investments in units – 25.4 – –  – 25.4
Unlisted equity securities 0.3 – – –  – 0.3
Investment loan – – 29.1 –  – 29.1
Cash flow hedges – – – 5.6  – 5.6
Interest rate swaps in relation to GBP denominated bonds – – – 0.1  – 0.1
Currency swaps in relation to US$ denominated bonds – – – 1.0  – 1.0
 0.3 25.4 29.1 6.7  – 61.5
Financial liabilities   
Bank overdraft – – 46.1 –  – 46.1
Obligations under finance leases – – – –  0.2 0.2
Unsecured loan notes – – – –  1.7 1.7
Bonds – – 461.1 –  – 461.1
Asset-based securitised financing – – 9.7 –  – 9.7
Currency swaps in relation to US$ denominated bonds – – – 19.1  – 19.1
 – – 516.9 19.1  1.9 537.9

The fair value of financial instruments has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates, except for unlisted 
equity securities and investment loans. Unlisted equity securities and investment loans are held at amortised cost. 
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24 Financial instruments (continued) 
Interest rate risk  
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debts. To manage this, the Group enters into interest rate swaps,  
in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference  
to an agreed upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated to hedge underlying debt obligations. 

In February 2008, Capita executed a series of interest rate callable swaps to convert from paying a rate based on 6 month LIBOR to fixed rate interest on 
its bonds (private placement debt) of £479m as follows: firstly, in respect of the 2 tranches totaling £100m maturing in 2009, swaps at a fixed rate of 
5.22%; secondly, in respect of all other tranches – maturing between 2012 and 2017 – callable swaps (giving the counterparty the option to cancel the 
trades in September/December 2009 and semi-annually thereafter) at a weighted average fixed rate of 4.64%. At this time, 6 month LIBOR was 5.625% 
and prevailing market expectations suggested that swap rates would not fall below 4.64%. At the time the transactions were entered into 4.64% was 
considered to represent good value as a long term cost of funds.  

Following the dramatic fall in interest rates at the end of 2008 and an increase in the implied volatilities, these callable swaps show a negative mark to 
market value of £32m at 31 December 2008. This represents a non-cash accounting loss in the year that will reverse as the mark to market valuation will 
tend towards zero as the swaps approach maturity or cancellation. 

In addition to the private placement debt of £479m referred to above, as at 31 December 2008 the Group had a further £200m of private placement debt 
and a £245m revolving credit facility, both of which pay floating rate interest. This gives the Group as a whole a balanced interest rate risk profile through 
the use of both fixed and floating rate debt. 

The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December is as follows:  

At 31 December 2008 

Within 
1 year

£m

Between
1–2 years

£m

Between 
2–3 years

£m

Between 
3–4 years

£m

Between 
4–5 years 

£m  

More than
5 years

£m
Total

£m

Fixed rate    
Loan notes 3.7 – – – –  – 3.7
Bonds 101.3 – – 27.2 105.0  408.9 642.4
Interest rate swap in relation to GBP denominated 
bonds (0.7) – – –

 
–  – (0.7)

Foreign currency swaps in relation to  
US$ denominated bonds (0.4) – – (2.6)

 
(16.9)  (142.5) (162.4)

Callable swaps 1.1 – – 1.5 5.9  23.5 32.0
Floating rate   
Cash in hand (86.7) – – – –  – (86.7)
Investment loan – – – – –  35.3 35.3
Assets available for sale – – – – –  (0.3) (0.3)
At fair value through income statement (1.6) – – – –  – (1.6)
Bonds – – – – –  310.7 310.7
Asset-based securitised financing 10.4 – – – –  – 10.4
Cash flow hedges (4.1) (1.6) (3.5) (2.3) (2.7)  (11.5) (25.7)
Interest rate swap in relation to GBP denominated 
bonds – – – – –  (4.0) (4.0)

Foreign currency swaps in relation to  
US$ denominated bonds – – – – –  (107.2) (107.2)

The effect of the interest rate swap and the currency swap on the bond debt is disclosed below. Bonds are classified as floating rate for £200.2m due to 
the effect of the interest and currency swaps. The remainder of £480.0m is classified as fixed rate due to the additional impact of the callable swaps. 

At 31 December 2007 

Within 
1 year

£m

Between
1–2 years

£m

Between 
2–3 years

£m

Between 
3–4 years

£m

Between 
4–5 years 

£m  

More than
5 years

£m
Total

£m

Fixed rate   
Loan notes 1.7 – – – –  – 1.7
Obligations under finance leases 0.2 – – – –  – 0.2
Floating rate   
Cash in hand (0.8) – – – –  – (0.8)
Overdrafts 46.1 – – – –  – 46.1
Investment loan – – – –  (29.1) (29.1)
Assets available for sale – (0.3) – – –  – (0.3)
At fair value through income statement – (25.4) – – –  – (25.4)
Bonds – 88.4 – – 18.7  354.0 461.1
Asset-based securitised financing 9.7 – – – –  – 9.7
Cash flow hedges (0.9) (0.3) (0.3) (0.5) (0.4)  (3.2) (5.6)
Interest rate swap – (0.1) – – –  – (0.1)
Foreign currency swaps – – – – –  (1.0) (1.0)
Foreign currency swaps – 11.8 – – 6.0  1.3 19.1
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24 Financial instruments (continued) 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s 
profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings). There is no impact on the Group’s equity. 

 

Increase/
(decrease) in 
basis points

Effect on profit 
before tax

£m

2008 146/(146) (2.8)/2.8
2007 125/(125) (6.0)/6.0

Foreign currency risk 
The Group has exposure to foreign currency risk where it has investments in overseas operations which are affected by foreign exchange movements.  
The Group is not generally exposed to significant foreign currency risk except in respect of its overseas operations in India which generate exposure to 
movements in the INR/GBP exchange rates. The Group seeks to mitigate the effect of this exposure by entering forward currency contracts (in the form 
of Non-deliverable Forward Contracts (NDFs)) to fix the GBP cost of highly probable forecast transactions denominated in INR. 

It is the Group’s policy to negotiate the terms of the hedge derivatives to match the terms of the hedged items in order to maximise hedge effectiveness. 

At 31 December 2008, the Group had cash flow hedges in place to match its forecast monthly INR costs in 2009 and each year up to and including 2019. 
These forecast INR costs have been determined on the basis of the underlying cash flows, associated with the delivery of services under signed contracts 
which run to 2019.  

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the INR/GBP exchange rate, with all other variables held constant,  
of the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s equity due to changes in the fair value of the Group’s forward exchange contracts. 

Increase/ 
(decrease)  

in INR  
exchange rate  

Effect on profit 
before tax

£m

Effect on 
equity

£m

2008 2.5%  – 6.3
2007 8.2%  – 14.4

Hedges 
Fair value hedges 
The Group has in issue fixed rate dollar and sterling bonds which it has hedged through a combination of interest rate and currency swaps. 

At 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007, the Group had an interest rate swap in place with a notional amount of £87.0m whereby it receives a fixed 
rate of interest of 6.44% and pays a variable rate based on 6 month LIBOR. The swap is being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of 
£87.0m of the Group’s 6.44% bonds. 

At December 2008 and December 2007, the Group had in place currency swaps whereby it receives a fixed rate of interest and pays a variable rate based 
on 6 month LIBOR. The currency swaps are being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of £518.2m of the Group’s bonds, which have 
coupon rates ranging from 5.57% to 6.47%. 

The swaps are being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the value of its US dollar issued bonds. The unsecured bonds, currency and interest rate 
swaps have the same critical terms including the amount and the date of maturity (see note 21). The Group may, at its option, upon notice of not less 
than 30 days and not more than 60 days, repay at any time all or part of the notes at no more than the present value of future payments. In addition,  
the Group has covenanted to maintain a specified consolidated leverage ratio and a consolidated net interest expense coverage ratio. 

In February 2008, as noted above in the section on interest rate risk, the Group entered a series of callable interest rate swaps which have effectively  
fixed the interest rate on £480.0m of the Group’s bonds; this includes £75.0m issued at floating rates in 2005 not mentioned as being hedged above. 
These callable swaps have not been designated as hedging instruments. 

Cash flow hedges 
As noted above, the Group holds a series of forward exchange currency contracts in the form of NDFs designated as hedges of highly probable forecast 
transactions in INR of the Group’s Indian operations. 

Forward exchange contracts 
Assets

£m

2008 
Liabilities 

£m  
Assets

£m

2007
Liabilities

£m

Fair value 25.7 –  5.6 –

The terms of the forward currency contracts have been negotiated to match the terms of the commitments. 

The cash flow hedges in respect of the highly probable forecast monthly costs, based on long term contracts that the Group has in place, denominated  
in INR up to 2019 were assessed to be highly effective and as at 31 December 2008, a net unrealised gain of £25.7m (2007: £5.6m) less deferred tax of 
£7.2m (2007: £1.6m) was recognised in equity. The net gain recognised on cash flow hedges during the year was £20.9m (2007: £5.6m) whilst net gains  
of £0.8m (2007: £nil) were reclassified to the income statement and included in administrative expenses. The tax effect of the net movement in cash flow 
hedges during the year was a charge of £5.6m (2007: £1.6m). 
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24 Financial instruments (continued) 
Credit risk 
The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject 
to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts 
is not significant. 

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, available for sale financial 
investments, investment loan, financial assets at fair value through the income statement, investment in a joint venture and certain derivative 
instruments, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, there is no concentration of counterparty risk and the  
Group takes all reasonable steps to seek assurance from the associated parties to ensure that it can manage any risk identified appropriately. 

The Group has a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of the above receivables and instruments. 

The Group has a master netting arrangement in respect of its banking facilities resulting in the legal right of set-off for its overdraft and cash balances. 

Liquidity risk 
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a daily cash management process. This process considers the maturity of both the Group’s 
financial investments and financial assets (e.g. accounts receivable, other financial assets) and projected cash flows from operations. 

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans, loan notes, 
bonds and finance leases. 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2008 based on contractual payments. 

At 31 December 2008 

Within 
1 year

£m

Between
1–2 years

£m

Between 
2–3 years

£m

Between 
3–4 years

£m

Between 
4–5 years 

£m  

More than
5 years

£m
Total

£m

Loan notes 3.7 – – – –  – 3.7
Bonds 101.3 – – 27.2 105.0  719.6 953.1
Interest on above bonds 3.0 – – 5.5 20.9  302.7 332.1
Asset-based securitised financing 10.4 – – – –  – 10.4
Callable swaps 1.1 – – 1.5 5.9  23.5 32.0
 119.5 – – 34.2 131.8  1,045.8 1,331.3
 

At 31 December 2007 

Within 
1 year

£m

Between
1–2 years

£m

Between 
2–3 years

£m

Between 
3–4 years

£m

Between 
4–5 years 

£m  

More than
5 years

£m
Total

£m

Loan notes 1.7 – – – –  – 1.7
Obligations under finance leases 0.2 – – – –  – 0.2
Overdrafts 46.1 – – – –  – 46.1
Bonds – 88.4 – – 18.7  354.0 461.1
Asset-based securitised financing 9.7 – – – –  – 9.7
Foreign currency swaps – 11.8 – – 6.0  1.3 19.1
 57.7 100.2 – – 24.7  355.3 537.9

Capital management 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios to support its 
business and maximise shareholder value. 

The Group manages its capital structure, and makes adjustments to it, in the light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the 
objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007. 

The Group does not set a target level of gearing but uses capital opportunistically to add value for shareholders. The key discipline adopted by the Group 
is to widen the margin between the return on capital employed and the cost of that capital as shown in the business review on page 30. 

The table below presents quantitative data for the components the Group manages as capital: 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Shareholders’ funds 396.9 331.8
Bank overdraft – 46.1
Cash in hand (86.7) (0.8)
Unsecured loan notes 3.7 1.7
Obligations under finance leases – 0.2
Bonds 953.1 461.1
Currency and interest rate swaps (274.3) 18.0
At 31 December 992.7 858.1

 



 The Capita Group Plc 107 
 

25 Authorised and issued share capital 
2008

Million
2007 

Million  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Authorised   
Ordinary shares of 2 1/15p  967.7 967.7  20.0 20.0
Allotted, called up and fully paid   
Ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each (pre 14 September 2007: ordinary shares of 2p each)   
At 1 January – ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each (2007: 2p each) 609.0 617.6  12.6 12.3
Shares repurchased – ordinary shares of 2p each – (6.6)  – (0.1)
Issued on exercise of share options – ordinary shares of 2p each  – 7.9  – 0.2
Reduction in issued shares on consolidation – see below – (20.0)  – –
Issued on exercise of share options – ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each 12.2 10.1  0.2 0.2
At 31 December – ordinary shares of 2 1/15p  621.2 609.0  12.8 12.6

In September 2007, The Capita Group Plc, by ordinary resolution, approved a share consolidation whereby shareholders on the register on 14 September 
2007 exchanged 31 existing ordinary shares of 2p for 30 new ordinary shares of 21/15p each. The effect of the share consolidation was to reduce the 
authorised share capital of the company to 967,741,920 ordinary shares of 21/15p each and to reduce the number of shares in issue by 20m. 

During the year the Group repurchased 10.4m ordinary 2 1/15p shares with an aggregate nominal value of £0.2m at a total cost of £68.4m for which it 
paid cash at an average cost per share of £6.58. There were additional expenses of acquiring the shares of £0.4m in the year. These shares were held in the 
Capita Employee Benefit Trust at 31 December 2008. 

During the year 12.2m ordinary 2 1/15p shares with an aggregate nominal value of £0.2m were issued under share option schemes for a total consideration  
of £35.7m. 

Treasury shares 
2008

Million
2007 

Million  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Ordinary shares of 2 1/15p   
At 1 January – –  – –
Shares repurchased – ordinary 2 1/15p shares 10.4 –  0.2 –
Shares transferred to Employee Benefit Trust  (10.4)   (0.2)
At 31 December – ordinary shares of 2 1/15p  – –  – –

 

Employee Benefit Trust shares 
2008

Million
2007 

Million  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Ordinary shares of 2 1/15p   
At 1 January – –  – –
Shares transferred from treasury  10.4   0.2
At 31 December – ordinary shares of 2 1/15p  10.4 –  0.2 –

The Group will use shares held in the Employee Benefit Trust to satisfy future requirements for shares under the Group’s share option and long term 
investment plans.  

The Group has an unexpired authority to repurchase up to 10% of its issued share capital. 

26 Share based payment plans 
The Group operates several share based payment plans as follows: 

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan 
This scheme is applicable to Executive Directors and Divisional Executive Directors. Under this scheme awards are made annually consisting of Deferred 
Shares, which are linked to the payout under the Annual Bonus Scheme (details of which are contained in the Directors’ remuneration report) and 
Matching Shares. The value of Deferred Shares is determined by the payout under the Annual Bonus Scheme: half of the annual bonus is paid in cash and  
the remainder is compulsorily deferred on a gross basis into Deferred Shares. The Deferred Shares are held for a period of 3 years from the date of award 
during which they are not forfeitable, except in the case of dismissal for gross misconduct. 

A conditional award of Matching Shares is made at the same time as the award of Deferred Shares. Participants will be eligible to receive up to 1.5 
Matching Shares for every Deferred Share. Matching Shares will vest after the 3 year holding period to the extent to which performance conditions have 
been met. 33.3% of the Matching Shares will vest if growth in the Company’s earnings per share (EPS) is equal to growth in the UK Retail Price Index (RPI) 
plus 6% per annum, rising on a straight-line basis to 100% vesting if growth in the Company’s EPS is equal to or greater than growth in the RPI plus 16% 
per annum. The performance condition attached to the awards may be amended by the Group Remuneration Committee, a sub-committee of the Group 
Board, from time to time, subject to the new condition being no less demanding than the original condition. 

Long Term Incentive Plan (2008 LTIP)  
The 2008 LTIP was approved and adopted at the AGM on 6 May 2008. The vesting of awards made during 2008 will depend on share price growth and 
EPS growth targets measured over a 3 year period. An award will not vest if the Capita’s average share price at the date of vesting is below the average 
share price at the date of grant. This scheme is open to all senior employees and shares will vest according to performance criteria. The number of shares 
which will vest is dependent upon the Company's EPS growth exceeding RPI growth by 4% and on banding within the scheme. 
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26 Share based payment plans (continued) 
Long Term Indexed Share Appreciation Scheme (LTISAS) 
The LTISAS was only open to the Executive Directors and the Divisional Executive Directors. Under the scheme, participants were provided with 2 equal 
tranches of 600,000 options. The criteria were the same for each of these grants and therefore both tranches had performance periods that ended on  
31 December 2006. The exercise price of the option was restated in line with the FTSE All Share Index from the date of grant to 25 November 2007.  
The restated exercise prices were £3.48 for the 2002 award and £4.74 for the 2004 award. This feature ensured that participants only gained if the share 
price out-performed the index. Options became exercisable, over the performance period, subject to the growth in the Company's EPS exceeding certain 
targets as follows: 

As growth in the Company's EPS over the 3 year period to 31 December 2006 exceeded RPI growth by 17.6%, 100% of the options vested (representing 
1,200,000 shares per participant) and became exercisable on 25 November 2007. 

The last award under the LTISAS was made in November 2004 and vested in full on 31 December 2006 and no further awards will be made under  
this plan. 

Long Term Investment Plan (LTIP)  
Awards under the LTIP were structured either as Restricted Share Awards or Indexed Performance Share Appreciation Rights (IPSARSs). The last Restricted 
Share Awards and awards of IPSARSs vested in full in May 2001 and 2003 respectively. The performance requirements were met in full on those dates 
and the IPSARS are exercisable at £1.69. No further awards were made under the LTIP and only 1 award of IPSARS was made.  

1997 Executive Share Option Scheme 
This scheme is open to senior employees other than Executive Directors and Divisional Executive Directors. The exercise price of the options is equal to the 
market price of the shares on the date of grant. Options granted under this scheme become exercisable if the growth in the Company’s EPS exceeds the 
growth in RPI by 8% over the 3 year vesting period from the date of grant. The contractual life of each option granted is 7 years. There are no cash 
settlement alternatives. 

Capita Sharesave Scheme 
This is an employee Save As You Earn scheme open to all Capita employees. Under this scheme, employees are granted share options at a discount  
to the market price at the date of grant. The discount is currently nil (2007: nil; 2006: nil; 2005: 10% and 20% prior to 2005). The options become 
exercisable for a 6 month period following completion of a 3 or 5 year savings period. There are no performance conditions attached to these options. 

The expense recognised for share based payments in respect of employee services received during the year to 31 December 2008 was £9.2m  
(2007: £8.6m), all of which arises from equity-settled share based payment transactions. 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options during the year (excluding 
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan, LTISAS and IPSARS), which are shown separately. 

Share options (1997 Executive Share Option Scheme and Capita Sharesave Scheme) 
2008

Million
2008 

WAEP 
2007

Million
2007

WAEP

Outstanding as at 1 January 20.6 £4.54 28.9 £3.65
Granted during the year 1.6 £7.04 5.5 £6.89
Exercised (6.7) £3.88 (10.8) £3.54
Forfeited (1.3) £5.65 (2.8) £3.91
Expired during the year (0.1) £4.57 (0.2) £4.07
Outstanding as at 31 December1 14.1 £5.05 20.6 £4.54
Exercisable at 31 December 3.3 £3.29 4.8 £3.45
1Included within this balance are options over 0.8m (2007: 6.4m) shares that have not been recognised in accordance with IFRS 2 as the options were granted on or before 7 November 2002.  
These options have not been subsequently modified and therefore do not need to be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2. 

The options have been exercised on a regular basis throughout the year and the weighted average share price during the year was £6.76 (2007: £7.03). 

2008 LTIP 
2008

Million
2008 

WAEP 
2007

Million
2007

WAEP

Awarded during the year 1.9 – – –
Forfeited (0.1) – – –
Outstanding as at 31 December 1.8 – – –
Exercisable at 31 December – – – –
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26 Share based payment plans (continued) 
LTISAS 

2008
Million

2008 
WAEP 

2007
Million

2007
WAEP

Outstanding as at 1 January 3.5 £4.32 10.7 £4.11
Exercised (2.4) £4.12 (7.2) £4.01
Outstanding as at 31 December 1.1 £4.74 3.5 £4.32
Exercisable at 31 December 1.1 £4.74 3.5 £4.32
The options were exercised at a weighted average price of £7.16 (2007: £7.10). 

Under the LTISAS scheme two tranches of 600,000 share options have been issued to each participant in the scheme. Both were deemed to have been 
granted in November 2002. The first tranche, totalling 5,400,000 share options, was awarded and issued in November 2002 when the share price was   
£2.16. The second tranche, also totalling 5,400,000 share options, was awarded in November 2002 and issued in November 2004 when the share price  
was £3.51. Both tranches of share options became exercisable on 25 November 2007, with a weighted average exercise price of £4.11.  

IPSARS 
2008

Million
2008 

WAEP 
2007

Million
2007

WAEP

Outstanding as at 1 January 2.4 £1.69 2.4 £1.69
Exercised (2.4) £1.69 – –
Outstanding as at 31 December – – 2.4 £1.69
Exercisable at 31 December – – 2.4 £1.69

The options were exercised at a weighted average price of £6.81 (2007: n/a). 

The total cash value of the Deferred Shares awarded during the year under the Deferred Annual Bonus plan, discussed above, was £1.7m (2007: £1.5m). 
The Matching Shares allocation in respect of the 2007 awards under this plan charged in 2008 was £0.6m (2007: £0.6m). 

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was £2.69 (2007: £1.11). The range of exercise prices for all options outstanding  
at the end of the year was £1.88 to £7.33 (2007: £1.88 to £7.33). 

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a multiple simulation option pricing valuation model, 
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the years 
ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007. 

 2008 2007

Dividend yield (%) 1.5 1.5
Expected share price volatility (%) 22.41 19.00
Risk free interest rate (%) 4.64 4.97
Expected life of option (years) 3.10 3.62
Weighted average share price of options granted during the year £7.04 £6.89

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility 
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features 
of options grant were incorporated into the measurement of fair value. 
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27 Reconciliation of movements in equity 

 

Share 
capital 

£m  

Share 
premium 

£m  

Employee 
Benefit Trust

shares
£m

Capital
redemption

reserve
£m

Retained
earnings

£m

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

£m

Net 
unrealised 

gains reserve 
£m  

Total 
equity 

£m  

Minority
interests

£m
Total

£m

At 1 January 2007 12.3  308.1  – 1.7 4.0 (0.4) –  325.7  0.1 325.8
Total recognised income and 
expense for the year –  –  – – 188.2 1.1 4.0  193.3  – 193.3
Share based payment –  –  – – 8.6 – –  8.6  – 8.6
Purchase of own shares – 
cancelled (0.1) –  – 0.1 (43.6) – –  (43.6)  – (43.6)
Transferred to goodwill on 
purchase of minority interest –  –  – – – – –  –  (0.1) (0.1)
Share transaction costs –  –  – – (0.5) – –  (0.5)  – (0.5)
Shares issued 0.4  66.8  – – – – –  67.2  – 67.2
Treasury shares purchased –  –  – – (0.3) – –  (0.3)  – (0.3)
Equity dividends paid –  –  – – (218.6) – –  (218.6)  – (218.6)
At 1 January 2008  12.6  374.9  – 1.8 (62.2) 0.7 4.0  331.8  – 331.8
Total recognised income and 
expense for the year –  –  – – 146.6 5.9 14.5  167.0  – 167.0
Share based payment –  –  – – 9.2 – –  9.2  – 9.2
Share transaction costs –  –  – – (0.4) – –  (0.4)  – (0.4)
Shares issued 0.2  35.5  – – – – –  35.7  – 35.7
Employee benefit trust shares 
purchased –  –  (0.2) – (68.2) – –  (68.4)  – (68.4)
Equity dividends paid –  –  – – (78.0) – –  (78.0)  – (78.0)
At 31 December 2008 12.8  410.4  (0.2) 1.8 (53.0) 6.6 18.5  396.9  – 396.9

Share capital – The balance classified as share capital is the nominal proceeds on issue of the Company’s equity share capital, comprising 21/15p  
ordinary shares.  

Share premium – The amount paid to the Company by shareholders, in cash or other consideration, over and above the nominal value of shares issued  
to them. 

Employee Benefit Trust shares – Shares that have been bought back by the Company, which are available for retirement or resale; shares held in the 
Employee Benefit Trust have no voting rights and do not have entitlement to a dividend. 

Capital redemption reserve – The Company can redeem shares by repaying the nominal value to the shareholder, whereupon the shares are cancelled. 
Redemption must be from distributable profits.  

Foreign currency translation reserve – Gains or losses resulting from the process of expressing amounts denominated or measured in 1 currency in terms 
of another currency by use of the exchange rate between the 2 currencies. This process is required to consolidate the financial statements of foreign 
affiliates into the total Group financial statements and to recognise the conversion of foreign currency or the settlement of a receivable or payable 
denominated in foreign currency at a rate different from that at which the item is recorded.  

Net unrealised gains reserve – This reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined to be  
an effective hedge. Also recorded here are fair value changes on available for sale investments. 

Retained earnings – Net profits kept to accumulate in the Group after dividends are paid and retained in the business as working capital. 
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28 Additional cash flow information  
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds/(debt) 

Net debt at 
1 January 

2008
£m

Acquisitions
in 2008

(exc. cash)
£m

Cash flow  
movements 

£m  

Non-cash flow
movements

£m

Net debt at
31 December

2008
£m

Cash and cash equivalents 0.8 – 85.9  – 86.7
Overdrafts (46.1) – 46.1  – –
Cash (45.3) – 132.0  – 86.7
Loan notes (1.7) – 3.3  (5.3) (3.7)
Bonds† (461.1) – (199.5)  (292.5) (953.1)
Currency swaps in relation to US$ denominated bonds† (18.1) – –  287.7 269.6
Interest rate swaps in relation to GBP denominated bonds† 0.1 – –  4.6 4.7
Finance leases (0.2) – 0.2  – –
Sub-total net debt (526.3) – (64.0)  (5.5) (595.8)
Asset based securitised finance* (9.7) – (0.7)  – (10.4)
Callable swaps – – –  (32.0) (32.0)
 (536.0) – (64.7)  (37.5) (638.2)

The aggregate bond fair value above of £953.1m (disclosed in note 21 – Financial liabilities) includes the GBP value of the US$ denominated bonds at  
31 December 2008. To remove the Group’s exposure to currency fluctuations it has entered into currency swaps which effectively hedge the movement 
in the underlying bond fair value. The interest rate swap is being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of GBP denominated bonds.  
The combined fair value of the swaps, of £274.3m, is disclosed in note 15 – Financial assets.  
†The sum of these items held at fair value equates to the underlying value of the Group’s bond debt of £678.8m. 

*The asset based securitised finance movement represents the net movement on the underlying balances with customers. 

Notes

Net debt at 
1 January 

2007
£m

Acquisitions
in 2007

(exc. cash)
£m

Cash flow  
movements 

£m  

Non-cash flow
movements

£m

Net debt at
31 December

2007
£m

Cash and cash equivalents 9.7 – (8.9)  – 0.8
Overdrafts (0.5) – (45.6)  – (46.1)
Cash 9.2 – (54.5)  – (45.3)
Loan notes (22.2) – 26.4  (5.9) (1.7)
Long term debt – (8.2) 8.2  – –
Bonds (372.0) – (100.6)  11.5 (461.1)
Currency swaps in relation to US$ denominated bonds (6.4) – –  (11.7) (18.1)
Interest rate swaps in relation to GBP denominated bonds – – –  0.1 0.1
Finance leases (0.5) (0.1) 0.4  – (0.2)
Sub-total net debt (391.9) (8.3) (120.1)  (6.0) (526.3)
Asset based securitised finance  21 (27.5) – 17.8  – (9.7)
 (419.4) (8.3) (102.3)  (6.0) (536.0)

29 Capital commitments 
At 31 December 2008, amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
amounted to £0.7m (2007: £0.9m).  

30 Contingent liabilities 
(a) The Group has provided, through the normal course of its business, performance bonds and bank guarantees of £51.4m (2007: £37.9m).  

(b) Further consideration may be due, dependent on certain performance criteria, on acquisitions completed by the Group in 2005 up to a maximum  
of £0.3m. 

(c) Further consideration may be due, dependent on certain performance criteria, on acquisitions completed by the Group in 2007 up to a maximum  
of £21.9m. 

(d) Further consideration may be due, dependent on certain performance criteria, on acquisitions completed by the Group in 2008 up to a maximum  
of £17.0m. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

31 Pensions 
The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes. These pension schemes are funded and contributions are made  
to separate trustee-administered funds. The assets of the pension schemes are held separately from the Group. 

The pension charge for the defined contribution pension schemes for the year is £26.7m (2007: £21.8m). 

In 2008 there was one main defined benefit pension scheme where the Group was the sole employing sponsor: The Capita Pension and Life Assurance 
Scheme (Capita scheme). Grouped together under ‘Other schemes’ are smaller arrangements: 1 scheme where the Group is the sole employing sponsor; 
allocated sections of 2 multi-employer schemes in which the Group is a participating employer; an allocated section in an industry wide scheme; and 
several schemes to which the Group makes contributions under Admitted Body status to our customers’ defined benefit pension schemes  
in respect of certain TUPE employees. 

For the Admitted Body schemes, which are all part of the Local Government Pension Scheme, the Group will only participate in the schemes for a finite 
period up to the end of the contracts. The Group is required to pay regular contributions as decided by the respective Scheme Actuary and as detailed in 
each schemes’ Schedule of Contributions. In addition, for some schemes, the Group will be required to pay any deficit (as determined by the respective 
Scheme Actuary) that is remaining for the notional section of the scheme at the end of the contract. 

The assets and liabilities of the defined benefit pension schemes (excluding additional voluntary contributions) as at 31 December are: 

At 31 December 2008 

Capita 
scheme 

£m  

Other
schemes

£m
Group total

£m

Scheme assets at fair value:   
Equities/hedge funds/absolute returns 206.6  68.3 274.9
Bonds 66.7  29.9 96.6
Property 15.9  6.5 22.4
Insurance contracts 3.2  0.2 3.4
Cash/other  25.4  4.7 30.1
Total 317.8  109.6 427.4
Present value of scheme liabilities (320.2)  (131.7) (451.9)
Net asset/(liability) (2.4)  (22.1) (24.5)
 

At 31 December 2007 

Capita 
scheme 

£m  

Other
schemes

£m
Group total

£m

Scheme assets at fair value:   
Equities/hedge funds/absolute returns 248.9  85.1 334.0
Bonds 56.1  33.6 89.7
Property 17.5  8.8 26.3
Insurance contracts 3.5  0.5 4.0
Cash/other  24.5  9.6 34.1
Total 350.5  137.6 488.1
Present value of scheme liabilities (330.2)  (153.5) (483.7)
Net asset/(liability) 20.3  (15.9) 4.4

The pension schemes have not invested in any of the Group’s own financial instruments nor in properties or other assets used by the Group. 
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31 Pensions (continued) 
The amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement and in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense for the year are 
analysed as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 2008 

Capita 
scheme 

£m  

Other
schemes

£m
Group total

£m

Recognised in the income statement:   
Current service cost 21.6  3.2 24.8
Past service cost 0.7  – 0.7
Recognised in arriving at operating profit 22.3  3.2 25.5
Expected return on scheme assets (25.6)  (9.5) (35.1)
Interest cost on scheme liabilities 19.8  9.1 28.9
Net finance cost included in administrative expenses (5.8)  (0.4) (6.2)
Total defined benefit charge 16.5  2.8 19.3
Taken to the statement of recognised income and expense:   
Actual return on scheme assets (67.1)  (30.6) (97.7)
Less: expected return on scheme assets (25.6)  (9.5) (35.1)
 (92.7)  (40.1) (132.8)
Other actuarial gains  52.1  32.6 84.7
Actuarial losses recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense (40.6)  (7.5) (48.1)

Of the total service cost charge of £25.5m, £19.8m was included in cost of sales and £5.7m was included in administrative expenses. 

Year ended 31 December 2007 

Capita 
scheme 

£m  

Other
schemes

£m
Group total

£m

Recognised in the income statement:   
Current service cost 17.9  2.1 20.0
Past service cost 1.3  0.2 1.5
Recognised in arriving at operating profit 19.2  2.3 21.5
Expected return on scheme assets (22.8)  (8.3) (31.1)
Interest cost on scheme liabilities 17.4  7.4 24.8
Net finance cost included in administrative expenses (5.4)  (0.9) (6.3)
Total defined benefit charge 13.8  1.4 15.2
Taken to the statement of recognised income and expense:   
Actual return on scheme assets 18.5  8.0 26.5
Less: expected return on scheme assets (22.8)  (8.3) (31.1)
 (4.3)  (0.3) (4.6)
Other actuarial gains 28.4  1.6 30.0
Actuarial gains recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense 24.1  1.3 25.4

Of the total service cost charge of £21.5m, £16.7m was included in cost of sales and £4.8m was included in administrative expenses. 

Pension contributions are determined based on the advice of qualified independent actuaries. The Group made special additional cash contributions to the 
Capita scheme of £10m in December 2008 and £40m in January 2009 as a result of the outcome of the full formal valuation. 

Formal valuations of the Capita scheme and the FPS scheme were carried out as at 6 April 2005 and 31 March 2005 respectively. For the other schemes, 
the latest formal valuations were carried out as at either 1 April 2004, 31 December 2006 or 31 March 2007. The latest triennial formal valuation for the 
Capita scheme as at 6 April 2008 has been prepared and approval by the scheme’s trustees is expected shortly (the indicative valuation on the statutory 
funding objective basis is a deficit of £26.0m). These valuations are updated by qualified independent actuaries at each balance sheet date. Scheme assets 
are stated at their market valuations at each respective balance sheet date. 

The assumption for the expected long term rate of return on assets has been derived by considering the current level of expected returns on risk-free 
investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes in which the portfolio is 
invested and the expectations for future returns of each asset class. The expected return for each asset was then weighted based on the target asset 
allocation to develop the assumption for the expected long term rate of return on assets for the portfolio. 
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31 Pensions (continued) 
 Capita scheme  Other schemes

Main assumptions: 
2008

%
2007 

%  
2008 

% 
2007

%

Rate of price inflation 2.7 3.2  2.7 3.2 
Rate of salary increase 3.7 4.2  3.7 4.2 
Rate of increase of pensions in payment1:     
– inflation capped at 5% 2.6 3.2  2.6 3.2 
– inflation capped at 2.5% 2.0 2.3  2.0 2.3 
Discount rate 6.2 5.9  6.2 5.9 
Expected rates of return on scheme assets (net of scheme expenses):     
Equities/hedge funds/absolute returns 5.6 to 7.7 7.6  5.6 to 7.7 7.6 
Bonds 5.7 5.2  4.6 to 6.2 5.0 to 5.5 
Property 4.6 7.6  4.6 7.6 
Insurance contracts 6.2 5.9  6.2 5.9 
Cash/other  2.0 5.5  2.0 5.5 
Expected take up of extended limits of tax free cash due to A day legislation 50.0 50.0  50.02 50.02

 

 Capita scheme Other schemes3

Post retirement mortality  2008 2007 2008 2007

– Current pensioners PA92 MC (YOB) 
rated up 1 year, 0.5% p.a. 

minimum improvement

PA92 MC (YOB)
 rated up 2 years

PA92 MC (YOB)  
rated up 1 year, 0.5% p.a.  

minimum improvement 

PA92 MC (YOB) 
rated up 2 years

– Future pensioners PA92 MC (YOB) 
rated up 1 year, 0.5% p.a. 

minimum improvement

PA92 MC (YOB)
 rated up 2 years

PA92 MC (YOB)  
rated up 1 year, 0.5% p.a.  

minimum improvement 

PA92 MC (YOB) 
rated up 2 years

Mortality tables above are independently prepared and published. 

This does not apply to the Admitted Body schemes. 

There are other levels of pension increase which apply to particular periods of membership. 
This does not apply to the Admitted Body Schemes where no allowance for the extended limits is taken. 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit pension obligations are analysed as follows: 

Capita  
scheme 

£m  

Other
schemes

£m
Group total

£m

As at 1 January 2007 328.8  141.8 470.6
Current service cost 17.9  2.1 20.0
Past service cost 1.3  0.2 1.5
Interest cost 17.4  7.4 24.8
Benefits paid (8.1)  (3.3) (11.4)
Actuarial gains and losses (28.4)  (1.6) (30.0)
Contributions by employees 0.3  1.1 1.4
Contract bulk transfers/change in classification of plans 1.0  5.8 6.8
As at 31 December 2007 330.2  153.5 483.7
Current service cost 21.6  3.2 24.8
Past service cost 0.7  – 0.7
Interest cost 19.8  9.1 28.9
Benefits paid (9.5)  (2.8) (12.3)
Actuarial gains and losses (52.1)  (32.6) (84.7)
Contributions by employees 0.3  1.3 1.6
Contract bulk transfers/change in classification of plans 9.2  – 9.2
As at 31 December 2008 320.2  131.7 451.9

The defined benefit obligation comprises £451.9m (2007: £483.7m) arising from schemes that are wholly or partly funded. 

1

2

3



 The Capita Group Plc 115 
 

31 Pensions (continued) 
Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are analysed as follows: 

Capita  
scheme 

£m  

Other
schemes

£m
Group total

£m

As at 1 January 2007 321.4  122.4 443.8
Expected return on scheme assets 22.8  8.3 31.1
Contract bulk transfers/business combinations 1.0  5.8 6.8
Employer contributions 17.4  3.6 21.0
Contributions by employees 0.3  1.1 1.4
Benefits paid (8.1)  (3.3) (11.4)
Actuarial gains and losses (4.3)  (0.3) (4.6)
As at 31 December 2007 350.5  137.6 488.1
Expected return on scheme assets 25.6  9.5 35.1
Contract bulk transfers/business combinations 9.2  – 9.2
Employer contributions 34.4  4.1 38.5
Contributions by employees 0.3  1.3 1.6
Benefits paid (9.5)  (2.8) (12.3)
Actuarial gains and losses (92.7)  (40.1) (132.8)
As at 31 December 2008 317.8  109.6 427.4

The total employer contributions to the defined benefit pension schemes in 2009 are estimated to be £66.9m in respect of the Capita scheme and £5.1m 
in respect of the ‘Other’ schemes. 

History of experience gains and losses: 

2008
£m

2007
£m

2006 
£m 

2005
£m

2004
£m

Capita scheme  
Fair value of scheme assets 317.8 350.5 321.4 286.1 234.4
Present value of defined benefit obligation (320.2) (330.2) (328.8) (308.1) (257.8)
Scheme surplus/(deficit) (2.4) 20.3 (7.4) (22.0) (23.4)
Experience adjustments arising on scheme liabilities 3.5 – 3.6 (29.3) (20.6)
Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets (92.7) (4.3) 9.8 26.4 2.6
Other schemes  
Fair value of scheme assets 109.6 137.6 122.4 109.3 84.6
Present value of defined benefit obligation (131.7) (153.5) (141.8) (130.3) (105.3)
Scheme deficit (22.1) (15.9) (19.4) (21.0) (20.7)
Experience adjustments arising on scheme liabilities 28.7 0.1 (3.9) (13.1) (4.7)
Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets (40.1) (0.3) 3.5 12.5 3.0

The cumulative amount of actuarial losses recognised since 1 January 2004 in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense is £33.1m 
(2007: cumulative actuarial gains of £15.0m). The Directors are unable to determine how much of the pension scheme deficit recognised on transition  
to IFRS of £77.8m (of which an IFRS transitional adjustment of £67.7m was taken directly to equity) is attributable to actuarial gains and losses since 
inception of those pension schemes. Consequently, the Directors are unable to determine the amount of actuarial gains and losses that would have  
been recognised in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense before 1 January 2004.  

32 Related party transactions 
Other than the information disclosed in the Directors’ report and the Directors’ remuneration report, the only other related party transactions requiring 
disclosure are details of key management personnel compensation. These details are set out in the table below. 

Compensation of key management personnel (excluding Directors of parent company) 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Short term employment benefits 2.1 3.0
Post employment benefits – 0.1
Share based payments 1.2 1.8
 3.3 4.9

Gains on share options exercised in the year by key management personnel totalled £2.5m (2007: £11.3m). 
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 
 

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge: 

a) the consolidated financial statements in this report, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the European Union, IFRIC interpretations and those parts of the Companies Acts 1985 and 2006 applicable to companies reporting under 
IFRS, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group taken as a whole: and 

b) the parent company financial statements in this report, which have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards  
(UK GAAP) and applicable law, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Company; and 

c) the management report contained in this report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and position of the 
Company and the Group taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face. 

 

By order of the Board. 

 

 

 

P R M Pindar  G M Hurst 
Chief Executive Group Finance Director 

25 February 2009 
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Independent auditors’ report to the 
members of The Capita Group Plc 
We have audited the Group financial statements of The Capita Group Plc for the year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the consolidated income 
statement, the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated cash flow statement, the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense and the 
related notes 1 to 32. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. 

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of The Capita Group Plc for the year ended 31 December 2008 and on the 
information in the Directors’ remuneration report that is described as having been audited.  

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors 
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law  
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the statement of Directors’ responsibilities. 

Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the Group financial statements have 
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion  
the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.  

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information 
specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed. 

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the company’s compliance with the 9 provisions of the 2006 Combined Code  
specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether  
the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance 
procedures or its risk and control procedures. 

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group financial statements.  
The other information comprises only the Directors’ report, the Business review, the corporate governance statement and the five year summary.  
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Group financial 
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information. 

Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes 
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the Group financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the 
significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors in the preparation of the Group financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies 
are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us  
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Group financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by  
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the Group  
financial statements. 

Opinion 
In our opinion: 

• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs 
as at 31 December 2008 and of its profit for the year then ended 

• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and 

• the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the Group financial statements. 

 

 

 

Ernst & Young LLP 
Registered Auditor 
London 

25 February 2009
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Five year summary 
for the year ended 31 December 2008 

 

Group balance sheet 
2008

£m
2007

£m
2006 

£m 
2005

£m
2004

£m

Non-current assets 1,488.8 1,032.5 862.5 783.5 668.2
Current assets 675.5 458.1 404.6 343.8 260.3
 2,164.3 1,490.6 1,267.1 1,127.3 928.5
Liabilities (1,764.1) (1,156.2) (939.6) (726.4) (562.7)
Provision for liabilities and charges (3.3) (2.6) (1.7) (3.3) (5.5)
 396.9 331.8 325.8 397.6 360.3
Capital and reserves 396.9 331.8 325.7 397.4 359.9
Minority interests – – 0.1 0.2 0.4
 396.9 331.8 325.8 397.6 360.3
Group income statement  
Turnover 2,441.4 2,073.3 1,738.5 1,435.5 1,282.2
Profit before interest, intangible amortisation and callable swaps  320.9 271.3 225.1 183.1 155.8
Other operating (expense)/income (0.2) 1.2 – – –
Net interest payable (43.5) (34.1) (25.0) (13.5) (11.9)
Profit before taxation, intangible amortisation and callable swaps 277.2 238.4 200.1 169.6 143.9
Intangible amortisation (18.6) (9.7) (6.9) (4.5) (1.8)
Impairment – – – (12.0) –
Callable swaps (32.0) – – – –
Discontinued operations – – – – (2.2)
Taxation (60.8) (62.5) (53.5) (45.8) (39.4)
Minority interests – 0.1 0.2 0.2
Profit after taxation 165.8 166.2 139.8 107.5 100.7
Basic earnings per share (excluding impairment, amortisation and callable swaps) 33.26p 28.10p 23.10p 18.60p 15.37p
Basic earnings per share (including impairment, amortisation and callable swaps) 27.26p 27.09p 22.32p 16.28p 15.13p
Diluted earnings per share (excluding impairment, amortisation and callable swaps) 32.96p 27.63p 22.56p 18.33p 15.24p
Diluted earnings per share (including impairment, amortisation and callable swaps) 27.01p 26.64p 21.80p 16.05p 15.00p
Special dividend – 25.00p – – –
Dividend per ordinary share 14.40p 12.00p 9.00p 7.00p 5.35p
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Company balance sheet  
at 31 December 2008 

Notes  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Fixed assets   
Tangible assets 5  18.8 19.3
Investments 7  473.8 372.1
Financial assets 6  21.6 4.7
   514.2 396.1
Current assets   
Trade investments 7  0.1 0.1
Financial assets 6  4.1 0.9
Debtors due within 1 year 8  435.8 873.8
Debtors due after more than 1 year 8  212.8 0.8
Cash   14.9 –
   667.7 875.6
Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year  9  125.7 97.9
Net current assets   542.0 777.7
Total net assets   1,056.2 1,173.8
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than 1 year  9  404.3 378.5
   651.9 795.3
Capital and reserves   
Called up share capital 11  12.8 12.6
Employee benefit trust 12  (0.2) –
Share premium account 12  410.4 374.9
Capital redemption reserve 12  1.8 1.8
Merger reserve 12  44.6 44.6
Profit and loss account 12  182.5 361.4
   651.9 795.3

The accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 February 2009 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

 

P R M Pindar  G M Hurst 
Chief Executive  Group Finance Director 
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Notes to the accounts  
for the year ended 31 December 2008 

1 Accounting policies 
(a) Basis of preparation 
The accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable accounting standards. The accounts comply with the 
following new Financial Reporting Standard issued by the UK Accounting Standards Board.  

Amendment to FRS 26 (IAS39): Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and FRS 29 (IFRS 7): Financial Instruments: Disclosures – 
Reclassification of Financial Assets 
These amendments to the standards, issued in October 2008, permit an entity to reclassify non-derivative financial assets (other than those designated at 
fair value through profit or loss by the entity upon initial recognition) out of the fair value through profit or loss category in particular circumstances. The 
amendments also permit an entity to transfer from the available-for-sale category to the loans and receivables category a financial asset that would have 
met the definition of loans and receivables (if the financial asset had not been designated as available for sale), if the entity has the intention and ability to 
hold that financial asset for the foreseeable future. These amendments, which are effective from 1 July 2008, have had no impact on the financial 
statements of the Company. 

A separate profit and loss account dealing with the results of the parent undertaking only has not been presented as provided by section 230 of the 
Companies Act 1985. 

(b) Tangible fixed assets 
Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the 
assets concerned, as follows: 

Computer equipment  3 – 10 years 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 4 – 5 years 
Leasehold improvements  over the period of the lease 

(c) Investments 
Fixed asset investments are shown at cost, less provisions for impairment. 

Investments held as current assets are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

The carrying value of fixed asset investments are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not  
be recoverable. 

(d) Pension schemes 
The Company maintains a number of contracted-out defined contribution schemes and contributions are charged to the profit and loss account in  
the year in which they are due. These schemes are funded and the payment of contributions is made to separately administered trust funds. The assets  
of these schemes are held separately from the Company. The Company remits monthly pension contributions to Capita Business Services Limited,  
a subsidiary undertaking of the Company, which pays the Group liability centrally. Any unpaid contributions at the year end have been accrued in the 
accounts of that company. 

(e) Leasing commitments 
Assets obtained under finance leases are capitalised in the balance sheet and depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful  
economic lives. 

The finance charges under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are allocated to accounting periods over the period of the lease and represent  
a constant proportion of the balance of capital repayments outstanding. Rentals due under operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over  
the lease term. 

(f) Deferred taxation 
Deferred taxation is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions  
or events have occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay more, or a right to pay less or to receive more, taxation, with the following 
exceptions: 

• provision is made for taxation on gains arising from the revaluation (and similar fair value adjustments) of fixed assets, and gains on disposal of fixed 
assets that have been rolled over into replacement assets, only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, there is a binding agreement to dispose  
of the assets concerned. However, no provision is made where, on the basis of all available evidence at the balance sheet date, it is more likely than  
not that the taxable gain will be rolled over into replacement assets and charged to taxation only where the replacement assets are sold 

• provision is made for deferred taxation that would arise on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries only to the extent that, at the 
balance sheet date, dividends have been accrued as receivable 

• deferred taxation assets are recognised only to the extent that the Directors consider that it is more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable 
profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted. 

Deferred taxation is measured on an undiscounted basis at the taxation rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences reverse, 
based on taxation rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.  
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 
(g) Foreign currencies 
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction or at the contracted rate if the transaction is covered by a 
forward exchange contract. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance 
sheet date or if appropriate at the forward contract rate. All differences are taken to the profit and loss account with the exception of differences on 
foreign currency borrowings, to the extent that they are used to finance or provide a hedge against foreign equity investments, which are taken directly  
to reserves together with the exchange difference on the carrying amount of the related investments. 

(h) National Insurance on share option gains 
National Insurance on outstanding share options at the year end has been grossed up and shown as a provision and a receivable on the balance sheet. 

(i) Financial instruments: disclosure and presentation 
A separate note dealing with the disclosures of FRS 29 has not been presented as provided by paragraph 2D (b) of FRS 29. The consolidated financial 
statements include the required disclosures of IFRS 7 for the Group. 

(j) Derivative financial instruments 
The Company uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and foreign currency contracts to hedge risks associated with interest  
and exchange rate fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. The fair values of interest rate swaps and foreign currency 
contracts are determined by reference to market rates for similar instruments.  

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either: fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of  
a recognised asset or liability; or cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to either a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a forecast transaction.  

In relation to fair value hedges (e.g. fixed to floating interest rate swaps held as fair value hedges against fixed interest rate borrowings) which meet the 
conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised immediately in the profit and loss 
account. Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and recognised  
in the profit and loss account. 

In relation to cash flow hedges the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity, while any ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in the profit and loss account. Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the profit and loss account when the hedged 
transaction affects the profit and loss account, such as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is recognised or when a forecast transaction 
occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the amounts taken to equity are transferred to the initial 
carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. 

If the forecast transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in equity are transferred to the profit  
and loss account. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge  
is revoked, amounts previously recognised in equity remain in equity until the forecast transaction or firm commitment occurs. 

For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to the profit and  
loss account.  

(k) Share based payments 
The Company operates a number of executive and employee share schemes.  

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted and is recognised 
as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is 
determined using an option pricing model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions 
linked to the price of the shares of the Company (market conditions).  

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are 
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.  

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period has expired and 
management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions, the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest  
or in the case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be treated as vesting as described above. The movement in cumulative expense since  
the previous balance sheet date is recognised in the profit and loss account, with a corresponding entry in equity. 

Subsidiary undertakings of the Company reimburse the Company through the inter company account for charges attributable to their employees 
participating in the Company’s share schemes. 
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2 Deferred taxation 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

The deferred taxation included in the balance sheet is as follows: 
Accelerated capital allowances (1.9) (1.8)
Share based payments 3.4 3.6
Cash flow hedges (7.2) (1.6)
Callable swaps 8.9 –
Provisions 0.6 –
Included in debtors note 8 3.8 0.2

3 Profit attributable to members of the parent undertaking 
The loss after taxation dealt with in the accounts of the parent undertaking was £41.5m (2007: profit of £550.3m). 

4 Dividends 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Declared and paid during the year 
Ordinary shares (equity): 
Final for 2007 paid: 8.0p per share (2006: 6.3p per share) 48.8 39.2
Interim for 2008 paid: 4.8p per share (2007: 4.0p per share) 29.2 24.7
Special dividend for 2007 paid: 25.0p per share – 154.7
 78.0 218.6
Proposed for approval at AGM (not recognised as a liability at 31 December) 
Ordinary shares (equity): 
Final for 2008: 9.6p per share (2007: 8.0p per share) 58.6 48.7

5 Tangible fixed assets 

 Computer
equipment

£m

Furniture,  
fixtures and 
equipment 

£m  

Short term
leasehold

improvements
£m

Total
£m

Cost   
1 January 2008 26.3 0.8  2.6 29.7
Additions 2.0 –  0.6 2.6
Disposals (0.8) –  – (0.8)
31 December 2008 27.5 0.8  3.2 31.5
Depreciation   
1 January 2008 8.3 0.5  1.6 10.4
Charge for year 2.7 0.1  0.3 3.1
Disposals (0.8) –  – (0.8)
31 December 2008 10.2 0.6  1.9 12.7
Net book value at:   
1 January 2008 18.0 0.3  1.0 19.3
31 December 2008 17.3 0.2  1.3 18.8
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6 Financial assets 

Current 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Cash flow hedges 4.1 0.9
 4.1 0.9
 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Non-current 
Cash flow hedges 21.6 4.7
 21.6 4.7

7 Investments 
(a) Fixed asset investments 

Shares in 
subsidiary 

undertakings
£m

Cost 
1 January 2008 372.1
Additions 132.7
Reductions (15.8)
Transfers to subsidiary undertakings (15.2)
31 December 2008 473.8

During the year the Company completed an intragroup transfer as follows: it disposed of Mission Testing Limited to Capita Holdings Limited at net book 
value and was settled by cash for a consideration of £15.2m. 

During the year the Company increased its investment in Capita Life & Pensions Regulated Services Limited by making a capital contribution of £20.0m. 
In addition the Company increased its investment in Capita Retail Financial Services Limited (formerly Capita Life & Pensions (Regulated) Limited) by 
making a capital contribution of £8.0m.  

During the year the Company reduced its investment in Capita Wealth & Distribution Services Limited by £15.0m and reduced its investment in Capita 
Hartshead Solutions Limited by £0.8m. Both of these subsidiaries are wholly owned. 

The Company made the following acquisitions during the year for a combined consideration of £104.7m: ComputerLand UK Limited (formerly 
ComputerLand UK PLC) and IBS OPENSystems Limited (formerly IBS OPENSystems plc). 

Principal investments 
Country of registration

and operation

Proportion of nominal  
value of issued shares 
held by the company 

Description of
shares held

Capita Holdings Limited England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita Business Services Limited* England 100% Ordinary 1p shares
Capita Trust Company Limited England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita Commercial Services Limited* England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
BDML Connect Limited* England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita Registrars Limited* (formerly Capita IRG Plc) England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita Resourcing Limited* England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita Symonds Limited* England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita Life & Pensions Limited England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita Life & Pensions Regulated Services Limited England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Evolvi Rail Systems Limited England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Service Birmingham Limited* England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
ComputerLand UK Limited  England 100% Ordinary £0.02 shares
IBS OPENSystems (UK) Limited England 100% Ordinary £1 shares

*Indirectly held 

The activities of The Capita Group Plc undertakings are given on page 131. 

(b) Trade investments 
£m

At 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2008 0.1
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8 Debtors 

Debtors due within 1 year 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 377.6 812.9
Taxation recoverable 52.2 58.2
Other taxes and social security – 0.4
Other debtors 1.7 0.6
Currency swap 0.4 –
Interest rate swap 0.7 –
Prepayments and accrued income 3.2 1.7
 435.8 873.8
 

Debtors due beyond 1 year 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Prepayments and accrued income 1.8 0.5
Deferred taxation 3.8 0.2
Currency swap 203.1 –
Interest rate swap 4.1 0.1
 212.8 0.8

9 Creditors 

Amounts falling due within 1 year 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Bank overdraft – 82.5
Trade creditors 2.9 0.6
Other creditors 0.2 0.3
Bonds 101.3 –
Callable swaps 1.0 –
Accruals and deferred income 20.3 14.5
 125.7 97.9
 

Amounts falling due after more than 1 year 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Bonds 373.4 357.5
Currency swap – 20.8
Callable swaps 30.9 –
Other creditors – 0.2
 404.3 378.5

The bank overdraft and the bonds are unsecured. 

10 Provisions for liabilities and charges 
Deferred taxation £m

At 1 January 2008 (0.2)
New provisions in the year (3.6)
At 31 December 2008 – included in debtors note 8 (3.8)
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11 Share capital 
2008

Million
2007 

Million  
2008

£m
2007

£m

Authorised   
Ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each 967.7 967.7  20.0 20.0
Allotted, called up and fully paid   
Ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each (pre 14 September 2007: ordinary shares of 2p each)   
At 1 January – ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each (2007: 2p each) 609.0 617.6  12.6 12.3
Shares repurchased – ordinary shares of 2p each – (6.6)  – (0.1)
Issued on exercise of share options – ordinary shares of 2p each – 7.9  – 0.2
Reduction in issued shares on consolidation – see below – (20.0)  – –
Issued on exercise of share options – ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each 12.2 10.1  0.2 0.2
At 31 December ordinary shares of 2 1/15p  621.2 609.0  12.8 12.6
 
Treasury  shares 

2008
Million

2007 
Million  

2008
£m

2007
£m

Ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each   
At 1 January – –  – –
Shares repurchased – ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each 10.4 –  0.2 –
Shares transferred to Capita Employee benefit trust – ordinary 2 1/15p shares (10.4) –  (0.2) –
At 31 December – ordinary shares of 2 1/15p – –  – –
 
Employee benefit trust shares 

2008
Million

2007 
Million  

2008
£m

2007
£m

Ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each   
At 1 January – –  – –
Shares transferred from treasury 10.4 –  0.2 –
At 31 December – ordinary shares of 2 1/15p 10.4 –  0.2 –

In September 2007, the Company, by ordinary resolution, approved a share consolidation whereby shareholders on the register on 14 September 2007 
exchanged 31 existing ordinary shares of 2p for 30 new ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each. The effect of the share consolidation was to reduce the authorised 
share capital of the Company to 967,741,920 ordinary shares of 2 1/15p each and to reduce the number of shares in issue by 20m. 

During the year the Company repurchased 10.4m ordinary 2 1/15p shares with an aggregate nominal value of £0.2m at a total cost of £68.4m for which it 
paid cash at an average cost per share of £6.58. These shares were cancelled. 

During the year 12.2m ordinary 2 1/15p shares with an aggregate nominal value of £0.2m were issued under share option schemes for a total consideration  
of £35.7m. 

The Company has an unexpired authority to repurchase up to 10% of its issued share capital. 

12 Reserves 

Company 
Share

premium
£m

Capital
redemption

reserve
£m

Merger  
reserve 

£m  

Employee 
benefit trust

shares
£m 

Profit and 
loss account

£m

At 1 January 2008  374.9 1.8 44.6  – 361.4
Shares issued 35.5 – –  – –
Share transaction costs – – –  – (0.4)
Employee Benefit Trust shares purchased – – –  (0.2) (68.2)
Share based payment – – –  – 9.2
Equity dividends paid – – –  – (78.0)
Retained loss for the year – – –  – (41.5)
At 31 December 2008 410.4 1.8 44.6  (0.2) 182.5
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13 Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds 

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

(Loss)/profit for the year (41.5) 550.3
Dividends (78.0) (218.6)
 (119.5) 331.7
Share based payment 9.2 14.4
Shares issued 35.7 67.2
Share transaction costs (0.4) (0.5)
Shares purchased (68.4) (43.9)
Net movement in shareholders’ funds (143.4) 368.9
Opening shareholders’ funds  795.3 426.4
Closing shareholders’ funds 651.9 795.3

14 Commitments and contingent liabilities 
(a) Annual commitments under operating leases were as follows: 

2008  2007

Property
£m

Other 
£m  

Property
£m

Other
£m

Operating leases which expire:   
 In 2 to 5 years inclusive 0.5 0.6  – 0.5
 Over 5 years from the balance sheet date 0.8 –  1.6 –
 1.3 0.6  1.6 0.5

(b) The Company has guaranteed overdraft and loan facilities of Group undertakings amounting to £245.0m (2007: £260.0m).  

15 Borrowings  

 
2008

£m
2007

£m

Bank overdraft payable on demand – 82.5
Bonds  377.7 378.2
 377.7 460.7
Repayments fall due as follows:  
Within 1 year: 
 Bonds 100.3 –
 Bank overdraft payable on demand  – 82.5
 100.3 82.5
After more than 1 year: 
 In more than 1 year but not more than 2 years – 100.2
 In more than 2 years but not more than 5 years 112.7 24.7
 In more than 5 years 164.7 253.3
 277.4 378.2
Total borrowings and finance leases 377.7 460.7
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15 Borrowings (continued) 
The Company has issued guaranteed unsecured bonds as follows: 

Bond 
Interest rate

% Denomination
Value 

£m Maturity

Issued 2002  
Series B 6.44 GBP* 55.0 20 June 2009
Issued 2005  
Series A 0.525 above 6m LIBOR GBP 50.0 28 September 2013
Series B 0.525 above 6m LIBOR GBP 25.0 28 September 2015
Total of sterling denominated bonds 130.0 
 

US$m 

Issued 2002  
Series A 6.10 US$** 66.0 20 June 2009
Series C 6.47 US$** 36.0 20 June 2012
Issued 2006  
Series A 5.74 US$** 60.0 28 June 2013
Series B 5.88 US$** 130.0 28 June 2016
Series A 5.66 US$** 11.0 13 September 2013
Series B 5.81 US$** 74.0 13 September 2016
Series C 5.77 US$** 60.0 13 September 2016
Total of US$ denominated bonds 437.0  

All series are unsecured.  
*The Company has entered into an interest rate swap to convert the interest cost based on 6 month LIBOR.  
**The Company has entered into currency swaps for the US$ issues to achieve a floating rate of interest based on 6 month LIBOR. Further disclosure on the Company’s use of hedges is included  
in note 24 commencing on page 103. 

16 Related party transactions 
There were no related party transactions that require disclosure in the year. 

17 Pension costs 
The Company operates a defined contribution scheme. 

The pension charge for the defined contribution scheme for the year was £1.3m (2007: £1.2m). 
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18 Share based payment 
The Company operates several share based payment plans as follows: 

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan 
This scheme is applicable to Executive Directors and Divisional Executive Directors. Under this scheme awards are made annually consisting of Deferred 
Shares, which are linked to the payout under the Annual Bonus Scheme (details of which are contained in the Directors’ remuneration report) and 
Matching Shares. The value of Deferred Shares is determined by the payout under the Annual Bonus Scheme: half of the annual bonus is paid in cash and  
the remainder is compulsorily deferred on a gross basis into Deferred Shares. The Deferred Shares are held for a period of 3 years from the date of award 
during which they are not forfeitable, except in the case of dismissal for gross misconduct. 

A conditional award of Matching Shares is made at the same time as the award of Deferred Shares. Participants will be eligible to receive up to 1.5 
Matching Shares for every Deferred Share. Matching Shares will vest after the 3 year holding period to the extent to which performance conditions have 
been met. 33.3% of the Matching Shares will vest if growth in the Company’s earnings per share (EPS) is equal to growth in the UK Retail Price Index (RPI) 
plus 6% per annum, rising on a straight-line basis to 100% vesting if growth in the Company’s EPS is equal to or greater than growth in the RPI plus 16% 
per annum. The performance condition attached to the awards may be amended by the Group Remuneration Committee, a sub-committee of the Group 
Board, from time to time, subject to the new condition being no less demanding than the original condition. 

Long Term Incentive Plan (2008 LTIP)  
The 2008 LTIP was approved and adopted at the AGM on 6 May 2008. The vesting of awards made during 2008 will depend on share price growth and 
EPS growth targets measured over a 3 year period. An award will not vest if the Capita’s average share price at the date of vesting is below the average 
share price at the date of grant. This scheme is open to all senior employees and shares will vest according to performance criteria. The number of shares 
which will vest is dependent upon the Company's EPS growth exceeding RPI growth by 4% and on banding within the scheme. 

Long Term Indexed Share Appreciation Scheme (LTISAS) 
The LTISAS was only open to the Executive Directors and the Divisional Executive Directors. Under the scheme, participants were provided with 2 equal 
tranches of 600,000 options. The criteria were the same for each of these grants and therefore both tranches had performance periods that ended on  
31 December 2006. The exercise price of the option was restated in line with the FTSE All Share Index from the date of grant to 25 November 2007.  
The restated exercise prices were £3.48 for the 2002 award and £4.74 for the 2004 award. This feature ensured that participants only gained if the share 
price out-performed the index. Options became exercisable, over the performance period, subject to the growth in the Company's EPS exceeding certain 
targets as follows: 

As growth in the Company's EPS over the 3 year period to 31 December 2006 exceeded RPI growth by 17.6%, 100% of the options vested (representing 
1,200,000 shares per participant) and became exercisable on 25 November 2007. 

The last award under the LTISAS was made in November 2004 and vested in full on 31 December 2006 and no further awards will be made under  
this plan. 

Long Term Investment Plan (LTIP)  
Awards under the LTIP were structured either as Restricted Share Awards or Indexed Performance Share Appreciation Rights (IPSARSs). The last Restricted 
Share Awards and awards of IPSARSs vested in full in May 2001 and 2003 respectively. The performance requirements were met in full on those dates 
and the IPSARS are exercisable at £1.69. No further awards were made under the LTIP and only 1 award of IPSARS was made.  
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18 Share based payment (continued) 
1997 Executive Share Option Scheme 
This scheme is open to senior employees other than Executive Directors and Divisional Executive Directors. The exercise price of the options is equal to the 
market price of the shares on the date of grant. Options granted under this scheme become exercisable if the growth in the Company’s EPS exceeds the 
growth in RPI by 8% over the 3 year vesting period from the date of grant. The contractual life of each option granted is 7 years. There are no cash 
settlement alternatives. 

Capita Sharesave Scheme 
This is an employee Save As You Earn scheme open to all Capita employees. Under this scheme, employees are granted share options at a discount  
to the market price at the date of grant. The discount is currently nil (2007: nil; 2006: nil; 2005: 10% and 20% prior to 2005). The options become 
exercisable for a 6 month period following completion of a 3 or 5 year savings period. There are no performance conditions attached to these options. 

The Group expense recognised for share based payments in respect of employee services received during the year to 31 December 2008 was £9.2m  
(2007: £8.6m), all of which arises from equity-settled share based payment transactions. The total Company expense, after recharging subsidiary 
undertakings, charged to the profit and loss account in respect of FRS 20 “Share based payment” was £2.9m (2007: £2.8m). 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options during the year (excluding 
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan, LTISAS and IPSARS), which are shown separately. 

Share options (1997 Executive Share Option Scheme and Capita Sharesave Scheme) 
2008

Million
2008 

WAEP 
2007

Million
2007

WAEP

Outstanding as at 1 January 20.6 £4.54 28.9 £3.65
Granted during the year 1.6 £7.04 5.5 £6.89
Exercised (6.7) £3.88 (10.8) £3.54
Forfeited (1.3) £5.65 (2.8) £3.91
Expired during the year (0.1) £4.57 (0.2) £4.07
Outstanding as at 31 December1 14.1 £5.05 20.6 £4.54
Exercisable at 31 December 3.3 £3.29 4.8 £3.45
1Included within this balance are options over 0.8m (2007: 6.4m) shares that have not been recognised in accordance with IFRS 2 as the options were granted on or before 7 November 2002. These 
options have not been subsequently modified and therefore do not need to be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2. 

The options have been exercised on a regular basis throughout the year and the weighted average share price during the year was £6.76 (2007: £7.03). 

2008 LTIP 
2008

Million
2008 

WAEP 
2007

Million
2007

WAEP

Awarded during the year 1.9 – – –
Forfeited (0.1) – – –
Outstanding as at 31 December 1.8 – – –
Exercisable at 31 December – – – –

LTISAS 
2008

Million
2008 

WAEP 
2007

Million
2007

WAEP

Outstanding as at 1 January 3.5 £4.32 10.7 £4.11
Exercised (2.4) £4.12 (7.2) £4.01
Outstanding as at 31 December 1.1 £4.74 3.5 £4.32
Exercisable at 31 December 1.1 £4.74 3.5 £4.32

The options were exercised at a weighted average price of £7.16 (2007: £7.10). 

Under the LTISAS scheme 2 tranches of 600,000 share options have been issued to each participant in the scheme. Both were deemed to have been 
granted in November 2002. The first tranche, totalling 5,400,000 share options, was awarded and issued in November 2002 when the share price was 
£2.16. The second tranche, also totalling 5,400,000 share options, was awarded in November 2002 and issued in November 2004 when the share price 
was £3.51. Both tranches of share options became exercisable on 25 November 2007, with a weighted average exercise price of £4.11.  

IPSARS 
2008

Million
2008 

WAEP 
2007

Million
2007

WAEP

Outstanding as at 1 January 2.4 £1.69 2.4 £1.69
Exercised (2.4) £1.69 – –
Outstanding as at 31 December – – 2.4 £1.69
Exercisable at 31 December – – 2.4 £1.69

The options were exercised at a weighted average price of £6.81 (2007: n/a). 
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18 Share based payment (continued) 
The total cash value of the Deferred Shares awarded during the year under the Deferred Annual Bonus plan, discussed above, was £1.7m (2007: £1.5m). 
The Matching Shares allocation in respect of the 2007 awards under this plan charged in 2008 was £0.6m (2007: £0.6m). 

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was £2.69 (2007: £1.11). The range of exercise prices for all options outstanding  
at the end of the year was £1.88 to £7.33 (2007: £1.88 to £7.33). 

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a multiple simulation option pricing valuation model, 
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the years 
ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007. 

 2008 2007

Dividend yield (%) 1.5 1.5
Expected share price volatility (%) 22.41 19.00
Risk free interest rate (%) 4.64 4.97
Expected life of option (years) 3.10 3.62
Weighted average share price of options granted during the year £7.04 £6.89

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility 
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features 
of options grant were incorporated into the measurement of fair value. 
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Principal Group investments  
Capita Business Services 
Providing an integrated range of business process outsourcing and professional services to clients in the UK and Ireland. 

Capita Commercial Services  
Market leader in providing outsourced administration and support services to the general insurance sector and affinity partnerships. 

Capita Symonds 
Providing a comprehensive range of project management, telecommunications engineering and construction related consultancy services. 

Capita Registrars 
Share registration and employee share scheme administration services. 

Capita Trust Company  
Corporate trustees and providers of trust and administration services. 

Capita Life & Pensions 
Administration and customer services for life and pensions operations. 

Capita Life & Pensions Regulated Services 
Administration and customer services for life and pensions regulated operations. 

Service Birmingham 
Joint venture set up to support Birmingham City Council’s transformation plan. 

Capita Resourcing 
Employee recruitment services. 

Evolvi Rail Systems Limited 
Business travel software provider. 

CMGL Group Limited  
A leading provider of outsourced claims and insurance management services. 
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Independent auditors’ report to the 
members of The Capita Group Plc  
We have audited the parent company financial statements of The Capita Group Plc for the year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the Company 
balance sheet and the related notes 1 to 18. These parent company financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. 
We have also audited the information in the Directors’ remuneration report that is described as having been audited. 

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of The Capita Group Plc for the year ended 31 December 2008. 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors 
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ remuneration report and the parent company financial statements in 
accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities. 

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited in accordance with 
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the parent company financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. 
We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the parent company Directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.  

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed. 

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited parent company financial statements. 
The other information comprises only the Directors’ report, the unaudited part of the Directors’ remuneration report, the business review and the five  
year summary. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the 
parent company financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information. 

Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit  
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the parent company financial statements and the part of  
the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors in  
the preparation of the parent company financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with 
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be 
audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall 
adequacy of the presentation of information in the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited. 

Opinion 
In our opinion: 

• the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, of the 
state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2008  

• the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 1985 and 

• the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the parent company financial statements. 

 

 

 

Ernst & Young LLP 
Registered Auditor 
London 

25 February 2008 



 The Capita Group Plc 133 

Useful information for shareholders 
Shareholder enquiries 
Shareholders who have questions relating to  
the Group’s business or wish to receive further 
copies of annual or half year reports should 
contact Capita’s investor relations team on  
020 7799 1525 or email corporate@capita.co.uk. 

If you have any queries about your shareholding 
please contact the Company’s registrar, Capita 
Registrars, at the address below. 

Capita Registrars 
Northern House 
Woodsome Park 
Fenay Bridge 
Huddersfield 
HD8 0GA 

Tel: (UK) 0871 664 0300 

(UK calls cost 10p per minute plus network 
extras) 

(Overseas) +44 20 8639 3399 
 

email: ssd@capitaregistrars.com 

 

 

e-communications for shareholders 
Help us communicate with you in a greener, 
more efficient and cost effective way by 
switching from postal to email communications. 
Shareholders can receive important information 
online, including annual and half year reports  
and notice of meetings. Registering for  
e-communications also enables shareholders to:  

• obtain secure online access to personal 
shareholding details  

• submit queries to our registrars, download 
forms and obtain general shareholder 
information  

• update shareholding account online.  

To register for e-communications, visit 
www.capita.co.uk/investorcentre/ecomms  

Share dealing 
A quick and easy share dealing service is now 
available for existing Capita shareholders to 
either sell or buy more Capita Group shares 
online or by telephone. 

For further information on this service or to  
buy and sell Capita shares online go to: 

www.capitadeal.com 
or by telephone: 0871 664 0454  

You may donate your shares to charity free of 
charge through ShareGift. Further details are 
available at www.sharegift.org.uk or by 
telephoning 020 7930 3737.  

Dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP) 
We offer a DRIP to enable shareholders to 
purchase additional Capita shares with their 
whole cash dividend. These further shares  
would be bought in the market on behalf of 
shareholders under a special low-cost dealing 
arrangement. Further details of the DRIP can be 
found online. Please visit the shareholder services 
section at www.capita.co.uk/investorcentre or 
call Capita Registrars on 0871 664 0381. 

Financial calendar 
Annual General Meeting  
6 May 2009 

Final Dividend payment 
18 May 2009 

Half year results 
23 July 2009 

Registered office 
71 Victoria Street 
Westminster 
London SW1H 0XA 

Tel: 020 7799 1525 
Fax: 020 7799 1526 

Registered number: 2081330 

Company Secretary 
Gordon Hurst 

Stockbrokers 
Deutsche Bank  
1 Great Winchester Street 
London EC2N 2EQ 

Citi 
Citigroup Centre 
33 Canada Square 
Canary Wharf 
London E14 5LB 

Auditors 
Ernst & Young LLP 
1 More London Place 
London SE1 2AF 

Solicitors 
Herbert Smith 
Exchange House 
Primrose Street 
London EC2A 2HS 

Bankers 
Barclays Bank plc 
London Corporate Banking 
PO Box 544 
First Floor 
154 Lombard Street 
London EC3V 9EX 

HSBC Bank plc 
27-32 Poultry 
London EC2P 2BX 

National Westminster Bank Plc  
1 Princes Street 
London EC2R 8PB 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Thanks to all our clients and employees who are featured in this report.  
Designed and produced by Radley Yeldar www.ry.com 



TheCapitaGroupPlc Annual Report and Accounts 2008

Keepingbusiness inmotion,
keeping lives inmotion...

The
C
apita

G
roup

Plc
A

nnualReportand
Accounts

2008

TheCapitaGroup Plc
71 Victoria Street
Westminster
London SW1H 0XA

T 020 7799 1525
F 020 7799 1526
www.capita.co.uk




